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DIRECTORS

Executive Director:

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Lau, Ming-wai (Vice Chairman)

Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chan, Kwok-wai

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman)

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman)

Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Ma, Tsz-chun

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lam, Kwong-wai

SOLICITORS

Sidley Austin

Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

31st Floor, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street, Central

Hong Kong

11

31
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BANKERS

(Listed in alphabetical order)

Agricultural Bank of China Limited Chengdu Zongfu Sub-Branch

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.

Bank SinoPac

BNP Paribas

Cathay United Bank Company, Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Citibank, N.A.

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

DBS Bank Ltd.

DBS Bank (China) Limited Shanghai Branch

E.Sun Commercial Bank, Ltd.

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Hang Seng Bank (China) Limited Kunming Branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited

Malayan Banking Berhad

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

Public Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Tai Fung Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.

Wing Hang Bank, Limited

Wing Lung Bank, Limited

PLACE OF INCORPORATION

Bermuda

REGISTERED OFFICE

Canon’s Court, 22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG

26th Floor, MassMutual Tower

38 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

Rosebank Centre, 11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke HM 08, Bermuda

DBS Bank Ltd.

Malayan Banking Berhad

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited

UFJ

Canon's Court, 22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda

38

26

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited

Rosebank Centre, 11 Bermudiana Road

Pembroke HM 08, Bermuda
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202

100027

(8610) 6466 0638

(8610) 6466 0238

88

26 2608

610016

(8628) 8676 7747

(8628) 6613 5700

1325

B103

200031

(8621) 6445 8945

(8621) 6445 9710

25

6/F 1-3

518001

(86755) 8234 7139

(86755) 8234 0012

BRANCH REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

OFFICES IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF
CHINA

Beijing Office:

Room 202, Oriental Place

No. 9 East Dongfang Road

North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC

Post Code: 100027

Tel: (8610) 6466 0638

Fax: (8610) 6466 0238

Chengdu Office:

Room 2608, 26th Floor, CCB Sichuan Building

No. 88 Tidu Street, Qingyang District

Chengdu, Sichuan Province, PRC

Post Code: 610016

Tel: (8628) 8676 7747

Fax: (8628) 6613 5700

Shanghai Office:

Room B103, Evergo Tower

1325 Central Huaihai Road

Xuhui District, Shanghai, PRC

Post Code: 200031

Tel: (8621) 6445 8945

Fax: (8621) 6445 9710

Shenzhen Office:

Rooms 1-3, South Gong, 6th Floor

Lowu Commercial Plaza

25 Railway Station Square, Luohu District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, PRC

Post Code: 518001

Tel: (86755) 8234 7139

Fax: (86755) 8234 0012
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http://www.chineseestates.com

127
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者

(852) 2866 6999

(852) 2866 2822

(852) 2866 2833

investor.relations@chineseestates.com

WEBSITE

http://www.chineseestates.com

STOCK CODE

127

BOARD LOT

500 shares

INVESTOR RELATIONS

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Investor Relations Manager

Tel: (852) 2866 6999

Fax: (852) 2866 2822

(852) 2866 2833

E-mail: investor.relations@chineseestates.com
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Profiles of Directors and Senior Executives
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Joseph LAU, Luen-hung, aged 59, joined the Company in 1989.

Mr. Lau is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and

acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a non-

executive director of Lifestyle International Holdings Limited (“Lifestyle”),

a company whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Science

from the University of Windsor, Canada. He has over 35 years of experience

in corporate finance, manufacturing and property investment and

development. Mr. Lau is the father of Mr. Lau, Ming-wai, the Vice Chairman

and a Non-executive Director of the Company, and the elder brother of

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai, a Non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lau’s discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance is set out in Directors’ Report under the sections of “Directors’

and Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the Company and

Associated Corporations” and “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the

Securities of the Company” of this annual report.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAU, Ming-wai, aged 30, joined the Company in 2006. He was

appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Company on 1st December, 2010

and acts as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lau

holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws from King’s College London, a Master

Degree of Laws from The London School of Economics and Political

Science, and a Doctor Degree of Philosophy in Laws from King’s College

London. He worked at The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. and Longview

Partners LP, both in London prior to joining the Company. Mr. Lau is a

registered attorney in the State of New York and a CFA (Chartered Financial

Analyst) charterholder. He is the son of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, the

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the nephew

of Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai, a Non-executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Lau’s discloseable interest in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance is set out in Directors’ Report under the sections of “Directors’

and Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the Company and

Associated Corporations” and “Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in the

Securities of the Company” of this annual report.

59

XV

30

The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.

Longview Partners LP

Chartered F inancia l

Analyst

XV
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Cont’d)

Ms. Amy LAU, Yuk-wai, aged 58, joined the Company in 2004. Ms. Lau

is also a non-executive director of Lifestyle. She is registered with the

Royal College of Dental Surgeons of Ontario, Canada and a practising

dentist in Ontario. Ms. Lau holds a Bachelor Degree of Science and a

Doctor Degree of Dental Surgery from the University of Toronto, Canada.

She is the younger sister of Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, the Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the aunt of Mr. Lau, Ming-

wai, the Vice Chairman and a Non-executive Director of the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN, Kwok-wai, aged 52, joined the Company in 2004. He is also

the chairman of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the

Company. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration

from the Monash University, Australia. He is also an associate member of

CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Securities Institute. He has

over 31 years of experience in finance and accounting industries. Mr. Chan

is currently a director of High Progress Consultants Limited. He is also an

independent non-executive director of Junefield Department Store Group

Limited, China Investments Holdings Limited, Tern Properties Company

Limited, National Electronics Holdings Limited and Far East Consortium

International Limited, the shares of all of which are listed on the Stock

Exchange.

Ms. Phillis LOH, Lai-ping, aged 46, joined the Company in 2006. She

is also a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of

the Company. Ms. Loh holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Postgraduate

Certificate in Laws, both from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Loh was a

practising solicitor from 1990 to 1997, and has since become a practising

barrister-at-law after she was called to the Hong Kong Bar in 1998. She

was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong (1990) and the United Kingdom

(1991), and is also a barrister and solicitor in the Supreme Court of the

Australian Capital Territory (since 1991).

Mr. MA, Tsz-chun, aged 45, joined the Company in 2008. He is also a

member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of the

Company. Mr. Ma is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and has

over 23 years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting industries.

He is currently a director of ACE (CPA) Limited and a director and the

general manager of Sino-Bridge China Consulting Limited. Mr. Ma holds a

Master of Science Degree in E-Commerce (Business Programme) and a

Master Degree in Business Administration, both from The Chinese

University of Hong Kong as well as a Master of Science Degree in China

Business Studies from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Ma is a

fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in

the United Kingdom, an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants, The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and

Administrators in the United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of

Chartered Secretaries respectively.

58

52

Junefield Department Store Group Limited

National Electronics

Holdings Limited Far East

Consortium International Limited

46

45
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES

Ms. Sue CHAN, Sze-wan, aged 32, joined the Group (the Company

together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) in 2002 and is the Manager of

Sales and Leasing Department as well as the Assistant Sales and Marketing

Manager of Cosmetics Department responsible for Two Girls products.

Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration from

University of Management and Technology, United States of America. She

is responsible for the Group’s marketing and properties’ sales and leasing

affairs. Ms. Chan has over 8 years of experience in sales and marketing.

Mr. Matthew CHEONG, Veng-va, aged 53, joined the Group in 1994

and is the General Manager – Operations of the Group. He is also an

executive director and the chairman of Chi Cheung Investment Company,

Limited (“Chi Cheung”), a subsidiary of the Company whose shares are

listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheong is a chartered engineer. He

holds a Bachelor Degree of Science from the University of Toronto, Canada,

a Master Degree of Science in Automation Systems and Management and

a Doctorate Degree of Engineering, both from the City University of Hong

Kong. He is also a member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers,

The Institute of Measurement and Control and The British Computer

Society. Mr. Cheong is responsible for the general operations of the Group

including information technology, corporate communications, human

resources and administration. He has over 25 years of experience in the

management and operations.

Ms. Connie CHEUNG, Mun-yi, aged 43, joined the Group in 2007 and

is the Head of Legal Department. Ms. Cheung is a practising solicitor. She

holds a Bachelor Degree of Laws and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws,

both from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Cheung has been working in

both law firm as a solicitor and public sector as an in-house legal counsel.

Ms. Cheung is responsible for overseeing the legal aspects of the Group’s

various businesses, including project development, commercial

investments, conveyancing and tenancy. She has over 19 years of legal

experience.

Mr. Ivan IP, Ka-fai, aged 47, joined the Group in 1999 and is the Senior

Manager of China Business Department. Mr. Ip holds a Master Degree of

Business Administration from The University of Hull, United Kingdom. He

is responsible for the management and development of projects in Eastern

and Southern China as well as property investment projects in overseas.

He has over 17 years of experience in the property field of the Mainland

China.
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES (Cont’d)

Mr. Alec KONG, Chi-ming, aged 47, joined the Group in 1994 and is

the Head of China Business Department. He is also an executive director

and deputy chairman of G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”), a subsidiary

of the Company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Kong

holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration from The Chinese

University of Hong Kong, a Master Degree of Arts in Quantitative Analysis

for Business and a Master Degree of Business Administration, both from

the City University of Hong Kong. He is responsible for the overall

management and development of property projects in the Mainland China.

He has over 20 years of experience in the property field of the Mainland

China.

Ms. Hazel LAI, Ming-yan, aged 42, joined the Group in 2000 and is the

Senior Manager – Contracts of Project Development Department. Ms. Lai

is a registered professional surveyor. She holds a Bachelor Degree of

Science in Building from the City University of Hong Kong and a Master

Degree of Science in Construction and Real Estate from The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University. She is also a member of The Hong Kong Institute

of Surveyors. Ms. Lai is responsible for the quantity surveying affairs. She

has over 20 years of relevant experience.

Mr. LAM, Kwong-wai, aged 55, joined the Group in 1989 and is the

Group Financial Controller and Company Secretary of the Company, Chi

Cheung and G-Prop. Mr. Lam is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising)

and holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from the University

of Warwick, United Kingdom. He has over 33 years of experience in auditing,

finance and accounting.

Mr. Kenneth NG, Yik-hei, aged 43, joined the Group in 2004 and is the

Senior Manager of Project Development Department. Mr. Ng is a chartered

building surveyor, a registered professional surveyor and an authorised

person under the List of Surveyors of the Building Authority. He holds a

Bachelor Degree of Science in Building Surveying from the University of

Greenwich, United Kingdom and a Master Degree of Practising Accounting

from the Monash University, Australia. Mr. Ng is also a member of The

Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and The Royal Institution of Chartered

Surveyors. He has been appointed by The Government of the Hong Kong

Special Administrative Region as a member of the Appeal Tribunal Panel

(Buildings) since February 2007. Mr. Ng is responsible for the project

development affairs. He has over 20 years of relevant experience.
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SENIOR EXECUTIVES (Cont’d)

Ms. Teresa POON, Mun-chie, aged 40, joined the Group in 2002 and

is the Senior Manager of Project Development Department. She is also an

executive director and the chief executive officer of Chi Cheung. Ms. Poon

is a registered architect in Hong Kong and an authorised person under the

List of Architects of the Building Authority. She holds a Bachelor Degree of

Arts in Architectural Studies and a Master Degree of Architecture, both

from The University of Hong Kong. She is also a member of The Hong

Kong Institute of Architects. Ms. Poon is responsible for the project

development affairs. She has over 15 years of experience in the

management and development of property projects.

Most of the above senior executives, namely Ms. Sue Chan, Sze-wan, Mr.

Matthew Cheong, Veng-va, Mr. Ivan Ip, Ka-fai, Mr. Alec Kong, Chi-ming, Mr.

Lam, Kwong-wai, Mr. Kenneth Ng, Yik-hei and Ms. Teresa Poon, Mun-chie

hold position as a director in one or more of the subsidiaries of the

Company.



11Chairman’s Statement

I would like to present the results of the Company and its subsidiaries

(the “Group”) for the year ended 31st December, 2010 (the “Year”) to

the shareholders of the Company.

RESULTS

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was HK$8,858.2

million as compared to profit of HK$10,023.4 million (restated) for last

year. The loss for the Year was mainly due to the fair value loss on

investment properties. Loss per share was HK$4.60 (year ended 31st

December, 2009: earnings per share of HK$5.02 (restated)).

If the net loss on the major non-cash items of HK$10,748.9 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: gain of HK$8,606.1 million (restated)) are

excluded, the Group will have a core profit attributable to owners of the

Company for the Year of HK$1,890.7 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$1,417.3 million) and a core earnings per share of HK98.2 cents

(year ended 31st December, 2009: HK71.0 cents), an increase of 33.4%

and 38.3% over 2009 respectively.

DIVIDENDS AND SHARE REPURCHASE

In September 2010, the Company had paid a special dividend of HK40

cents per share or approximately HK$763.0 million to shareholders, which

represents 40.7% of the core profit for the Year of HK98.2 cents per

share or approximately HK$1,890.7 million. As such, the Board of Directors

of the Company (the “Board”) considers that proposal for final dividend

for the Year is not required. However, in order to maintain a continuous

dividend payment record, the Board has recommended the payment of a

nominal final dividend of HK1 cent per share for the Year (the “Final

Dividend”) (2009: HK1 cent).

During the Year, the Company has allocated an aggregate cash amount of

approximately HK$1,317.1 million (2009: HK$2,740.5 million) (or HK68.8

cents per share (2009: HK138.8 cents)) which would be paid to

shareholders. Out of such sum, (i) an amount of approximately HK$763.0

million (2009: HK$1,228.5 million) (or HK40 cents per share (2009:

HK63 cents)) had been applied for the payment of special dividend; (ii)

an amount of approximately HK$19.1 million (2009: HK$19.5 million)

(or HK1 cent per share (2009: HK1 cent)) would be applied for the

payment of Final Dividend; (iii) an amount of approximately HK$535.0

million (2009: HK$1,453.3 million) (or HK27.8 cents per share (2009:

HK72.8 cents)) had been utilized for the repurchase of the Company’s

shares; and (iv) no interim dividend had been declared during the Year

(2009: HK$39.2 million or HK2 cents per share). With such a total cash

sum of HK68.8 cents per share (2009: HK138.8 cents) and a core profit

of HK98.2 cents per share (2009: HK71.0 cents), a ratio of 70% (2009:

195%) is recorded, which is summarized as follows:–

8,858,200,000

10,023,400,000

4.60

5.02

10,748,900,000

8,606,100,000

1,890,700,000

1,417,300,000

98.2

71.0

33.4% 38.3%

40

763,000,000

98.2 1,890,700,000

40.7%

1

1

1,317,100,000 2,740,500,000

68.8 138.8

(i)

7 6 3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

1,228,500,000 40

63 (ii)

19,100,000 19,500,000

1 1

(iii) 535,000,000

1,453,300,000 27.8

72.8

(iv)

39,200,000 2

68.8 138.8

98.2 71.0

70% 195%
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DIVIDENDS AND SHARE REPURCHASE (Cont’d)

For the year ended

31st December,

2010 2009

Core profit (HK$m) 1,890.7 1,417.3

Share repurchase (HK$m) 535.0 1,453.3

Interim Dividend (HK$m) – 39.2

Special Dividend (HK$m) 763.0 1,228.5

Final Dividend (HK$m) 19.1 19.5

On a share basis

Core profit (HK cents) 98.2 71.0

Share repurchase (HK cents) 27.8 72.8

Interim Dividend (HK cents) – 2.0

Special Dividend (HK cents) 40.0 63.0

Final Dividend (HK cent) 1.0 1.0

Interim, Special and Final Dividends (HK cents) 41.0 66.0

As a percentage of core profit 42% 93%

Share repurchase, Interim, Special and Final

Dividends (HK cents) 68.8 138.8

As a percentage of core profit 70% 195%

Approval of Dividend by Shareholders and Expected Timeframe

Subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company to be held on 26th May, 2011, the dividend

warrants will be posted on or about 8th June, 2011 to shareholders whose

names appear on the register of members of the Company on 26th May,

2011.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 23rd May, 2011 to 26th May,

2011, both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the recommended Final

Dividend and for the purpose of ascertaining the members’ entitlement

to the attendance of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company, all share transfers documents accompanied by the relevant

share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Registrar

and Transfer Office in Hong Kong, namely Computershare Hong Kong

Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m.

on 20th May, 2011.

183

17 1712-1716
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Hong Kong Property Investment

Rentals from investment properties continued to be one of the major

sources of our income. The overall occupancy rate of the Group’s retail

portfolio was 88.11% during the Year excluding the renovation area of

Windsor House and Silvercord. The occupancy rate achieved 90.12% if

non-core properties are excluded. The satisfactory occupancy rate is

attributable to the prime locations of the majority of the Group’s retail

properties.

The Group’s overall gross rental growth was 11.17% with rental income

of HK$1,126.3 million for the Year as compared with last year. The rental

income from Hong Kong retail portion showed an upward momentum

with 18.96% growth while the non-retail portion maintained stable

performance. The increase in gross rental income is mainly attributable to

the completion of Windsor House’s renovation works in May 2010 and

the opening of The ONE in October 2010. Retail rents were generally

raised due to the increase in tenants’ business turnover benefited from

the continuous growth of Mainland China tourists’ spending and the

improved local consumption.

During the Year, the Group has disposed the retail shops of Excelsior Plaza

(include Laforet), Southorn Centre (also known as Wanchai Computer

Centre) and York Place.

The average occupancy rate of the shops of Causeway Place was

approximately 95.38% during the Year.

The renovation works of Windsor House were completed in May 2010.

The enhancement includes reconfiguration of the mall layout from

basement level to 7th level to provide greater varieties of prime retail

shops and specialty restaurants, addition of atrium void and introduction

of skylight to provide a high-end shopping environment. The overall rental

income of Windsor House was raised 7.43% for the Year as compared

with last year due to the revamped Windsor House provides shoppers a

cozy shopping environment with a diversified trade mix. As at 31st

December, 2010, its occupancy rate was approximately 91.66% excluding

renovation area.

88.11%

90.12%

11.17% 1,126,300,000

18.96%

The ONE

Laforet York

Place

95.38%

7.43%

91.66%



14
C

H
IN

ES
E 

ES
TA

TE
S 

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
C

h
ai

rm
an

’s
 S

ta
te

m
en

t

BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Investment (Cont’d)

As for Silvercord, the overall rental income was raised 10.04% for the

Year as compared with last year and its average occupancy rate was

approximately 93.94% during the Year excluding renovation area. The

rental income, occupancy rate, tenant mix and traffic flow of Silvercord

have been enhanced after its renovation and repackaging in 2007. In order

to further refine the configuration of the retail shops and restaurants at

basement to third floor, improvement works have been carried out from

August 2010 to February 2011.

The ONE has been grand opened on 29th October, 2010 subsequent to

the completion of redevelopment of the former Tung Ying Building in July

2010. It is a 29-storey integrated shopping, entertainment and food and

beverage complex with more than 400,000 square feet of retail spaces.

At present, The ONE is the tallest retail complex of its kind in Hong Kong

and is one of the landmark shopping arcades in Tsim Sha Tsui. Around

95.17% of shops were leased out as of 31st December, 2010 with some

of them are well-known brand names.

The occupancy rate for the Group’s office properties maintained at a

satisfactory level. During the Year, the average occupancy rates of Windsor

House, MassMutual Tower and Harcourt House were approximately

85.86%, 97.35% and 83.64% respectively, bringing the approximate

occupancy rate of the overall office portfolio to 89.21%.

Hong Kong Property Development

In general, the Group’s development projects have been progressing

satisfactorily and the sales have been achieving pleasing results.

York Place is a high-end residential tower located in prime area of Wanchai,

having 94 units with flat size ranging from gross floor area of approximately

576 square feet to 2,037 square feet. As at 31st December, 2010, 90

units were sold, representing 95.74% of total units.

i-home is a joint venture project with the Urban Renewal Authority located

in Tai Kok Tsui. It provides a single residential tower block comprises 182

units with flat size ranging from gross floor area of approximately 462

square feet to 1,182 square feet. As at 31st December, 2010, 181 units

were sold, representing 99.45% of total units.

MOD 595 is another joint venture project with the Urban Renewal Authority

located in Mongkok. It provides a single residential tower block comprises

85 units with flat size ranging from gross floor area of approximately 483

square feet to 1,188 square feet. 98.82% of total units (i.e. 1 unit

remaining) were sold up to 31st December, 2010.

10.04%

93.94%

The ONE

The ONE 29

400,000 The ONE

95.17%

85.86% 97.35%

83.64%
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94 576 2,037

90 95.74%
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Hong Kong Property Development (Cont’d)

Sun Fair Mansions, 12 Shiu Fai Terrace, located in Mid-Levels East, is a

traditional prestigious location for luxury residential project in Hong Kong.

A luxury residential tower which provides a total residential gross floor

area of around 41,020 square feet will be redeveloped. Site formation

work is in progress. Completion of the project is re-scheduled to mid

2013 and its launching is scheduled for the first quarter of 2012.

The Zenith (87.5% interest) is a two-phase redevelopment project at Tai

Yuen Street, Wanchai undertaken with the Urban Renewal Authority. All

residential units of Phase I were sold. Phase II will be a residential/

commercial complex development with total gross floor area of

approximately 159,700 square feet, provides in aggregate 237 residential

units and retail properties. Redevelopment work with preservation of the

core elements of Wanchai Market and superstructure work are in progress.

Completion of Phase II is scheduled for end 2012 and it is expected to be

launched in 2011.

No. 55 Conduit Road (70% interest), a residential site in Mid-Levels with

site area of about 36,000 square feet which provides a total residential

gross floor area of around 87,800 square feet. This site will be developed

into a luxury residential project. The first phase of the site formation work

has been completed. Piling works and the associated substructure works

are in progress. The project is expected to be launched in the third quarter

of 2012.

The Hermitage (25% interest), is one of the Group’s joint venture

development projects in West Kowloon Reclamation Area. Its interior fitting

work is in progress. The Hermitage will comprise 6 residential tower blocks,

which provides in aggregate 964 residential units and retail properties

with a total gross floor area of around 1,095,980 square feet. Completion

of the whole project is re-scheduled to early 2011. Since its launch

commenced in June 2010, 915 units were presold up to 31st December,

2010, representing 94.92% of total units.

Another West Kowloon – joint venture development project is located at

the junction of Hoi Wang Road, Yan Cheung Road and Yau Cheung Road

(15% interest). Its superstructure work is in progress. 6 residential tower

blocks, which provide in aggregate 740 residential units and retail properties

with a total gross floor area of around 650,600 square feet, will be

developed. Completion of the whole project is re-scheduled to mid 2012.

Its launching is scheduled for the first half of 2011.

12

41,020
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55 70%

36,000

87,800

25%

6

964

1,095,980

915

94.92%

15%

6

740

650,600



16
C

H
IN

ES
E 

ES
TA

TE
S 

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
C

h
ai

rm
an

’s
 S

ta
te

m
en

t

BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Macau Property Development

The Group is planned to develop the site at Avenida Wai Long, Taipa,

Macau (70.01% interest) into a high-end residential project with a total

residential gross floor area of approximately 5,786,296 square feet

(excluding car park area and outdoor facilities area). It will comprise 26

residential tower blocks and will be developed in phases. Phase I

development is being implemented and its site formation work commenced

in May 2010. The launching of Phase I development is scheduled for the

second quarter of 2011.

Mainland China Property Investment

The average occupancy rate of the 79 retail outlets with a total area of

around 29,000 square feet in Lowu Commercial Plaza, Shenzhen was

approximately 98.14% for the Year.

Evergo Tower, located at Central Huaihai Road in Shanghai, is a 21-storey

office and shopping complex and has a gross floor area of around 263,708

square feet. The average occupancy rates of the office and retail spaces

for the Year were approximately 83% and 64.35% respectively.

Platinum (50% interest), a 20-storey Grade A office building located at

Taicang Road of Luwan District in Shanghai, has a gross floor area of about

466,464 square feet. The occupancy rate as of 31st December, 2010

was approximately 97.87%. The Group’s interest in Platinum had increased

from 30% to 50% in June 2010.

Hilton Beijing (50% interest), having 503 rooms, average occupancy rate

was approximately 72.43% for the Year.

Oriental Place (50% interest), a 10-storey office building next to Hilton

Beijing, average occupancy rate was approximately 96.61% for the Year.

70.01%

5,786,296

26

79

29,000

98.14%

21

263,708
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Mainland China Property Development

Splendid City, a residential and commercial project located at Yingbin Road

of Jinniu District in Chengdu, has a site area of approximately 795,625

square feet and a corresponding gross floor area of approximately 3.74

million square feet. It will comprise 19 residential tower blocks with a

commercial building and will be developed in two phases. Phase I of

Splendid City will provide in aggregate 1,226 residential units with flat

size ranging from gross floor area of approximately 854 square feet to

1,812 square feet and a commercial building with gross floor area of

approximately 272,740 square feet. Phase I has been completed in

November 2010 and the residential units have been handed over to

individual purchasers. As at 31st December, 2010, 1,191 units of Phase I

were sold, representing 97.15%. Phase II of Splendid City will provide in

aggregate 1,625 residential units with flat size ranging from gross floor

area of approximately 854 square feet to 1,812 square feet. It is under

superstructure construction and expected to be completed in mid 2012.

The Metropolis is a residential project located at Dongda Street of Jinjiang

District in Chengdu, with site area of approximately 194,411 square feet

and corresponding gross floor area of approximately 1.65 million square

feet. It will comprise 6 residential tower blocks and will be developed in

phases. Phase I of The Metropolis will provide 572 units with flat size

ranging from gross floor area of approximately 704 square feet to 2,692

square feet. It is under superstructure construction and expected to be

completed in end 2012. Since its first sales launch of Phase I commenced

in December 2010, 91 units (i .e. 15.91%) were presold up to

31st December, 2010.

Chinese Estates Plaza, a commercial and residential project at South

Taisheng Road of Qingyang District in Chengdu, has a site area of about

404,267 square feet with a development scale of 3.2 million square feet.

It will comprise a Grade A office building, a five stars hotel, a shopping

centre and 4 residential tower blocks. Substructure construction works

are in progress. Completion of the commercial and residential portions

are scheduled for end 2013 and end 2014 respectively.

The commercial and residential project at Huaxinjie Street of Jiangbei

District in Chongqing (25% interest), has a site area of around 2,207,546

square feet and a gross floor area of approximately 11.08 million square

feet. The land was handed over on 15th July, 2010 and the project is at

design stage. It will be developed in four phases and Phase I is expected

to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2014.
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3,740,000 19
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Cont’d)

Overseas Property Investment

Subsequent to the year end, the Group has acquired a Grade A freehold

office building, namely River Court, located at 116-129 Fleet Street,

Midtown, London, United Kingdom. River Court provides a total net internal

area of approximately 431,324 square feet, together with certain car parking

spaces. The office area is let to an international investment bank as part

of its European headquarters and the retail unit at the ground floor and

lower ground floor is let to a chemists retail company. Details of the

acquisition have been included in “Events After the Reporting Period” below.

COMMUNITY RELATIONS

In order to enhance community relations, we had mobilized employees

in our workplace to participating in the following community programmes,

charitable activities and voluntary services, for helping the communities in

need, suffering people and children with special needs during the Year:–

• HSBC SHARE-TO-CARE Volunteer Campaign and Territory-wide Flag Day of

Agency for Volunteer Service

• Charity sale of raffle tickets and Flag Day of Heep Hong Society

• Qinghai Earthquake Relief and 8.12 Red Décor Day of Hong Kong

Red Cross

• Pin Campaign “Sight for All 2010” of ORBIS Hong Kong

• Oxfam Rice Sale of Oxfam Hong Kong

• Flag Day of Society for Community Organization

• Love Teeth Day of The Community Chest

• “Skip-A-Meal” Campaign and Used Book Recycling Campaign of World Vision

Hong Kong

• Earth Hour of World Wild Fund

The Company honoured by receiving the “Caring Company” logo in the

fourth consecutive year, from The Hong Kong Council of Social Service, in

recognition of our good corporate citizenship. The Group will continue to

actively participate and support a variety of meaningful community activities.

In February 2011, the Group donated a sum of HK$34 million to the

Community Care Fund which is established to provide assistance to the

underprivileged in the community. A further sum of HK$33 million will be

made in 2012 and 2013 respectively.

Midtown Fleet Street 116-129 River

Court River Court

431,324

–

•

•

• 8.12 Fun Fun

• 2010

•

•

•

•

•

34,000,000

33,000,000
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is cont inuously committed to maintaining good

communication with shareholders, investors and analysts in order to ensure

their thorough understanding of the Group’s strategies and business

development, thereby enhancing transparency and investor relations.

The Company maintains a Company’s website (www.chineseestates.com)

to make the Company’s information available on the internet, including

the dissemination of statutory announcements and circulars etc., to facilitate

its communication with shareholders and to provide important information

to the investing public on corporate governance structure, policies and

systems, profiles of the Directors and senior executives as well as terms

of reference of Board committees.

The up-to-date information of the Group is available for public access on

the Company’s website. The Company encourages its shareholders to

take advantage of the Company’s website and welcomes suggestions from

investors and shareholders, and invites them to share their views and

suggestions by contacting the Investor Relations Depar tment at

investor.relations@chineseestates.com.

OTHER INFORMATION

Disposal of Subsidiaries and Assets

As announced on 18th May, 2010, the Group has on 17th May, 2010

entered into six sets conditional sale and purchase agreements (the

“Agreements”), in relation to, inter alia, disposal of two shops of York Place

and the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries that hold retail shops of

Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet) and Southorn Centre (also known as

Wanchai Computer Centre) (the “Properties”) to the companies wholly-

owned by Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung, the Chairman and Chief Executive

Officer of the Company; and the subsequent provision of three-year after-

sale free leasing agency and management services in relation to the

Properties, at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$2,598.1

million (the “Transactions”). The Transactions constituted discloseable and

connected transactions for the Company under the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Listing Rules”) which are subject to the approval of the independent

shareholders of the Company. The Transactions were subsequently

approved by the independent shareholders of the Company at the special

general meeting held on 7th July, 2010 and were completed in July and

August 2010 respectively. The Transactions also constituted continuing

connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules as it was

provided in the Agreements that upon completion of the Transactions,

property management agreements would be entered into between Perfect

World Company Limited, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, with

the then owners of the Properties (except York Place) regarding the

provision of property management services to the Properties (except York

Place). Details of the Transactions were set out in the circular of the

Company dated 18th June, 2010.

者

者

者

(www.chineseestates.com)

者

者
者
者

investor.relations@chineseestates.com

York

Place Laforet

2,598,100,000

York Place
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OTHER INFORMATION (Cont’d)

Acquisition of Platinum

On 18th December, 2009, the Group entered into a sale and purchase

agreement (the “SP Agreement”) to acquire 3 non-voting shares in a joint

venture (the “JV”) (representing 30% of the issued share capital of the

JV) at a consideration of HK$23.40 from an independent third party,

contracted to acquire indirectly the property interest in a Grade A office

building in Shanghai, namely Platinum. The acquisition of Platinum has

been completed on 1st April, 2010.

As announced on 30th June, 2010, the Group has on 29th June, 2010

exercised the call option under the SP Agreement to further acquire 2

non-voting shares (“Call Option Shares”), representing 20% of the issued

share capital of the JV at a consideration of HK$15.60 and therefore, as a

result, the Group’s interest in the JV and in turn Platinum has been increased

from 30% to 50%. The aggregate pro-rata shareholder’s loan and corporate

guarantee provided by the Group to the JV as at 30th June, 2010 was

approximately HK$935 million.

The Group has also on 29th June, 2010 further exercised its conversion

right to require the JV to redeem its 5 non-voting shares held and convert

into 5 ordinary shares, subject to the passing of an ordinary resolution by

the shareholders of the holding company of the JV partner (the

“Conversion”). The Conversion has been approved on 20th August, 2010,

and thus all the 5 non-voting shares held by the Group have been

redeemed by the JV and converted into 5 ordinary shares on the even

date.

Pursuant to the SP Agreement, the JV partner is entitled to exercise the

put option granted under the SP Agreement to require the Group to

purchase their 50% interest in the JV, i.e. 5 ordinary shares (“Put Option

Shares”), during the period from 29th June, 2010, being the date of

completion of the sale and purchase of Call Option Shares, to the expiry

of 180 days thereafter. In the event that the JV partner exercised the said

put option and upon the completion of the sale and purchase of the Put

Option Shares, the JV will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company and the Group will have 100% indirect interest in Platinum.

Prior to the year end, the JV partner had confirmed that they have no

intention to exercise the put option, and therefore the Group’s interest in

the JV and in turn Platinum remains unchanged at 50%.

23.40 3

30%

2

15.60

20%

30% 50%

935,000,000

5

5
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of River Court

As announced on 14th January, 2011, the Group has on 14th January,

2011 entered into a sale and purchase agreement with independent third

parties to acquire the entire issued share capital in River Court Holdings

Limited which indirectly held a Grade A freehold office building, namely

River Court, situate at 116-129 Fleet Street, Midtown, London, United

Kingdom, at a considerat ion consisted of payment in cash of

GBP37,791,104, subject to adjustment, and the assumption of

shareholders’ loan of approximately GBP43,289,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$465,260,000 and HK$532,946,000 respectively as at

the date of the announcement). The acquisition constituted a discloseable

transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules. Completion of the

acquisition took place on 14th January, 2011.

Subscription and Purchase of Bonds

As announced on 20th January, 2011, the Group has entered into a

subscription agreement (the "Subscription") with a third party on

19th January, 2011, in relation to the subscription and purchase of the

8.5% senior secured guaranteed bonds due 2014 in the aggregate principal

amount of RMB2 billion, to be settled in USD (which is equivalent to

approximately US$303 million). The Subscription was completed on 15th

March, 2011.

Disposal of Tuen Mun Centre

On 7th February, 2011, the Group has disposed the commercial property

at Tuen Mun Centre, New Territories to an independent third party at a

consideration of HK$80 million.

PROSPECTS

The global economic conditions have shown sound improvements in the

second half of 2010, resulting from the launching of second round of

quantitative easing by the United States of America, as well as the continued

economic growth in the Mainland China which has taken the place of

Japan and has become the world’s second largest economy. The global

economy is likely to maintain stable growth this year.

Benefited from both the continuous growth in Mainland China tourists’

spending and improved local consumption, there are significant positive

signs for the Group’s retail rental income. The Group will constantly review

the tenant mix of its retail properties in order to enhance rental income.

Since 2010, the Central Government has implemented policies to regulate

the residential property market. The Group believes that, in the medium-

to-long run, as the economy of Mainland China continues growing, its

residential property market will remain optimistic.

River Court

River Court Holdings Limited

River Court Holdings Limited

Midtown Fleet Street 116-129

River Court

37,791,104

43,289,000

465,260,000 532,946,000
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PROSPECTS (Cont’d)

The demand for housing in Hong Kong will continue to be robust. The

Group believes that the property market is likely to maintain healthy and

stable growth in the next 12 months and is confident that the sales of our

development projects will continue to perform well.

The Group will focus on its upcoming launch of its high-end residential

project (Phase I) located at Avenida Wai Long, Taipa, Macau this year.

Together with the sale of our Chengdu development projects, we are

confident that the revenue in sale of properties will provide satisfactory

contributions to the Group in the coming years.

Our Group has been monitoring the property markets of Hong Kong,

Mainland China and overseas closely, and will replenish its land bank and

expand its investment property portfolio at opportune times.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to the

shareholders for their continued support. I would also like to express my

sincere thanks to my fellow directors and all staff members for their

dedication and hard work.

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2011
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RESULTS

Revenue

Revenue for the Year amounted to HK$2,671.0 million (year ended 31st

December, 2009: HK$2,151.3 million), an 24.2% increase over last year

and comprised of gross rental income HK$1,126.3 million (year ended

31st December, 2009: HK$1,013.1 million); property sales HK$1,658.7

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,217.7 million), loss in

sales of held-for-trading investment on a net basis HK$148.5 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$115.5 million) and others HK$34.5

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$36.0 million).  The increase

was mainly due to recording of revenue of sales proceeds recognised

from York Place, i-home and Phase I of Splendid City in Chengdu of

HK$1,538.9 million and other properties of HK$119.8 million (year ended

31st December, 2009: York Place and i-home of HK$1,126.0 million and

other properties of HK$91.7 million).

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the Year amounted to HK$1,351.0 million, an 45.1%

increase as compared with last year, mainly due to an increase in profit of

HK$342.6 million from property development and trading.

Rental

For property leasing, the rental revenue in retail section jumped by 17.9%

to HK$761.2 million.  Rental revenue from non-retail section maintained

stable at HK$365.1 million during the Year.  The Year recorded an increase

of 11.2% in total rental revenue to HK$1,126.3 million as compared with

2009 of HK$1,013.1 million.  Together with the attributable rental revenue

generated from associates of HK$146.4 million (year ended 31st

December, 2009: HK$82.3 million), the total attributable rental revenue

to the Group after non-controlling interests reached approximately

HK$1,269.2 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,092.3

million), which achieved an 16.2% increase over last year.

Attributable net rental income for the Year showed HK$1,149.5 million,

an 15.8% increase over HK$992.8 million in 2009.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Property Development and Trading

In relation to properties sales recognised as profit for the Group and its

associates, an attributable profit of HK$408.9 million (year ended 31st

December, 2009: HK$83.6 million) was recorded.  The major components

recorded in gross profit are sales of: MOD 595 in Mongkok resulting in

loss of HK$2.2 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: profit of HK$17.0

million); i-home in Tai Kok Tsui generated profit of HK$67.5 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$82.5 million); Phase I of Splendid City

in Chengdu generated a profit of HK$211.6 million (year ended 31st

December, 2009: nil) and York Place in Wanchai generated a profit of

HK$71.9 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: loss of HK$34.9

million). Profit represented sales revenue less cost.  York Place was

previously an investment property and was transferred to stock of properties

in 2008 at its then market value.  For the units sold and recognised in the

Year, the cost included a valuation surplus of HK$85.1 million (year ended

31st December, 2009: HK$451.6 million).  If the valuation surplus is

excluded from the cost, a profit of HK$157.0 million (year ended 31st

December, 2009: HK$416.7 million) would be resulted.

Certain units and parking spaces at Gemstar Tower in Hunghom (61.96%

interest) and The Zenith in Wanchai (87.5% interest) sold during the Year

had contributed an attributable profit to the Group of HK$30.5 million

(year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$2.5 million) and HK$12.9 million

(year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$2.3 million) respectively.

In respect of properties held by an associate, Indihome in Tsuen Wan

(50% interest), Miami Crescent in Sheung Shui (50% interest) and Hing

Wai Centre in Aberdeen (50% interest) continuously generated profit of

HK$1.3 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1.6 million),

HK$4.4 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$4.0 million) and

HK$4.0 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: nil) respectively, the

mentioned profits was reflected in the share of results of associates.  For

the sale of Parc Palais in Homantin (10% interest), a contribution of HK$5.7

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$7.4 million) was recorded

in investment income.
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Property Development and Trading (Cont’d)

During the Year, the forfeited deposits received for Splendid City in Chengdu

recorded in other income were HK$0.5 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$9.5 million and HK$0.7 million being the forfeited deposits of

York Place and i-home respectively).

At 31st December, 2010, deposit received from stock of properties

contracted to be sold and revenue to be recognised in 2011 amounted to

HK$86.6 million.  The presale recorded for Phase I of The Metropolis in

Chengdu at 31st December, 2010 was 91 units of RMB114.7 million,

equivalent to HK$135.2 million, profit of which is expected to be recognised

in late 2012 and HK$83.3 million deposit was received with an the average

selling price approximately RMB1.3 million per unit.  The presale recorded

for The Hermitage (25% interest) at 31st December, 2010 was 915 units

of HK$11,494.5 million, and the attributable interest on sales to the Group

was HK$2,873.6 million.  Revenue and profit from sales of The Hermitage

are expected to be recognised in first half 2011.

In summary, the Group together with associated companies and an investee

company, executed properties sale agreements, including presale

agreements, to third parties with an attributable amount contracted sales

of HK$4,791.5 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,332.0

million).  Property sale and other property sale income in total recognised

in the Year was HK$409.4 million (year ended 31st December, 2009:

HK$99.6 million).

Listed Securities

Under the low interest environment, the Group has closely managed the

securities investments with a view to yield enhancement.  In April 2010,

the Group has subscribed US$350 million Senior Notes due 2015 issued

by Evergrande Real Estate Group Limited with interest rate at 13% per

annum, an announcement in respect of the subscription had been made

on 14th April, 2010.

During the Year, the total gain recognised on listed securities investments

was HK$674.8 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$508.6

million), comprised of gain on listed equity securities included in available-

for-sale investments of HK$138.1 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$3.7 million), listed held-for-trading investments and treasury

products of HK$536.7 million (year ended 31st December, 2009:

HK$500.9 million excluding gain on disposal of two credit-linked notes to

a company wholly-owned by a director of the Company).

500,000

York Place i-home

9,500,000 700,000

86,600,000

91 114,700,000

135,200,000

83,300,000

1,300,000

25%

915 11,494,500,000

2,873,600,000

者 (

) 4,791,500,000

1,332,000,000

409,400,000

99,600,000

350,000,000

13

674,800,000

508,600,000

138,100,000

3,700,000

536,700,000

500,900,000
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Listed Securities: Available-for-sale

The Group recorded realised gain on disposals of available-for-sale

investments of HK$106.7 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: nil)

and dividend income of HK$31.4 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: dividend income HK$3.7 million) for the Year and was recognised

as an investment income.

Listed Securities: Held-for-trading and Treasury Products

The listed held-for-trading investments and treasury products generated a

profit before or after finance income of HK$478.1 million and HK$536.7

million respectively for the Year (year ended 31st December, 2009: profit

before/after finance costs of HK$514.6 million/HK$500.9 million).

Profit from the listed held-for-trading investments reflected in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the Year comprised

of a gross loss of totaling HK$148.5 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$115.5 million), an unrealised gain on fair value changes

amounted to HK$190.2 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: loss

HK$1.8 million), a realised loss on bonds of HK$27.2 million (year ended

31st December, 2009: gain HK$197.3 million), and realised gain on release

of the fair value liability on the maturity of derivative financial instruments

of HK$3.2 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$24.4 million)

and no transaction of credit-linked notes for year 2010 (year ended 31st

December, 2009: realised gain HK$48.1 million), other investment income

HK$3.6 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: nil) and dividend and

interest income of HK$456.8 million (year ended 31st December, 2009:

HK$362.1 million).  Net gain on the relevant finance income for the Year

of HK$58.6 million (year ended 31st December, 2009: finance cost of

HK$13.7 million) including interest expense and exchange gain of HK$5.5

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$2.8 million) and HK$64.1

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: exchange loss of HK$10.9

million) respectively.

Listed Securities: Other Comprehensive Income from Available-

for-sale Investments

The listed equity securities included in available-for-sale investments also

bring an addition of fair value of HK$67.0 million (year ended 31st

December,  2009: HK$41.4 mi l l ion) was recognised in other

comprehensive income as an equity transaction of securities investments

reserve.

106,700,000

31,400,000

3,700,000

478,100,000

536,700,000

514,600,000 500,900,000

148,500,000

115,500,000

190,200,000

1,800,000

27 ,200 ,000

197,300,000

3,200,000

24,400,000

48,100,000

3,600,000

456,800,000

362,100,000

58,600,000

13,700,000

5,500,000

2,800,000 64,100,000

10,900,000

67,000,000

41,400,000
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RESULTS (Cont’d)

Other Income and Expenses

Other income mainly comes from net building management fee,

arrangement fee and management and maintenance service income

increased to HK$124.9 million, representing an increase of 128.9% as

compared with last year.

During the Year, administrative expenses increased by 12.2% to HK$229.8

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$204.9 million) and finance

costs decreased by 35.1% to HK$68.5 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$105.5 million).  Included exchange gain of HK$64.1 million on

foreign currency loan hedged for foreign currency securities investment.

Other gains and losses recorded a net gain of HK$19.9 million including

gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary of HK$13.0 million, fair value

loss on step acquisition of a subsidiary of HK$7.3 million and gain on

disposals of subsidiaries to connected person of HK$13.5 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$84.4 million including HK$35.1 million

in respect of deemed disposal of a listed subsidiary through a placing

exercise and HK$53.1 million gain on disposals of subsidiaries to a

connected person).

Associates

The share of results of associates for the Year was a profit of HK$56.6

million as compared to profit of HK$144.8 million (restated) for last year,

which was mainly due to the decrease in fair value on investment

properties.

Disposals of Subsidiaries and Assets to Related Parties

On 17th May, 2010, the Group entered into (a) various sale and purchase

agreements with companies wholly-owned by a director of the Company,

to dispose certain stock of properties and subsidiaries (the “Disposal”)

and to provide after-sale free leasing agency and management service in

respect of the certain properties under the Disposal for a period of 3

years; and (b) property management agreements with companies wholly-

owned by the same director of the Company, subject to completion of

the Disposal, to provide property management services at an agreed fee

to certain properties under the Disposal.

128.9%

124,900,000

1 2 . 2 %

229,800,000

204,900,000

35.1% 68,500,000

105,500,000

64,100,000

19,900,000

13,000,000

7,300,000

13,500,000

84,400,000

35,100,000 

53,100,000

56,600,000

144,800,000 ( )

a

b



28
C

H
IN

ES
E 

ES
TA

TE
S 

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
Fi

n
an

ci
al

 O
p

er
at

io
n

 R
ev

ie
w

RESULTS (Cont’d)

Disposals of Subsidiaries and Assets to Related Parties (Cont’d)

The properties under the Disposal mainly include (a) investment property

comprises of various shops at Excelsior Plaza, Causeway Bay; (b)

investment property comprises of a retail mall at Laforet, Excelsior Plaza,

Causeway Bay; (c) stock of properties comprise of 2 shops at York Place,

Wanchai; and (d) investment property comprises of a retail mall at Southorn

Centre, Wanchai.

The stock of properties and investment properties under the Disposal

were stated at historical cost and fair value respectively, and were valued

at HK$120 million and HK$3,278 million respectively as at 17th May,

2010. After deducting a bank loan and other net liabilities (other than

deferred tax liabilities) held by the subsidiaries under the Disposal, the

provisional consideration of the Disposal was approximately HK$2,587.4

million.

The Group received the provisional consideration in cash upon completion

of the Disposal which took place in July and August 2010 respectively.

Adjustment of the provisional consideration to final consideration was made

in October and November 2010, with an aggregate final consideration of

HK$2,598.1 million.  Upon completion, gain on disposals of subsidiaries

and trading properties of HK$13.5 million and HK$34.0 million was

recorded in other gains and losses and property development and trading

respectively.

Fair Value Loss on Investment Properties

Investment properties of the Group were revalued as at 31st December,

2010 by Messrs. B.I. Appraisals Limited an independent property valuers,

a decrease in fair value of HK$10,831.3 million was recorded as compared

with the fair value as at 31st December, 2009 which was valued by Messrs.

Norton Appraisals Limited (year ended 31st December, 2009: increase of

HK$8,564.3 million) as a result of changes in fair value of the properties

mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China.  The decrease in fair value was

unrealised valuation loss and the Group’s cashflow will not be affected.

a

b

La fo re t

c York Place

d

120,000,000 3,278,000,000

2,587,400,000

2,598,100,000

13,500,000 34,000,000

10,831,300,000 

8,564,300,000
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LOSS, CORE PROFIT, DIVIDENDS, REPURCHASE
AND CASH PAYMENT RATIO

Loss

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year was HK$8,858.2

million as compared to profit of HK$10,023.4 million (restated) for last

year.  The loss for the Year was mainly due to the fair value loss on

investment properties.  Loss per share was HK$4.60 (year ended 31st

December, 2009: Earnings per share of HK$5.02 (restated)).

Core Profit

If the net loss on the major non-cash items of HK$10,748.9 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: gain of HK$8,606.1 million (restated)) are

excluded, the Group will have a core profit attributable to owners of the

Company for the Year of HK$1,890.7 million (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK$1,417.3 million) and a core earnings per share of HK98.2 cents

(year ended 31st December, 2009: HK71.0 cents), an increase of 33.4%

and 38.3% over 2009 respectively.

Dividends

In June 2010, final dividend of HK1.0 cent (year ended 31st December,

2008: final dividend of HK1.0 cent and special dividend of HK99.0 cents)

per share in total amount of HK$19.5 million for the year ended 31st

December, 2009 were paid in cash.

No interim dividend for the half year ended 30th June, 2010 (half year

ended 30th June, 2009: HK2.0 cents per share was paid in cash).

In September 2010, a special dividend for connected transaction of HK40.0

cents (2009: HK63.0 cents) per share with a total amount of HK$763.0

million was paid in cash.

Total dividends of HK$782.5 million were paid in cash during the Year.

8,858,200,000

10,023,400,000

4.60

5.02

10,748,900,000

8,606,100,000

1,890,700,000
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LOSS, CORE PROFIT, DIVIDENDS, REPURCHASE
AND CASH PAYMENT RATIO (Cont’d)

Repurchase

During the Year, the Company had utilised HK$535.7 million (including

transaction cost) (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,453.7 million)

in repurchase of the Company’s shares, such amount is equivalent to

HK27.8 cents (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK72.9 cents) per share,

calculated based on weighted average number of ordinary shares during

the Year.

Cash Payment Ratio

Based on (a) the core profit for the Year of HK$1,890.7 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,417.3 million) or HK98.2 cents (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK71.0 cents) per share; (b) the amount

utilised for share repurchase during the Year of HK$535.7 million (including

transaction cost) (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$1,453.7 million)

or HK27.8 cents (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK72.9 cents) per

share and (c) final dividend of HK1.0 cent  (year ended 31st December,

2009: HK1.0 cent) per share proposed, no interim dividend (half year

ended 30th June, 2009: HK2.0 cents per share) and special dividend of

HK40.0 cents (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK63.0 cents) per

share were paid for the Year, the ratio of such cash payment to the core

profit is 70.1% (year ended 31st December, 2009: 195.6%).

NET ASSET VALUE

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s total net asset to owners of the

Company amounted to approximately HK$33,507.9 million (31st

December, 2009: HK$43,511.7 million (restated)), a decrease of

HK$10,003.8 million or 23.0% when compared with 31st December,

2009.  With the total number of ordinary shares in issue of  1,907,619,079

as at 31st December, 2010 (31st December, 2009: 1,950,000,079

shares), the net asset value per share to owners of the Company was

HK$17.57, a decrease of 21.3% over 31st December, 2009 (HK$22.31

per share (restated)).  The movement in net asset value was mainly due

to (a) loss attributable to owners of the Company for the Year of

HK$8,858.2 million; (b) reduction in equity for share repurchase of

HK$535.7 million, and (c) payment of final dividend and special dividend

of HK$19.5 million and HK$763.0 million respectively.

535,700,000

1,453,700,000
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NET ASSET VALUE (Cont’d)

Addition in fair value on the listed equity securities investments categorised

as available-for-sale investments of approximately HK$67.0 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: addition of HK$41.4 million) was recognised

for the Year and accumulative gain of approximately HK$108.4 million

(year ended 31st December, 2009: nil) was transferred to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income upon disposal.  The carrying amount

of the Listed Equity Securities Investments Reserve as at 31st December,

2010 is nil (31st December, 2009: HK$41.4 million).

Other than the existing projects and those disclosed in the annual results,

the Group did not have material acquisition or disposal of assts and any

future plans for material investment or capital assets.

SECURITIES INVESTMENTS

As at 31st December, 2009, the carrying amount of the listed securities

and treasury products was HK$2,681.2 million.  During the Year, the

portfolio was increased by a net purchase of HK$4,665.9 million and was

increased by the release of the fair value liability on the expired derivative

financial instruments of HK$3.2 million.  After adding the fair value gain of

HK$257.2 million for the Year, the listed securities investments portfolios

of the Group reached HK$7,607.5 million as at 31st December, 2010

representing 13.8% of total assets, which formed part of the Group’s

cash management activities.

The portfolio of HK$7,607.5 million (31st December, 2009: HK$2,681.2

million) comprised of (a) equity securities (investments held-for-trading)

of HK$2,422.1 million (31st December, 2009: HK$643.9 million); (b)

bonds (financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss)

of HK$5,185.4 million (31st December, 2009: HK$728.2 million); (c) no

equity securities (available-for-sale investments) (31st December, 2009:

HK$1,312.3 million); and (d) no derivative financial instrument (31st

December, 2009: liabilities HK$3.2 million).

Notes held by Listed Subsidiaries

As at 31st December, 2010, the carrying amount of the floating rate and

fixed rate notes amounted to HK$262.7 million (31st December, 2009:

HK$254.9 million) representing 0.5% of the total assets of the Group at

the year end.  The increase mainly represented fair value gain during the

Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group has established adequate risk management procedures that

enable it to identify, measure, monitor and control various types of risk it

faces.  This is supplemented by active management involvement, effective

internal controls and adequate internal audit in the best interests of the

Group.

EQUITY

The number of issued ordinary shares as at 31st December, 2010 and

31st December, 2009 were 1,907,619,079 and 1,950,000,079

respectively.

DEBT AND GEARING

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s bank and other borrowings

amounted to HK$18,710.5 million (31st December, 2009: HK$13,215.0

million).  Cash and deposit at bank amounted to HK$10,689.3 million

(31st December, 2009: HK$5,200.7 million), pledged deposit amounted

to HK$187.1 million (31st December, 2009: HK$1,116.7 million) and net

borrowings amounted to HK$7,834.1 million (31st December, 2009:

HK$6,897.6 million).

Total debt to equity ratio was 54.7% (31st December, 2009: 29.8%

(restated)) and net debt to equity ratio was 22.9% (31st December, 2009:

15.6% (restated)), which are expressed as a percentage of total borrowings,

and net borrowings respectively, over the total equity of HK$34,210.9

million (31st December, 2009: HK$44,312.3 million (restated)).

The increase of total debt to equity ratio and net debt to equity ratio were

mainly due to the increase of borrowings together with a decrease in

equity as a result of fair value loss on investment properties.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group’s bank and other borrowings were

denominated in Hong Kong dollars (93.0%), United States dollars (2.3%),

Renminbi (3.4%), Euro (1.2%) and Australian dollars (0.1%).  Of the

Group’s bank and other borrowings of HK$18,710.5 million, 19.9%, 34.5%

and 45.6% were repayable within 1 year, 1 to 2 years and 2 to 5 years

respectively.  United States dollar, Euro and Australian dollar investment

securities were hedged by United States dollar, Euro and Australian dollar

borrowings respectively.  The Group’s bank and other borrowings carrying

interest rates were calculated mainly with reference to HIBOR and inter-

bank rate.  No hedging for interest rate as subsisted at the end of the year.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31st December, 2010, the Group had pledged the following assets:

(a) The Group’s investment properties, properties and other fixed assets,

stock of properties and time deposits with their respective carrying

amount of approximately HK$23,787.4 million (31st December,

2009: HK$37,844.3 million), HK$488.4 million (31st December,

2009: HK$377.2 million (restated)), HK$2,219.8 million (31st

December, 2009: HK$1,242.8 million) and HK$163.1 million (31st

December, 2009: HK$1,116.7 million) were pledged to the Group’s

bankers to secure general banking and loan facilities granted to the

Group.

(b) The Group’s investments held-for-trading and bonds with carrying

amount of approximately HK$7,219.6 million and cash deposit of

HK$23.9 million (31st December, 2009: investment held-for-trading,

available-for-sale investments and bonds HK$731.7 million) were

pledged to the Group’s financial institutions to secure margin and

securities facilities granted to the Group in respect of securities

transactions and utilised by the Group as borrowings due within

one year of approximately HK$2,682.0 million (31st December,

2009: HK$1,236.5 million).

(c) Interests in certain subsidiaries of the Company have been pledged

as part of the security to secure certain bank borrowings granted to

the Group.

(d) The Group has subordinated and assigned its advances to associates

and advance to an investee company of approximately HK$1,806.0

million (31st December, 2009: HK$1,415.9 million) to financial

institutions to secure banking general credit facilities granted to

associates and an investee company.

(a) 23,787,400,000

37,844,300,000 488,400,000

377,200,000

2,219,800,000

1,242,800,000

163,100,000

1,116,700,000

(b) 7,219,600,000

23,900,000

 

731,700,000

2,682,000,000

1,236,500,000
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1,806,000,000

1,415,900,000
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REPURCHASE GUARANTEE

Certain mortgagee banks have provided end-user financing to purchasers

of Splendid City and the Group has provided repurchase guarantees to

these mortgagee banks for securing the obligations of such purchasers

for repayments.  Such guarantees will be terminated upon the earlier of

(i) issuance of the real estate ownership certificate which will generally be

available within one year upon the completion of guarantee registration;

or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage

payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the

outstanding mortgage principals together with any accrued interest and

penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the mortgagee banks.

The total outstanding amount of repurchase guarantee as at 31st

December, 2010 was RMB7.8 million (equivalent to HK$9.2 million) (31st

December, 2009: RMB100.4 million (equivalent to HK$114.1 million))

and disclosed in the contingent liabilities.

FINANCIAL AND INTEREST INCOME/EXPENSES

Interest income was included in revenue and investment income.  Other

than imputed interest, interest income for the Year was HK$475.5 million,

representing an increase of 158.0% from that of 31st December, 2009

(HK$184.3 million).

Finance costs included interest expenses on bank and other loans, imputed

interest expenses, exchange difference on foreign currency loans,

arrangement fee and facility and commitment fee expenses.  Excluding

imputed interest, interest expenses for the Year amounted to HK$115.3

million, representing an 43.4% increase over the interest expenses of

HK$80.4 million recorded for last year.  The increase in interest expenses

was mainly due to increase in bank loan during the Year.  Interest capitalised

for the Year was HK$43.1 million as compared to HK$22.4 million for last

year.  The average interest rate over the year under review was 1.00%

(2009: 0.83%), which was expressed as a percentage of total interest

paid over the average total borrowings.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES, SHARE OPTION
SCHEME AND SHARE AWARD SCHEME

During the year under review, the Group employed a total of 331 staff

(year ended 31st December, 2009: 320 staff) (excluding about a total of

334 staff (year ended 31st December, 2009: 316 staff) for estate

management employed under the Group’s estate management company,

Perfect World Company Limited).

Employees were remunerated on the basis of their performance,

experience and prevailing industry practice.  Remuneration packages

comprised salary and year-end discretionary bonus based on market

conditions and individual performance.  The Executive Director continued

to review employees’ contributions and to provide them with necessary

incentives and flexibility for their better commitment and performance.

No share option scheme was adopted for the Year.

The Company had adopted a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) in

2009.  The Scheme is to recognise and reward certain employees for

their contributions to the Group and to give long-term incentives for

retaining them for the continued operations and development of the Group.

Details of the Scheme were set out in the Company’s circular dated 23rd

December, 2008.  No share was granted under the Scheme during the

Year.

MAINLAND CHINA AND MACAU

Profit contribution from the Group’s investment in the Mainland China

(including gross profit, fair value changes on investment properties, share

of results of associates and taxation) for the Year amounted to HK$218.2

million (year ended 31st December, 2009: HK$77.5 million).  The Group’s

net investment as at 31st December, 2010 amounted to HK$7,468.1

million (31st December, 2009: HK$6,355.3 million) representing

approximately 13.6% of the Group’s total asset value and 21.8% of the

Group’s net asset value.

Further, the Group’s net investment in Macau as at 31st December, 2010

amounted to HK$1,748.2 million (31st December, 2009: HK$1,696.8

million) representing approximately 3.2% of the Group’s total asset value.

331

320

334

316

218,200,000

 77,500,000

7,468,100,000

6,355,300,000

13.6%

21.8%

1,748,200,000

1,696,800,000

3.2%
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LISTED SUBSIDIARIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group owned 61.96% interest in

Chi Cheung Investment Company, Limited and 41.93% interest in G-Prop

(Holdings) Limited.

PROPERTY VALUATION

A property valuation has been carried out by Messrs. B.I. Appraisals Limited,

an independent qualified professional valuers, in respect of the Group’s

investment properties as at 31st December, 2010 and that valuation was

used in preparing 2010 year results.  The Group’s investment properties

were valued at HK$27,419.0 million (31st December, 2009: HK$40,708.5

million), a 23.9% decrease over 2009 after adjusted for additions and

disposals of investment properties during the Year.  The decrease in fair

value of approximately HK$10,831.3 million was recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the Year.  The Group

also shared an increase in fair value of investment properties of the

associates of HK$45.6 million (adjusted deferred tax credit of HK$11.4

million) for the Year.  Development properties and non-investment

properties of the Group were stated at cost less impairment, if any, in the

consolidated financial statements.  Investment property under development

at Chinese Estates Plaza, Chengdu was stated at cost of HK$1,814.9 million

and will be carried at fair value when its fair value first become reliably

measurable or the date of its completion of the property.

61.96% 41.93%

27,419,000,000

40,708,500,000

23.9% 10,831,300,000 

45,600,000 11,400,000

1,814,900,000
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of Directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) and management

of the Company (together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed

to principles of good corporate governance so as to safeguard the interests

of shareholders and enhance shareholder value.

Throughout the year ended 31st December, 2010 (the “Year”), the

Company has applied the principles of the Code on Corporate Governance

Practices (the “Code”) and complied with the code provisions (the “Code

Provisions”) and certain recommended best practices (the “Best Practices”)

set out in the Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the

Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Listing Rules”), except for the following deviations:–

Deviations

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (“Mr. Joseph Lau”) acts as both the Chairman

(the “Chairman”) and Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the Company

since December 2006. The Board considers that this structure will not

impair the balance of power and authority of the Board. It currently

comprises one Executive Director, two Non-executive Directors (the

“NED(s)”) and three Independent Non-executive Directors (the “INED(s)”),

with INEDs representing 50% of the Board, which is higher than the Best

Practices. Such a high percentage of INEDs in the Board could ensure

their views carry significant weight and it reflects a strong independent

element in the composition of the Board. At present, the Board also believes

that under the leadership of Mr. Joseph Lau as the Chairman and the

CEO, the Board’s decision could be made effectively and it is beneficial to

the management and development of the Group’s businesses. The Board

would still consider segregation of the roles of the Chairman and the CEO

if and when appropriate.

Chairman Attending Annual General Meeting

Mr. Joseph Lau, the Chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the

annual general meeting of the Company held on 28th May, 2010 (“2010

AGM”) as he had to deal with business issue. Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai, an

INED as well as the chairman of Audit Committee and Remuneration

Committee, was elected as the chairman of the 2010 AGM to ensure

effective communication with shareholders of the Company at such

meeting.

–

50%

2010

2010
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

Under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the board of directors of a listed

company must include at least three independent non-executive directors.

The Best Practices recommend that at least one-third of the directors should

be independent non-executive directors.

The Company considers that it is important for the Board to maintain a

balanced composition of Executive Director, NED and INED, so that there

is a strong independent element on the Board which can effectively exercise

independent judgement on the actions of the Company. The Board

currently comprises one Executive Director, two NEDs and three INEDs,

with INEDs representing 50% of the Board, which is higher than the Best

Practices. Names of each member of the Board are set out in the table of

“Attendance Records of Board Meetings”.

The Directors’ biographies and the relationship among the Board members,

if any, are set out in the “Profiles of Directors and Senior Executives” of

this annual report and available on the Company’s website. Save as

disclosed in such profiles, there is no financial, business, family or other

material/relevant relationship among the Directors.

Responsibilities of Directors

The NEDs and INEDs with diversified expertise, skills and experience play

an important role on formulating strategy and ensuring that the Board

maintains high standards of corporate governance as well as taking the

lead where potential conflict of interests arise. The Board has received

from each INED a written annual confirmation of his/her independence

and satisfied that the independence of INEDs up to the date of this report

is in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Company encourages its Directors to possess up-to-date knowledge

in order to discharge their duties. Information regarding the updating of

Listing Rules had been provided to the Directors as appropriate. Directors

could have recourse to seek independent professional advice in performing

their duties at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and

consult with the Company’s senior management or the Company Secretary

independently.

3.10(1)

50%

3.13
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Retirement by Rotation and Specific Term of Office

The Company’s Bye-laws provides that no Director (save for the executive

chairman and any managing director) shall hold office for a continuous

period in excess of three years, or past the third annual general meeting,

following the Directors’ appointment or re-election, whichever is longer,

without submitting himself/herself for re-election by the shareholders at

the annual general meetings. Accordingly, Directors (save for the executive

chairman and any managing director) shall retire by rotation at least once

every three years and a specific term of office has been fixed for

appointment of Directors (save for the executive chairman and any

managing director).

However, according to the Private Act for incorporating the Company as

an exempted company under the laws of Bermuda in 1989, it is stipulated

that the executive chairman and any managing director should not be

required to retire by rotation. In order to comply with the Code Provisions,

the Chairman and CEO of the Company is willing to voluntarily retire from

his directorship at future annual general meetings of the Company at least

once every three years, and being eligible, will offer himself for re-election

at the relevant annual general meetings. Mr. Joseph Lau is willing to retire

voluntarily at the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible,

offer himself for re-election.

Every Director will therefore retire either by rotation under the Company’s

Bye-laws or voluntarily at least once every three years and will subject

himself/herself to the absolute and free choice of the shareholders for re-

election at the relevant annual general meetings.

Board Meetings

The Board met regularly throughout the Year to discuss the overall strategy,

the operational and financial performance of the Group. Four regular Board

meetings were held on 30th March, 21st July, 30th August and 21st

December for the Year respectively. Advance notices of not less than 14

days were served upon each Director. Individual attendance of each Director

is indicated in the table of “Attendance Records of Board Meetings”. All

accompanying Board papers were sent to the Directors in a timely manner

and at least 3 days before the meetings. Adequate explanation and

information were given to the Directors by the management to facilitate

the Directors in decision-making. Each Director has to declare his/her

interest and abstain from voting on any Board resolution in which he/she

or any of his/her associates has a material interest in accordance with the

Bye-laws of the Company.

者
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Board Meetings (Cont’d)

Attendance Records of Board Meetings      

No. of meetings attended/held

(Percentage of attendance in total)

Name of Directors

Executive Director

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung 2/4 (50%)

(Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai (Vice Chairman)* * 3/4 (75%)

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai 4/4 (100%)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai 4/4 (100%)

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 4/4 (100%)

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 4/4 (100%)

* Mr. Lau, Ming-wai was appointed as Vice Chairman on 1st December,
2010.

The agenda of each Board meeting is set by the Chairman in consultation

with members of the Board such that they are given an opportunity to

include agenda items. On an on-going basis, senior management provides

the Directors with operational and financial reports of the Group’s

performance, position and prospects. All Directors are kept informed of

and duly briefed of major changes and information that may affect the

Group’s businesses in a timely manner. Draft and executed Board minutes

were sent in good time to all Directors for their comment and records

respectively. Minutes of the Board meetings recorded in sufficient details

were kept by the Company Secretary.

Board and Management Functions

The functions reserved to the Board are basically provided in the Bye-laws

of the Company and the Board from time to time delegates certain

functions to senior management whenever required. In short, the Board

has reserved for its decision on matters relating to the Group’s strategy,

major acquisitions and disposals, major capital expenditure, annual and

interim results, Directors’ appointment and other significant financial and

operational issues.

*
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THE BOARD (Cont’d)

Board and Management Functions (Cont’d)

On top of daily business operation, senior management is responsible for

the preparation of annual and interim consolidated financial statements

for the Board’s approval, execution of business strategies and initiatives

adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate system of internal

control and sound risk management practices and is required to report to

the Board and obtain its prior approval on important matters at all times.

Notwithstanding the delegation, the Directors acknowledge that it is the

responsibility of the Board for preparing the financial statements, which

give a true and fair view of the financial results of the Group.

Directors’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its

Group’s directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The

insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

with clear written terms of reference which are of no less exacting terms

than those set out in the Code. Details of the respective committee’s

terms of reference are available at the Company’s website. All the INEDs

of the Company are members of the Audit Committee and the

Remuneration Committee which currently comprise Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai,

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun with Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

acts as chairman of both committees. Two members of the Audit

Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or

related financial management expertise, which is higher than the Listing

Rules’ requirement.

Audit Committee

Role and Function

The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the Group’s corporate

governance, financial reporting, internal control and risk management. It

plays an advisory role and makes relevant recommendations to the Board.
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Attendance Records of Audit Committee Meetings      

No. of meetings attended/held

(Percentage of attendance in total)

Name of members  / 

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman) 6/6 (100%)

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 6/6 (100%)

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 6/6 (100%)

BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Meetings

The Audit Committee held six meetings during 2010, on 2nd February,

26th March, 21st July, 27th August, 8th December and 21st December

respectively, with the presence of the Company’s internal audit department

(“Internal Audit Department”) in those meetings involving the discussion

on internal audit reports prepared by Internal Audit Department. Individual

attendance of each member is indicated in the table of “Attendance Records

of Audit Committee Meetings”. All accompanying meeting papers were

sent to the members in a timely manner and at least 3 days before the

meetings. Draft and executed minutes of the meetings were sent in good

time to all members for their comment and records respectively. Minutes

of the meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept by the Company

Secretary. Sufficient resources had been given to allow the Audit Committee

to discharge its duties and the senior management was co-opted to join

the meetings of the Audit Committee to explain the financial and business

conditions of the Company to the committee members from time to time.

Works Performed

The works performed by the members of Audit Committee in the Year are

summarized below: –

(1) reviewed the Group’s final and interim results and draft consolidated

financial statements for the year ended 31st December, 2009 and

for the six months ended 30th June, 2010 respectively before

recommending them to the Board for approval, with the presence

of the Company’s external auditors (the “Independent Auditors”) in

the meeting reviewing final results;

(2) reviewed the overall performance including the performance of

investment properties and development properties of the Group;

(1)

(2)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Works Performed (Cont’d)

(3) reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by the

Group and the requirements of the Listing Rules and statutory

compliance;

(4) reviewed the Group’s internal control, risk management, financial

reporting and auditing matters;

(5) reviewed Independent Auditors’ audit findings as appropriate;

(6) prepared and submitted to the Board an audit committee report

detailing the works performed by the Audit Committee during 2009,

presented its findings and made recommendations for consideration

by the Board;

(7) reviewed the corporate governance practices and monitored the

progress of compliance of the Code;

(8) carried out annual review on the continuing connected transactions

of the Group;

(9) reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience

of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function,

and their training programmes and budget;

(10) reviewed the nature and scope of the annual audit and reporting

obligations of the Independent Auditors for the Year; reviewed and

approved the terms of engagement letters; fees for audit and non-

audit services for the Year;

(11) reviewed and discussed internal audit reports prepared by Internal

Audit Department; and

(12) considered and approved the internal audit plan for the year 2011.

On 21st March, 2011, the Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s final

results and draft audited consolidated financial statements for the Year.

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Audit Committee (Cont’d)

Independent Auditors

In order to enhance independent reporting by Independent Auditors, INEDs

hold meeting(s) with the Independent Auditors without the presence of

the Executive Director. In addition, the engagement partner of the

Independent Auditors is subject to periodical rotation, and the nature and

ratio of annual fees payable to Independent Auditors for non-audit services

and for audit services are subject to scrutiny by the Audit Committee. A

policy of non-audit services from Independent Auditors was established.

The Audit Committee considers whether there is clear efficiency and value-

added benefit to the Company from that work being undertaken by the

Independent Auditors; whether there is adverse effect on the independence

of their audit work or the perception of such independence; the nature of

the non-audit services envisaged to be provided by the Independent

Auditors; and the related fee levels individually and in aggregate relative

to the audit fees. In addition, a policy restricting the employment of

employees or former employees of Independent Auditors as senior

executives or financial positions with the Group has also been in place.

During the Year, the Independent Auditors audited the consolidated

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st December,

2010 at a fee of HK$2,280,000. The Independent Auditors had also been

engaged in providing non-audit service in relation to the annual review of

continuing connected transactions at a fee of HK$90,000. The relevant

engagement letters had been reviewed and approved by the Audit

Committee.

Prior to the commencement of the audit of accounts of the Group, the

Audit Committee had reviewed the Independent Auditors’ independence

and objectivity as required under the Code of Ethics for Professional

Accountants issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants, reviewed the terms of their engagement as well as the nature

and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee was satisfied with the findings of their review of the

engagement process, effectiveness, independence and objectivity of the

Independent Auditors.

A statement by the Independent Auditors about their reporting

responsibilities for the Year is set out in this annual report.

2,280,000

90,000
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Remuneration Committee

Role and Function

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving

the existing remuneration policy for all Directors and senior executives. It

is also responsible for reviewing and approving performance-based

remuneration by reference to corporate goals resolved by the Board from

time to time. It would consult the Chairman and CEO on the remuneration

proposals whenever it thinks fit.

Meetings

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings in 2010, on 26th March

and 21st July respectively. Individual attendance of each member is

indicated in the table of “Attendance Records of Remuneration Committee

Meetings”. During the Year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and

approved the Executive Director’s and senior executives’ remuneration

packages and the terms of service agreements as appropriate, and ratified

the discretionary bonus to employees for the year ended 31st December,

2009. The Remuneration Committee also recommended to the Board to

adjust the remuneration of NEDs (namely Mr. Lau, Ming-wai and Ms. Amy

Lau, Yuk-wai) from HK$220,000 to HK$240,000 per annum.

Attendance Records of Remuneration Committee Meetings      

No. of meetings attended/held

(Percentage of attendance in total)

Name of members  / 

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai (Chairman) 2/2 (100%)

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 2/2 (100%)

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 2/2 (100%)

220,000

240,000

Professional advice and sufficient resources would be given to the

Remuneration Committee whenever it considers necessary in order to

discharge its duties. Draft and executed minutes of the meetings were

sent in good time to all members for their comment and records

respectively. Minutes of meetings recorded in sufficient details were kept

by the Company Secretary.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Cont’d)

Remuneration Committee (Cont’d)

Remuneration Policy for Executive Director

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive director’s

remuneration package is to enable the Company to retain and motivate

Executive Director by linking his compensation with performance as

measured against corporate objectives. In determining guidelines for each

compensation element, the Company refers to remuneration surveys

conducted by independent external consultants on companies operating

in similar businesses.

As set out in the service agreement of the Executive Director approved by

the Remuneration Committee, the Executive Director’s emolument is

HK$18,000,000 per annum. The Remuneration Committee will review

the remuneration package of Executive Director regularly pursuant to its

terms of reference and the Code.

Remuneration Policy for NEDs and INEDs

The Directors’ fees of NEDs and INEDs are subject to annual assessment

with reference to his/her duties and responsibilities and the prevailing

market condition. Each NED and INED is entitled to a director’s fee of

HK$240,000 per annum (represent an increment of HK$20,000 from

last year) as determined and approved by the Board. Reimbursement is

allowed for out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with

performance of their duties.

Nomination Committee

No Nomination Committee is established. At present, the Board is

responsible for the appointment of Directors, evaluation of the Board’s

composition and the management of the Board’s succession with reference

to certain guidelines. These guidelines include appropriate professional

knowledge and industry experience, personal ethics, integrity and personal

skills as well as time commitments of the Board members. It carries out

the process of selecting and recommending candidates for directorship

including the consideration of referrals and engagement of recruitment

firms, whenever necessary. The Board also reviews and recommends the

re-appointment of retiring Directors for shareholders’ approval at the annual

general meetings. The Board shall exercise its power under Bye-law 94 of

the Company’s Bye-laws to appoint additional Director(s) whenever the

business of the Company requires.

18,000,000

240,000

20,000

94
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities

transactions by Directors on terms without deviation from the required

standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors

of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the

Listing Rules. All Directors, after specific enquiries by the Company,

confirmed that they had complied with the required standard set out in

the Model Code and the said code of conduct during the Year.

The Company has also adopted a code of conduct regarding securities

transactions by relevant employees on terms no less exacting than the

required standard set out in the Model Code. All the relevant employees

(“Relevant Employees”) who, because of office or employment, are likely

to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation

to the Group’s securities had been requested to follow such code when

dealing in the securities of the Company. All Relevant Employees, after

specific enquiries by the Company, confirmed that they had complied

with the required standard set out in the said code during the Year.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal

control in the Company and reviewing its effectiveness through the Audit

Committee. The senior management is responsible for implementation of

such system of internal control. Internal Audit Department is responsible

for reviewing relevant financial, operational and compliance controls and

risk management functions and reporting their findings and advice to the

Audit Committee.

Annual Review

Based on the annual assessment made by the Independent Auditors and

the works done by Internal Audit Department, the Audit Committee and

the Board are satisfied with the effectiveness of the system of internal

control of the Group and concluded that:–

(1) the Company had complied with the Code Provisions in respect of

internal control during the Year;

(2) a framework of prudent and effective controls had been established

to identify, evaluate and manage the risks;

(3) internal control and accounting systems of the Group were efficient

and adequate;

–

(1)

(2)

(3)
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INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)

Annual Review (Cont’d)

(4) significant risks that may influence the Group had been identified,

evaluated and managed through the ongoing monitoring process;

and

(5) material transactions were executed with the management’s

authorisation.

Internal Audit

Internal Audit Department reports directly to the Audit Committee and is

independent of the Company’s management, with key tasks to:–

(1) assess and monitor internal controls of the Group with unrestricted

direct access right to any levels of management whenever it

considered necessary;

(2) conduct comprehensive internal audits of the practices and

procedures, income and expenditures, and internal control of all

business units of the Group on a regular basis; and

(3) carry out special reviews and investigations on areas of concern

identified by the management for corrective actions.

Internal Audit Department produces an annual internal audit plan based on a

risk assessment methodology for the Audit Committee’s approval. Internal

audits are carried out on a regular basis according to the approved plan.

Internal audit reports summarising audit findings and recommendations are

prepared from time to time for the Audit Committee’s review and discussion.

Management is responsible for ensuring that control weaknesses highlighted

in internal audits are rectified within a reasonable period. Internal Audit

Department would monitor the proper implementation of corrective measures.

During the Year, Internal Audit Department had conducted five internal

audits, relevant reports had been submitted to the Audit Committee for

consideration. The Audit Committee was satisfied with the works done by

the Internal Audit Department.

(4)

(5)

–

(1)

(2)

(3)
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company acknowledges that  genera l  meet ings are good

communication channel with shareholders that the Directors and the

chairman of the Board committees are encouraged to attend and answer

questions from shareholders at general meetings. Majority of the Directors,

the chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee

as well as the Independent Auditors had attended and were available to

answer questions at the 2010 AGM. Certain members of the independent

board committee were also available at the special general meeting held

on 7th July, 2010 to address the shareholders’ queries.

At the commencement of each general meeting, the chairman of the

meeting had explained the procedures for conducting a poll to the

shareholders and the shareholders were allowed to raise any question

concerning the poll procedures. At each of the meetings, separate

resolutions were proposed by the chairman of the meeting and put forward

to the shareholders for poll voting. Details of poll results are available at

the Company’s website (www.chineseestates.com).

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company maintains

a corporate website (www.chineseestates.com) to disseminate the Group’s

information. Investor Relations Department is responsible for answering

enquiries raised by the investors of the Company and the general public.

A corporate communications manual has been in place, which provides

guidance for coordinating the disclosure of material information to investors,

analysts and media, identifies who could speak on the Company’s behalf,

and outlines the responsibility for communication with various stakeholder

groups.

CONCLUSION

The Company believes that corporate governance principles and practices

are essential to the business communities. Ongoing effort will be put to

review its corporate governance practices from time to time so as to

accommodate the changing circumstances. The Company will strive to

maintain and strengthen the standard and quality of its corporate

governance.

2010

(www.chineseestates.com)

(www.chineseestates.com)

者 者

者
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the “Board”) present to

the shareholders their report together with the audited consolidated

financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)

for the year ended 31st December, 2010 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

During the Year, the Company acted as an investment holding company

and its subsidiaries were principally engaged in property investment and

development, brokerage, securities investment, money lending and

cosmetics distribution and trading.

OPERATING SEGMENTS INFORMATION

The Group’s revenue and contribution to loss for the Year from operations

analysed by principal activities are set out in Notes 7 and 8 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries and associates as at

31st December, 2010 are set out in Notes 55 and 56 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on page 71.

No interim dividend was declared for the Year (2009: HK2 cents per

share). The Board had declared a special dividend of HK40 cents per

share (2009: HK63 cents). The Board resolved to recommend the payment

of a final dividend of HK1 cent per share (2009: HK1 cent) for the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last

five years is set out on pages 201 and 202.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties of the Group as at 31st December,

2010 are set out on pages 203 to 216.

7 8

55 56

71

2

40

63

1 1

201 202

203 216
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101,426,000

3,085,000

3 , 2 7 8 , 9 3 0 , 0 0 0

390,224,000

21

46

76

77

2,708,426,000

29,117,000

42

43,129,000

22,408,000

PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

Movements in properties and other fixed assets during the Year are set

out in Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the Year, the Group acquired certain leasehold properties in Hong

Kong for a total consideration of approximately HK$101,426,000 (2009:

HK$3,085,000). Investment properties with an aggregate net book value

of approximately HK$3,278,930,000 (2009: HK$390,224,000) were

disposed of during the Year.

Details of the above and other movements in investment properties during

the Year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out on

pages 76 and 77.

As at 31st December, 2010, the Company’s reserves available for

distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of

Bermuda (as amended), amounted to approximately HK$2,708,426,000

(2009: HK$29,117,000).

GROUP BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Details of bank loans and other loans repayable within one year or on

demand are shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Details of long-term secured bank loans and other loans are shown in

Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Interest capital ised during the Year by the Group amounted to

HK$43,129,000 (2009: HK$22,408,000).
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

No pre-emptive rights exist under the laws of Bermuda, being the

jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company purchased a total of 42,381,000 ordinary

shares of HK$0.10 each on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(the “Stock Exchange”) at an aggregate consideration of HK$535,027,880.

All of the purchased shares were cancelled.

Total number of

Month of the ordinary shares Highest price paid Lowest price paid Aggregate

the purchases purchased per share per share consideration

HK$ HK$ HK$

May 2010 25,355,500 12.86 11.44 307,433,050

June 2010 14,153,500 13.72 12.64 187,378,350

July 2010 2,872,000 14.08 13.90 40,216,480

42,381,000 535,027,880

42,381,000 0.10

535,027,880

The Directors considered that the aforesaid shares were purchased at a

discount to the net asset value per share and resulted in an increase in

the net asset value per share then in issue.

Save as disclosed herein, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities

during the Year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the Year amounted to

HK$438,000 (2009: HK$385,000).

者

438,000

385,000
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The five largest customers of the Group amounted to less than 30% of

the total turnover to the Group during the Year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and

five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 25% and 72% of the

Group’s total purchases for the Year respectively.

At no time during the Year did a Director, an associate of a Director or a

shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors

own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have an interest in

any of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:–

Executive Director:

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai (Vice Chairman)

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping and Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun will retire from office by

rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to Bye-law

111 of the Bye-laws of the Company and Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung will

retire from office voluntarily at such annual general meeting, all being

eligible and offer themselves for re-election. The relevant details of Mr.

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung’s voluntary retirement are stipulated in page 39 of

Corporate Governance Report.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of

its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employer within one

year wi thout payment of compensat ion (other than statutory

compensation).

30%

25%

72%

5%

–

111

39
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31st December, 2010, the interests and short positions of the

Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying

shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations

(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance

(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to

section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the

Stock Exchange pursuant to the Appendix 10 of Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Rules Governing

the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) were

as follows:–

I The Company

XV

352

–

Percentage of

Number of Issued Share

Name of Directors Shares Held Note Capacity Capital

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung 230,984,820 (1) Founder and beneficiary of trust

(“Mr. Joseph Lau”)

1,198,658,948 (2) Founder and beneficiary of trust

1,429,643,768 74.94%

Lau, Ming-wai

(“Mr. MW Lau”) 230,984,820 (1) Beneficiary of trust

1,198,658,948 (2) Beneficiary of trust

1,429,643,768 74.94%

Notes:

(1) These shares were indirectly owned by a discretionary trust of which
Mr. Joseph Lau was the founder. Mr. Joseph Lau, Mr. MW Lau and
certain other family members of Mr. Joseph Lau were eligible
beneficiaries of that trust.

(2) These shares were held by a unit trust of which Mr. Joseph Lau was
one of the unit holders. The rest of the units in the unit trust were
held by a discretionary trust of which Mr. Joseph Lau was the founder.
Mr. MW Lau and certain other family members of Mr. Joseph Lau
were eligible beneficiaries of the discretionary trust.

(1)

(2)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(Cont’d)

II Associated Corporations of the Company

1. Chi Cheung Investment Company, Limited (“Chi Cheung”)

Percentage

Number of of Issued

Name of Director Shares Held Note Capacity Share Capital

Mr. Joseph Lau 209,931,186 (1) Founder of trust, 61.96%

beneficiary of trust and interest

in controlled corporation

2. G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”)

Percentage

Number of of Issued

Name of Director Shares Held Note Capacity Share Capital

Mr. Joseph Lau 1,018,380,590 (2) Founder of trust,

beneficiary of trust and interest

in controlled corporation

493,678,883 (3) Interest in controlled corporation

1,512,059,473 62.26%

Notes:

(1) Mr. Joseph Lau, by virtue of his 74.94% interests in the issued
share capital of the Company as disclosed in paragraph I above,
was deemed to be interested in 209,931,186 shares of Chi
Cheung held by Billion Up Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

(2) Mr. Joseph Lau, by virtue of his 74.94% interests in the issued
share capital of the Company as disclosed in paragraph I above,
was deemed to be interested in 1,018,380,590 shares of G-
Prop held by Mass Rise Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company.

(3) Such interests were held by a company of which Mr. Joseph
Lau was the sole ultimate beneficial owner.

(1) I
74.94%

Billion Up Limited
209,931,186

(2) I
74.94%

1,018,380,590

(3)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN THE SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY AND ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
(Cont’d)

All the interests stated above represent long positions. The percentage

shown was the number of shares the relevant Directors were interested

in expressed as a percentage of the number of issued shares as at 31st

December, 2010.

Save as disclosed above, none of the other Directors and chief executives

of the Company had or were deemed under the SFO to have any interests

or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the

Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of

Part XV of the SFO) as at 31st December, 2010.

During the Year, none of the Directors and chief executives of the Company

nor their spouses or children under 18 years of age were granted or had

exercised any right to subscribe for any securities of the Company or any

of its associated corporations.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31st December, 2010, so far as are known to any Directors or chief

executives of the Company, the following parties (other than Directors or

chief executives of the Company) were recorded in the register kept by

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company, as being directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be

interested in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:–

者

XV

336

5%

–

Percentage

Name of Number of of Issued

Substantial Shareholders Shares Held Notes Capacity Share Capital

GZ Trust Corporation 1,429,643,768 (1), (2) Trustee, beneficiary of 74.94%

a trust and interest in

controlled corporation

Global King (PTC) Ltd. 1,198,658,948 (1) Trustee 62.83%

Joseph Lau Luen Hung 230,984,820 (2) Beneficial owner 12.10%

Investments Limited
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

Notes:

(1) GZ Trust Corporation as trustee of a discretionary trust held units in a unit
trust of which Global King (PTC) Ltd. was the trustee and therefore was
regarded as interested in the same parcel of shares held by Global King
(PTC) Ltd. These shares were the same parcel of 1,198,658,948 shares of
the Company referred to in both “Founder and beneficiary of trust” and
“Beneficiary of trust” of Mr. Joseph Lau and Mr. MW Lau respectively under
“Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the Securities of the Company
and Associated Corporations” as disclosed in paragraph I above.

(2) GZ Trust Corporation as trustee of another discretionary trust held the entire
issued share capital of Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited and
therefore was regarded as interested in the same parcel of shares held by
Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited. These shares were the same
parcel of 230,984,820 shares of the Company referred to in both “Founder
and beneficiary of trust” and “Beneficiary of trust” of Mr. Joseph Lau and Mr.
MW Lau respectively under “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in the
Securities of the Company and Associated Corporations” as disclosed in
paragraph I above.

All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31st December,
2010, no short positions were recorded in the register kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year, the following Directors declared their interests in the
following companies with businesses which competed or were likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group:–

(1) GZ Trust Corporation
Global King (PTC) Ltd.

Global King
(PTC) Ltd.

I

1,198,658,948

(2) GZ Trust Corporation
Joseph Lau Luen Hung Investments

Limited Joseph
Lau Luen Hung Investments Limited

I

230,984,820

336

–

Nature of Businesses
Considered to Compete Nature of Interest

or Likely to Compete with of the Directors
the Businesses of the Group in the Companies

Name of Directors Name of Companies

Mr. Joseph Lau Chi Cheung* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* and development interests in Chi Cheung

and is a director of
certain subsidiaries of

Chi Cheung

G-Prop* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain direct
* and deemed interests

in G-Prop

Mr. MW Lau Chi Cheung* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* and development interests in Chi Cheung

G-Prop* and its subsidiaries Property investment Having certain deemed
* interests in G-Prop

* listed subsidiary of the Company
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (Cont’d)

The above-mentioned businesses were managed by separate publicly listed

companies with independent management. The respective board

composition of such listed companies are different and separate. In this

respect, coupled with the diligence of its Independent Non-executive

Directors (whose views carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions)

and the independent audit committee, the Group was capable of carrying

on its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the

businesses of the above companies.

For better delineation of property investment business, the Company would

give Chi Cheung the priority over the future property investment project

with the value of less than or equal to 50% of the net asset value of Chi

Cheung with reference to the latest published accounts and subject to the

financial resources of Chi Cheung from time to time.

Other than the businesses of the Company’s listed subsidiaries mentioned

above, Mr. Joseph Lau and Mr. MW Lau had personal interests in private

companies engaged in businesses consisting of property development

and investment in Hong Kong as well as securities investment. Mr. Joseph

Lau also had personal interests in private companies engaged in money

lending business. As such, they were regarded as being interested in such

businesses, which competed or might compete with the Group. However,

when compared with the dominance and size of operations of the Group,

such competing businesses were immaterial.

In addition, Mr. Joseph Lau had through certain private companies wholly-

owned by him (of which both Mr. Joseph Lau and Mr. MW Lau were also

directors of such companies) acquired the retail shops of York Place,

Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet) and Southorn Centre (also known as

Wanchai Computer Centre) (the “Private Properties”) from the Group in

July and August 2010. The Group, in accordance with the term of the

respective sale and purchase agreements of the said acquisitions, provided

three-year after-sale free leasing agency and management services in

respect of the Private Properties, commencing from the respective

completion dates of the said acquisitions. There was potential leasing

competition for existing and prospective tenancies between the Private

Properties and investment properties held by the Group. In order to manage

such potential leasing competition, Mr. Joseph Lau had provided certain

undertakings and the Company had agreed with the Stock Exchange to

implement certain measures for monitoring the compliance of such

undertakings. Details of such undertakings and monitoring measures were

set out in the circular of the Company dated 18th June, 2010. The

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company had carried out an

annual review on the compliance of the said undertakings and monitoring

measures and confirmed that such undertakings and monitoring measures

were duly complied with and considered adequate monitoring measures

were in place to avoid the potential leasing competition.

50%

York

Place Laforet
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES (Cont’d)

The Directors are aware of their fiduciary duties and will act honestly and

in good faith in the interests of the Company and will avoid any potential

conflicts of interest and duty. The Company comprises three Independent

Non-executive Directors and all of them are audit committee members of

the Company, so that the interest of its shareholders can be adequately

represented.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors were interested in

any businesses apart from the Company’s businesses, which competed

or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Company’s

businesses.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

There were no arrangements to which the Company or any of the

Company’s subsidiaries was a party to enable the Directors to acquire

benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the

Company or any other body corporates during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below and apart from the agreements disclosed under

the heading “Connected Transactions” below, there were no other contracts

of significance in relation to the Company’s businesses, to which the

Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at

the end of the Year or at any time during the Year, and in which a Director

had, whether directly or indirectly, a material interest, nor there were any

other contracts of significance in relation to the Company’s businesses

between the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a

controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

On 4th November, 2008, Chi Cheung as lender, Longman Limited (being

an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) as borrower and

the Company as guarantor entered into a loan agreement in relation to a

three-year revolving facility of up to HK$900 million. As at 31st December,

2010, a total sum of HK$900 million had been drawn by Longman Limited.

者

者

Longman Limited

900,000,000

Longman Limited 900,000,000
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected Transactions

On 17th May, 2010, Gold Horse Limited and Fair City Limited (being indirect

wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company) had entered into six sets of

conditional sale and purchase agreements, in relation to, inter alia, (i) the

disposal of two shops of York Place and the Company’s wholly-owned

subsidiaries that held retail shops of Excelsior Plaza (include Laforet) and

Southorn Centre (also known as Wanchai Computer Centre) (the

“Properties”) to the companies wholly-owned by Mr. Joseph Lau (the

“Purchaser(s)”); and (ii) the subsequent provision of three-year after-sale

free leasing agency and management services in respect of the Properties,

at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$2,598.1 million (the

“Disposal Transactions”).

Pursuant to the Listing Rules, the Disposal Transactions constituted

connected transactions for the Company since Mr. Joseph Lau, being a

director and the sole beneficial owner of the respective Purchasers as at

the date of the relevant agreements, was a connected person to the

Company. The Disposal Transactions were therefore subject to the reporting,

announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements

pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. An announcement in respect

of the Disposal Transactions was made on 18th May, 2010.

The Disposal Transactions were approved by the independent shareholders

of the Company at the special general meeting held on 7th July, 2010

and were completed in July and August 2010 respectively. Details of the

Disposal Transactions were set out in the circular of the Company dated

18th June, 2010.

Gold Horse Limited

(i)

York Place

Laforet

(ii)

2,598,100,000

14A



61

D
i recto

rs’ R
ep

o
rt

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions

(1) On 4th November, 2008, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned

subsidiary - Fancy Mark Limited as borrower entered into a loan

agreement with G-Prop as lender regarding a three-year revolving

facility of up to HK$200 million, with the Company acting as guarantor

for repayment of the loan (the “Loan Transaction”). The Loan

Transaction constituted a continuing connected transaction of the

Company since G-Prop was a connected person to the Company

pursuant to the Listing Rules but exempted from reporting,

announcement and independent shareholders ’  approval

requirements under Rule 14A.65(4) of the Listing Rules.

As at 31st December, 2010, a total sum of HK$200 million had

been drawn by Fancy Mark Limited at the interest rate of HIBOR

plus 1% per annum. The loan was repayable on demand upon

receiving not less than one month’s prior notice from G-Prop.

Having reviewed the Loan Transaction, the Independent Non-

executive Directors of the Company, pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of

the Listing Rules on the requirement to carry out an annual review

on the continuing connected transaction, confirmed that the Loan

Transaction was made in the ordinary and usual course of business

of the Company, on normal commercial terms and in accordance

with the relevant loan agreement governing it on terms that were

fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the

Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company, pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with Hong Kong

Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements

other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”

and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on

Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing

Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants (“HKICPA Guidelines”) that the Loan Transaction had

received the approval of the Board and had been entered into in

accordance with the relevant loan agreement.

(1)

  Fancy Mark Limited

200,000,000

14A.65(4)

Fancy Mark

Limited

200,000,000 Fancy

Mark Limited

14A.37

3000

740

14A.38
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(2) On 18th December, 2009, Chinese Estates, Limited (“CEL”), a direct

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a contract

with Mr. Joseph Lau in respect of the provision of certain

management and maintenance services to the properties and related

assets owned by Mr. Joseph Lau and/or his associates and related

parties commencing on 1st January, 2010 and until 31st December,

2012 (the “Contract”). The annual caps of the service charges

payable by Mr. Joseph Lau to CEL under the Contract for each of

the three financial years - 31st December, 2010, 31st December,

2011 and 31st December, 2012, were set at HK$10 million (the

“Caps”) as disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 18th

December, 2009.

Mr. Joseph Lau, being the Chairman and an Executive Director, the

Chief Executive Officer and a substantial shareholder of the Company

was a connected person of the Company and hence the Contract

and the transactions contemplated thereunder constituted continuing

connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules. The applicable percentage ratios of the Caps pursuant

to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules exceeded 0.1% but were

expected to be less than 2.5%, hence the Contract and the Caps

were only subject to reporting, announcement and annual review

requirements but exempted from the independent shareholders’

approval requirement pursuant to the then Rule 14A.34 of the Listing

Rules.

Having reviewed the subject continuing connected transactions, the

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, pursuant to

Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules on the requirement to carry out an

annual review on the continuing connected transactions, confirmed

that the transactions were made in the ordinary and usual course of

business of the Company (other than those in relation to household

management and maintenance services), on normal commercial

terms and in accordance with the Contract governing them on terms

that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders

of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company, pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with HKICPA

Guidelines that the subject continuing connected transactions had

received the approval of the Board, were in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Company, had been entered into in accordance

with the Contract and had not exceeded the cap disclosed in the

said announcement made on 18th December, 2009.

(2)

/

10,000,000

14A

14A

0.1%

2.5%

14A.34

14A.37

14A.38
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(3) Subsequent to the completion of the Disposal Transactions as

mentioned in “Connected Transactions” above, Perfect World

Company Limited, the Company’s indirect wholly-owned subsidiary,

had in accordance with the term of the respective sale and purchase

agreements of the Disposal Transactions, entered into the following

agreements for a term of three years:–

(i) property management agreement dated 27th July, 2010 with

Sunny Ocean Limited regarding the provision of property

management services to Excelsior Plaza (“1st Property

Management Agreement”);

(ii) property management agreement dated 20th August, 2010

with Viewide Properties Limited regarding the provision of

property management services to Laforet (“2nd Property

Management Agreement”); and

(iii) property management agreement dated 20th August, 2010

with Baharica Limited regarding the provision of property

management services to Southorn Centre (“3rd Property

Management Agreement”)

(collectively the “Property Management Agreements”).

The cap for the period commencing from the respective date of

Property Management Agreements to 31st December, 2010 for each

of the 1st Property Management Agreement, 2nd Property

Management Agreement and 3rd Property Management Agreement

was approximately HK$432,877, HK$4,405,479 and HK$2,936,986

respectively, after pro-rata adjustment as required under the

announcement dated 18th May, 2010 (“Adjusted Caps”).

Sunny Ocean Limited, Viewide Properties Limited and Baharica

Limited were associates of Mr. Joseph Lau upon completion of the

Disposal Transactions, therefore the entering into of the Property

Management Agreements constituted continuing connected

transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios for the aggregate of the expected

annual caps of the subject continuing connected transactions as

required under Rule 14A.25 of the Listing Rules are less than 5%,

the subject continuing connected transactions were only subject to

the reporting, announcement and annual review requirements but

exempted f rom the independent shareholders ’  approval

requirements under Rule 14A.34 of the Listing Rules.

(3)

–

(i)

Sunny Ocean Limited

(ii)

Laforet Viewide Properties Limited

(iii)

Baharica Limited

432,877 4,405,479

2,936,986

Sunny Ocean

Limited Viewide Properties Limited

Baharica Limited

14A

14A.25

5% 14A.34
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

(3) (Cont’d)

Having reviewed the subject continuing connected transactions, the

Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company, pursuant to

Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules on the requirement to carry out an

annual review on the continuing connected transactions, confirmed

that the transactions were made in the ordinary and usual course of

business of the Company, on normal commercial terms and in

accordance with the Property Management Agreements governing

them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of

the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company, pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing

Rules, confirmed in their letter made in accordance with HKICPA

Guidelines that the subject continuing connected transactions had

received the approval of the Board, were in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Company, had been entered into in accordance

with the Property Management Agreements and had not exceeded

the Adjusted Caps.

Potential Leasing Competition

As mentioned in “Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses”

section of this report, subsequent to the completion of the Disposal

Transactions, there was potential leasing competition for existing

and prospective tenancies between the Private Properties, being

properties owned by Mr. Joseph Lau, and the investment properties

held by the Group.

In the course of carrying out an annual review on the subject

continuing connected transactions, the Independent Non-executive

Directors of the Company had also carried out an annual review on

the compliance of the undertakings in respect of the said potential

leasing competi t ion provided by Mr. Joseph Lau and the

corresponding monitoring measures implemented by the Company,

and confirmed that such undertakings and monitoring measures

were duly complied with and considered adequate monitoring

measures were in place to avoid the potential leasing competition.

Save as aforesaid, there were no other discloseable non-exempted

connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction

under the Listing Rules during the Year.

(3)

14A.37

14A.38
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Continuing Connected Transactions (Cont’d)

Save as aforesaid, none of the “Material Related Party Transactions” as

disclosed in Note 54 to the consolidated financial statements for the year

ended 31st December, 2010 constituted discloseable non-exempted

connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction

under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Material Related Party Transactions” constituted

connected transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had

complied with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules during the Year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates two retirement benefit schemes:–

(1) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Occupational

Retirement Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 426 of the laws of Hong

Kong, (the “ORSO Scheme”); and

(2) the provident fund scheme as defined in the Mandatory Provident

Fund Schemes Ordinance, Chapter 485 of the laws of Hong Kong

(the “MPF Scheme”).

Both the ORSO Scheme and the MPF Scheme are defined contribution

schemes and the assets of both schemes are managing by their respective

trustees accordingly.

The ORSO Scheme is available to the Group’s full-time permanent staff

employed in Hong Kong before 1st December, 2000. Contributions to

the ORSO Scheme are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5% or 10% based on

the staff’s basic salary depending on the length of service. Staff members

are entitled to 100% of the Group’s contributions together with accrued

returns after completing 10 years of service or more, or attaining the

retirement age, or are entitled at a reduced scale between 30% to 90%

of the Group’s contributions after completing a period of service of at

least 3 years but less than 10 years. The ORSO Scheme allowed any

forfeited contributions (made by the Group for any staff members who

subsequently left the ORSO Scheme prior to vesting fully in such

contributions) to be used by the Group to offset the current level of

contributions of the Group.

54

14A

–

(1) 426

(2) 485

5%

7.5% 10% 10

100%

3 10

30% 90%
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (Cont’d)

The MPF Scheme is available to all employees aged 18 to 64 and with at

least 60 days of service under the employment of the Group in Hong

Kong. Contributions are made by the Group at 5% based on the staff’s

relevant income. The maximum relevant income for contribution purpose

is HK$20,000 per month. Staff members are entitled to 100% of the

Group’s contributions together with accrued returns irrespective of their

length of service with the Group, but the benefits are required by law to

be preserved until the retirement age of 65.

In order to provide similar benefits to those who joined the MPF Scheme

and the ORSO Scheme, the Group provided an additional portion (the

“Top-up Portion”) for those who joined the MPF Scheme. The purpose of

the Top-up Portion is to match up the benefits of the MPF Scheme with

that of the ORSO Scheme by providing those staff under the MPF Scheme

with basic salary over HK$20,000 and/or years of service over 5.

Contributions to the Top-up Portion are made by the Group at 5%, 7.5%

or 10% of the staff’s basic salary less the Group’s mandatory contribution

under the MPF as mentioned above.

The Group’s total cost for the schemes charged to consolidated statement

of comprehensive income for the year ended 31st December, 2010

amounted to approximately HK$6,846,000 (2009: HK$5,622,000). In

addition, an amount of forfeited employer’s contributions for the schemes

amounted to approximately HK$397,000 (2009: HK$320,000) was utilised

towards reducing the Group’s contributions during the Year and the balance

available to reduce future contributions amounted to approximately

HK$42,000 (2009: Nil).

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was adopted by the

shareholders of the Company at the special general meeting held on 14th

January, 2009 (the “Adoption Date”). The Share Award Scheme is a long-

term incentive arrangement for the selected employees. The purpose of

the Share Award Scheme is to recognise and reward certain employees of

the Group for their contributions to the Group and to give long-term

incentives for retaining them for the continued operations and development

of the Group. It also intends to attract suitable professional recruits to join

the Group and to assist in the further development of the Group.

18 64

60

5%

20,000

100%

65

20,000 5

5% 7.5% 10%

6,846,000 5,622,000

397,000 320,000

42,000
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (Cont’d)

The Board may from time to time, at its absolute discretion and subject to

such terms and conditions as it may think fit (including the basis of eligibility

of each employee determined by the Board from time to time), after

having taken into account recommendations made by members of the

Group and assessment of individual performance pursuant to internal

appraisal system, select an employee for participation in the Share Award

Scheme as a Selected Employee (“Selected Employee”) and determine

the number of shares which may be awarded to such Selected Employee

pursuant to the terms of the Share Award Scheme (“Awarded Share(s)”).

A Selected Employee shall qualify to be allotted and issued the Awarded

Shares after all the qualifying conditions have been fulfilled, unless

otherwise determined by the Board at its discretion.

The issue price for each Awarded Share shall, subject to the terms of the

Share Award Scheme, be an amount equal to its nominal value and shall

be paid or satisfied in cash by the relevant member of the Group engaging

the Selected Employee or, if payment by the relevant member of the

Group engaging the Selected Employee is not permitted under applicable

law, any member of the Group, upon the allotment and issue of the

Awarded Shares.

The total number of shares which may be issued in response to the Share

Award Scheme and any other incentive or option schemes of the Company

(if any) shall not in aggregate exceed 207,775,007, being 10% of the total

number of shares in issue on the Adoption Date and represents

approximately 10.89% of the total number of shares in issue at the date

of this report. No granting of Awarded Shares was made for the Year.

The maximum number of Awarded Shares to be granted to each Selected

Employee under the Share Award Scheme in any 12-month period shall

not exceed in aggregate 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of such

grant.

Subject to any early termination pursuant to the terms of the Share Award

Scheme, the Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period

of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date (i.e. until 13th January,

2019). As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the Share Award

Scheme is less than 8 years.

Details of the Share Award Scheme were set out in the circular of the

Company dated 23rd December, 2008.

207,775,007

10%

10.89%

1%
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within

the knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained the

prescribed amount of public float during the Year and up to the date of

this report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by Messrs.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) who would retire at the conclusion

of the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being eligible, offer

themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be proposed to the

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint

HLB as the auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung

Chairman

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2011



69Independent Auditors’ Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese Estates

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred

to as the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 200, which comprise the

consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December, 2010,

and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such

internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary

to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial

statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as

a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act,

and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or

accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on

Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

31/F, Gloucester Tower

The Landmark

11 Pedder Street 11

Central

Hong Kong 31

CHINESE ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

71 200 CHINESE

ESTATES HOLDINGS LIMITED

90  
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (Cont’d)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about

the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The

procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk

assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s

preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair

view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors of the

Company, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated

financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair

view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31st December, 2010 and of

the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance

with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly

prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 23rd March, 2011



71Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2010 2009

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Revenue 7 2,671,012 2,151,319

Cost of sales (1,320,032) (1,220,382)

Gross profit 1,350,980 930,937

Other income 9 124,856 54,555

Investment income, net 10 877,891 761,155

Administrative expenses (229,800) (204,870)

Other expenses 11 (15,776) (6,994)

Gain on disposals of properties and

other fixed assets 40 377

Loss on disposals of investment properties (4) (610)

Fair value changes on investment properties 21 (10,831,293) 8,564,301

Finance costs 14 (68,486) (105,485)

Other gains and losses, net 15 19,867 84,387

Share of results of associates 56,580 144,806

(Loss) profit before tax (8,715,145) 10,222,559

Income tax expense 18 (120,602) (175,093)

(Loss) profit for the year 13 (8,835,747) 10,047,466

Other comprehensive income

Fair value changes on available-for-sale

investments 24,981 43,925

Reclassification relating to disposal of

available-for-sale investments (108,421) –

Exchange differences on translation of

foreign operations 181,202 7,075

Share of other comprehensive income of

associates 78,272 27,458

Other comprehensive income for the year

(net of tax) 176,034 78,458

Total comprehensive (expenses) income

for the year (8,659,713) 10,125,924
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2010 2009

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (8,858,245) 10,023,423

Non-controlling interests 22,498 24,043

(8,835,747) 10,047,466

Total comprehensive (expenses)

income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company (8,685,583) 10,084,710

Non-controlling interests 25,870 41,214

(8,659,713) 10,125,924

(Loss) earnings per share (HK$) 20

Basic and diluted (4.60) 5.02

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.



73Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2010 2009 2009

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Non-current assets

Investment properties 21 27,419,024 40,708,482 30,302,580

Properties and other fixed assets 22 521,589 418,226 1,641,692

Properties under development 23 – – 86,496

Property interests held for future

development 25 – – –

Intangible assets 26 4,290 7,150 10,010

Goodwill 27 6,941 6,941 8,310

Interests in associates 28 1,044,056 1,024,885 854,090

Advances to associates 29 1,563,687 1,931,121 1,784,457

Interests in jointly controlled entities 30 – – –

Available-for-sale investments 31 334,079 1,787,348 468,127

Financial assets designated as at fair

value through profit or loss 37 3,101,417 – –

Advances to investee companies 32(a) 344,879 328,478 332,501

Loans receivable – due after one year 33 78 240 60,129

Deferred tax assets 45 33,083 8,648 3,361

Advances to non-controlling shareholders 32(b) 138,971 14,580 14,580

Pledged deposits 34(a) 163,031 27,840 99,599

34,675,125 46,263,939 35,665,932

Current assets

Stock of properties 35 4,339,662 4,563,177 4,945,495

Available-for-sale investments 31 100,704 – –

Investments held-for-trading 36 2,422,066 643,954 –

Financial assets designated as at fair

value through profit or loss 37 2,084,012 728,238 –

Loans receivable – due within one year 33 41 59,889 117

Inventories for cosmetic products 38 2,960 2,993 3,426

Debtors, deposits and prepayments 39 485,872 371,742 223,439

Securities trading receivables and deposits 34(b) 106,865 399,313 69,118

Tax recoverable 2,277 659 414

Pledged deposits 34(a) 24,035 1,088,845 378,483

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 34(c) 10,689,322 5,200,666 10,418,877

Sales proceeds held by stakeholders 43,419 35,950 63,272

20,301,235 13,095,426 16,102,641

Asset classified as held for sale 12 80,000 – –

20,381,235 13,095,426 16,102,641
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n 31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2010 2009 2009

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Current liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 40 – 3,238 24,432

Creditors and accruals 41 719,241 503,723 323,026

Securities trading and margin payable 73,197 65,162 62,702

Deposits and receipts in advance 566,738 657,412 391,298

Tax liabilities 137,741 84,271 118,360

Borrowings – due within one year 42 3,727,552 3,714,963 3,163,925

Provisions 43 16,054 16,054 16,054

Financial guarantee liabilities 290 76 –

5,240,813 5,044,899 4,099,797

Net current assets 15,140,422 8,050,527 12,002,844

Total assets less current liabilities 49,815,547 54,314,466 47,668,776

Equity attributable to owners of

the Company

Share capital 46 190,762 195,000 207,775

Share premium – 9,325 1,463,018

Properties revaluation reserve – 704 704

Securities investments reserve 102,715 189,529 162,775

Statutory reserve 9,314 6,626 4,367

Other reserve (7,340) (7,681) (7,945)

Special reserve 2,499,685 2,499,685 2,499,685

Capital redemption reserve 138,062 133,824 121,049

Translation reserve 639,930 380,795 346,526

Retained profits

– Proposed final dividend 19,076 19,500 2,006,305

– Others 29,915,662 40,084,354 31,350,387

33,507,866 43,511,661 38,154,646

Non-controlling interests 702,985 800,653 653,245

Total equity 34,210,851 44,312,314 38,807,891
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31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2010 2009 2009

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Non-current liabilities

Financial guarantee liabilities – 290 618

Borrowings - due after one year 42 14,982,958 9,500,018 8,505,258

Amounts due to associates 44 76,950 11,859 9,271

Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders 44 141,325 80,098 77,565

Deferred tax liabilities 45 403,463 409,887 268,173

15,604,696 10,002,152 8,860,885

49,815,547 54,314,466 47,668,776

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

23rd March, 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

Joseph Lau, Luen-hung Lau, Ming-wai

Director Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Attributable to owners of the Company

Properties Securities Capital Non-
Share Share revaluation investments Statutory Other Special redemption Translation Retained controlling Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 1)
2 3 1

At 1st January, 2009 (originally stated)
207,775 1,463,018 704 162,775 4,367 (7,945) 2,499,685 121,049 346,526 29,852,639 34,650,593 652,056 35,302,649

Effect of change in accounting policy
– – – – – – – – – 3,504,053 3,504,053 1,189 3,505,242

At 1st January, 2009 (restated)
207,775 1,463,018 704 162,775 4,367 (7,945) 2,499,685 121,049 346,526 33,356,692 38,154,646 653,245 38,807,891

Profit for the year (restated)
– – – – – – – – – 10,023,423 10,023,423 24,043 10,047,466

Other comprehensive income for the year
– – – 26,754 – 264 – – 34,269 – 61,287 17,171 78,458

Total comprehensive income for the year
(restated)

– – – 26,754 – 264 – – 34,269 10,023,423 10,084,710 41,214 10,125,924

PRC statutory reserve
– – – – 2,259 – – – – (2,259) – – –

Deemed contribution from
non-controlling interests

– – – – – – – – – – – (197) (197)
Deemed partially disposal of a subsidiary

– – – – – – – – – – – 108,967 108,967
Cancellation on repurchase of own shares

(12,775) (1,453,693) – – – – – 12,775 – – (1,453,693) – (1,453,693)
Dividend paid to non-controlling

shareholders
– – – – – – – – – – – (2,576) (2,576)

Final dividend paid
– – – – – – – – – (2,006,305) (2,006,305) – (2,006,305)

Interim dividend paid
– – – – – – – – – (39,197) (39,197) – (39,197)

Special dividend paid
– – – – – – – – – (1,228,500) (1,228,500) – (1,228,500)

At 31st December, 2009 (restated)
195,000 9,325 704 189,529 6,626 (7,681) 2,499,685 133,824 380,795 40,103,854 43,511,661 800,653 44,312,314
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Properties Securities Capital Non-
Share Share revaluation investments Statutory Other Special redemption Translation Retained controlling Total

capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 1)
2 3 1

At 1st January, 2010 (originally stated)
195,000 9,325 704 189,529 6,626 (7,681) 2,499,685 133,824 380,795 35,225,105 38,632,912 798,966 39,431,878

Effect of change in accounting policy
– – – – – – – – – 4,878,749 4,878,749 1,687 4,880,436

At 1st January, 2010 (restated)
195,000 9,325 704 189,529 6,626 (7,681) 2,499,685 133,824 380,795 40,103,854 43,511,661 800,653 44,312,314

Loss for the year
– – – – – – – – – (8,858,245) (8,858,245) 22,498 (8,835,747)

Other comprehensive (expenses) income
for the year

– – – (86,814) – 341 – – 259,135 – 172,662 3,372 176,034

Total comprehensive (expenses) income
for the year

– – – (86,814) – 341 – – 259,135 (8,858,245) (8,685,583) 25,870 (8,659,713)

PRC statutory reserve
– – – – 2,688 – – – – (2,688) – – –

Deemed contribution from
non-controlling interests

– – – – – – – – – – – (3,301) (3,301)
Reclassification relating to disposal of

investment property
– – (704) – – – – – – 704 – – –

Cancellation on repurchase of own shares
(4,238) (9,325) – – – – – 4,238 – (526,339) (535,664) – (535,664)

Dividend paid to non-controlling
shareholders

– – – – – – – – – – – (120,237) (120,237)
Final dividend paid

– – – – – – – – – (19,500) (19,500) – (19,500)
Special dividend paid

– – – – – – – – – (763,048) (763,048) – (763,048)

At 31st December, 2010
190,762 – – 102,715 9,314 (7,340) 2,499,685 138,062 639,930 29,934,738 33,507,866 702,985 34,210,851

Notes:

(1) The movement of other reserve for the year represented the release of
the negative reserve held by an associate of the Group upon the disposals
of the relevant properties.

(2) As at 31st December, 2009, the carrying amount of the cumulative gain
on fair value changes of listed equity securities investments in securities
investments reserve was approximately HK$41,441,000. An addition in
fair value on the listed equity securities investments of approximately
HK$66,980,000 was recognised for the year and a cumulative gain of
approximately HK$108,421,000 was transferred to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income upon disposals. The carrying
amount of the cumulative gains as at 31st December, 2010 is HK$ nil.

(3) The statutory reserve of the Group refers to the PRC statutory reserve
fund. Appropriations to such reserve fund are made out of profit after
tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements of the PRC
subsidiaries. The amount should not be less than 10% of the profit
after tax as recorded in the statutory financial statements unless the
aggregate amount exceeds 50% of the registered capital of the PRC
subsidiaries. The statutory reserve can be used to make up prior year
losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into the PRC subsidiaries’
capital by means of capitalisation issue.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

(1)

(2)

41,441,000

66,980,000 108,421,000

(3)

10%
50%
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Operating activities
(Loss) profit before tax (8,715,145) 10,222,559
Adjustments for:

Depreciation of properties and other
fixed assets 20,049 22,927

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,860 2,860
Exchange loss (gain) 6,437 (1,681)
Income from financial guarantee

to an associate (76) (252)
Interest expenses 115,315 80,399
Imputed interest expenses 465 465
Interest income (470,171) (177,489)
Imputed interest income (14,599) (15,650)
Dividend income from listed and

unlisted investments (116,681) (300,013)
Impairment loss recognised (reversed)

in respect of trade receivables 323 (316)
Unrealised loss (gain) arising on change

in fair value of investments
held-for-trading 59,130 (18,173)

Unrealised loss arising on change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments – 3,238

Realised gain arising on change in fair
value of derivative financial instruments (3,238) (24,432)

Realised gain arising on change
in fair value of credit-linked notes – (48,087)

Unrealised (gain) loss arising
on change in fair value of bonds (249,343) 16,771

Impairment loss (reversed) recognised in
respect of advance to an associate (653) 488

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
interest in an associate – 3,300

Transfer from equity on disposals of listed
available-for-sale investments (106,685) –

Loss on disposals of investment properties 4 610
Gain on disposals of properties and

other fixed assets (40) (377)
Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary (13,000) –
Fair value loss on step acquisition of

a subsidiary 7,253 –
Share of results of associates (56,580) (144,806)
Fair value changes on investment

properties 10,831,293 (8,564,301)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (13,477) (53,051)
Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary

– (35,134)
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2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital 1,283,441 969,855

Decrease in stock of properties 1,127,068 1,089,109
Decrease in loans receivable 60,010 117
Decrease in inventories for cosmetic products 33 433
Decrease (increase) in debtors,

deposits and prepayments 51,674 (166,045)
Increase in investments held-for-trading (1,837,242) (625,781)
Increase in financial assets designated as

at fair value through profit or loss (4,207,848) (745,009)
Increase in credit-linked notes – (302,564)
Decrease (increase) in securities trading

receivable and deposits 292,448 (330,195)
(Increase) decrease in sales proceeds

held by stakeholders (7,469) 27,322
Increase in creditors and accruals 217,025 100,899
Increase in securities trading and

margin payable 8,035 2,460
(Decrease) increase in deposits and

receipts in advance (33,952) 266,114

Cash (used in) generated from
operating activities (3,046,777) 286,715

Net Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (76,903) (73,000)

Net cash (used in) generated from
operating activities (3,123,680) 213,715

Investing activities
Dividend received from listed and

unlisted investments 116,681 296,713
Dividend received from associates 122,740 3,300
Interest received 289,909 173,838
Purchases of investment  properties (908,863) (933,777)
Purchase of properties and other fixed assets (9,072) (7,703)
Payments for stock of properties (834,658) (622,156)
Proceeds on disposals of investment

properties 1,926 9,115
Proceeds on disposals of properties and

other fixed assets 71 491
Proceeds on disposals of available-for-sale

investments 1,465,148 –
Purchases of available-for-sale investments (87,607) (1,270,856)
Net cash outflow on acquisition

of subsidiaries 47(a) (15,162) –
Net cash inflow on disposals of subsidiaries

48 2,465,102 751,059
Advances to associates (729,773) (131,538)
Repayment from an associate 1,143,794 –
Repayment from an investee company – 4,023
Advance to an investee company (16,401) –
Decrease (increase) in pledged deposits 900,015 (638,603)

Net cash generated from (used in)
investing activities 3,903,850 (2,366,094)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2010 2009
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Financing activities

Dividends paid (782,548) (3,274,002)

Dividend paid to non-controlling

shareholders (120,237) (2,576)

Interest paid (109,073) (80,399)

New bank loans and other loans raised 16,213,114 5,268,623

Repayments of bank loans and other loans (9,939,585) (3,671,625)

Repurchase of own shares (535,664) (1,453,693)

Net proceeds from share placing of

a subsidiary – 145,470

Capital contribution by non-controlling

shareholders (69,031) (270)

Net cash generated from (used in)

financing activities 4,656,976 (3,068,472)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and

cash equivalents 5,437,146 (5,220,851)

Cash and cash equivalents at

1st January 5,200,666 10,418,877

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 51,510 2,640

Cash and cash equivalents at

31st December 10,689,322 5,200,666

Analysis of the balances of cash and

cash equivalents

Time deposits, bank balances and cash 10,689,322 5,200,666

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.



81Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is an exempted company incorporated in Bermuda

with limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the

Company’s registered office and principal office in Hong Kong are

disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong

dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional currency of the

Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and all values are

rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$’000) except otherwise

indicated.

The Company’s principal activity is investment holding and the

principal activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly

controlled entities are set out in Notes 55 and 56 and 30 respectively.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The accounting policies adopted in the consolidated financial

statements for the year ended 31st December, 2010 are consistent

with those followed in the preparation of the Group’s financial

statements for the year ended 31st December, 2009 except as

described below.

1.

55 56 30

2.

者

者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the

following new or revised standards, amendments and interpretations

(the “new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), which are effective for the

Group’s financial year beginning on 1st January, 2010. The new

HKFRSs adopted by the Group in the consolidated financial

statements are set out below:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRS 1

and HKFRS 5 as a part of

Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 2008

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

issued in 2009

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Group Cash-settled Share-based

Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate

Financial Statements

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to

Owners

HK Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial

Statements - Classification by the

Borrower of a Term Loan that

Contains a Repayment on

Demand Clause

2.

1

5

2008

2009

2

3

27

39

 17

5
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

The following new standards and amendments and interpretations

to standards are effective for the accounting period beginning on

1st January, 2010 and are relevant to the Group’s operations:

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces significant changes in the accounting

for business combinations occurring after the beginning on or after

1st January, 2010. For subsidiaries acquired through step acquisition,

the requirement to measure at fair value every asset and liability at

each step for the purposes of calculating a portion of goodwill has

been removed. Instead, goodwill is measured as the difference at

the acquisition date between the fair value of any investments in

the business held before the acquisition, the consideration

transferred and the net assets acquired. Non-controlling interests

are measured either at their proportionate interest in the net

identifiable assets or at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are

generally recognised as expenses (rather than included in goodwill).

Contingent consideration must be recognised and measured at fair

value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in fair value of

contingent consideration are recognised in accordance with other

HKFRSs, usually in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (rather than by adjusting goodwill).

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires the effects of all transactions with non-

controlling interests to be recorded in equity if there is no change in

control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or

gains and losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when

control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured to

fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income. HKAS 27 (Revised) has had

no impact on the current period, as none of the non-controlling

interests have a deficit balance; there have been no transactions

whereby an interest in an entity is retained after the loss of control

of that entity, and there have been no transaction with non-controlling

interests.

2.

3

27

27
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 contain

amendments to HKAS 17, “Leases”, which has resulted in a change

in accounting policy for the classification of leasehold land of the

Group. Previously, the Group’s interests in leasehold land were

accounted for as prepaid operating leases which were amortised

and recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income over the unexpired lease terms using the straight-line

method. As substantially all risks and rewards of the leasehold land

are considered having been transferred to the Group based on HKAS

17 (Amendment), the Group’s interests in leasehold land are now

accounted for as assets held under finance leases and are stated at

cost less accumulated depreciation. The amendment has been

applied retrospectively to unexpired leases since 1st January, 2010

on the basis of information existing at the inception of the leases.

The amendment does not apply to the leasehold land disposed of

by the Group in prior years.

HK Interpretation 5 is a clarification of an existing standard, HKAS 1,

“Presentation of Financial Statements”. This interpretation clarifies

that term loans that include a clause that gives the lender the

unconditional right to call the loans at any time (“repayment on

demand clause”) should be classified by the borrower as current

liabilities and requires retrospective application. The application of

HK Interpretation 5 had no material effect on how the results and

financial position for the current or prior accounting periods have

been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period

adjustment has been required.

In addition, the Group has early adopted HKAS 12 (Amendment)

which is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,

2012.

The amendment to HKAS 12, introduce a presumption that an

investment property measured at fair value is recovered entirely through

sale. This presumption is rebutted if the investment property is

depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to

consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the

investment property over time, rather than through sale. Prior to the

amendment, deferred taxation on investment properties at fair value is

measured to reflect the tax consequences of recovering the carrying

amounts of investment properties through use. Therefore, based on

the amendment, the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong do

not have to provide deferred tax on fair value changes arising from

revaluation of investment properties or arising from a business

combination, unless the presumption is rebutted. This change in policy

has been applied retrospectively by restating the opening balances at

1st January, 2009, with consequential adjustments to comparatives

for the year ended 31st December, 2009.

2.

2009

17

17

5 1

( )

5

12

12
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Effects of the changes in the accounting policies on the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income:

2.

Year ended 31st December, 2009

Originally
stated HKAS 12 Restated

12
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of results of associates 122,630 22,176 144,806
Income tax (expense) credit (1,528,111) 1,353,018 (175,093)
Profit for the year 8,672,272 1,375,194 10,047,466

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 8,648,727 1,374,696 10,023,423
Non-controlling interests 23,545 498 24,043

8,672,272 1,375,194 10,047,466

Earnings per share (HK$)
Basic and diluted 4.34 0.68 5.02

Effects of the changes in the accounting policies on the consolidated

statement of financial position:

At 31st December, 2009 At 1st January, 2009

Originally Originally

stated HKAS 12 HKAS 17 Restated stated HKAS 12 HKAS 17 Restated

12 17 12 17

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties and other fixed assets 90,045 – 328,181 418,226 104,739 – 1,536,953 1,641,692

Prepaid lease payments 328,181 – (328,181) – 1,536,953 – (1,536,953) –

Interests in associates 1,018,346 6,539 – 1,024,885 869,727 (15,637 ) – 854,090

Deferred tax assets 70,905 (62,257) – 8,648 96,690 (93,329 ) – 3,361

Deferred tax liabilities (5,346,041) 4,936,154 – (409,887) (3,882,381) 3,614,208 – (268,173)

Non-controlling interests (798,966) (1,687) – (800,653) (652,056) (1,189) – (653,245)

Retained profits (35,225,105 ) (4,878,749) – (40,103,854) (29,852,639) (3,504,053) – (33,356,692 )
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

Save as described above, the application of the new HKFRSs had

no material effect on how the results and financial position for the

current or prior accounting periods have been prepared and

presented. Accordingly, no other prior period adjustment has been

required.

The Group has not early adopted the following new HKFRSs that

have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued

in 20106

HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Disclosure - Transfer of Financial

Assets4

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments5

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures3

HKAS 32 (Amendment) Classification of Rights Issues1

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum

(Amendment) Funding Requirement3

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial

Liabilities with Equity

Instruments2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st February,
2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2011

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2011

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2013

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st July, 2010
and 1st January, 2011, as appropriate

2.

者

2010

6

7 4

5

9
3

24
1

32
3

 14

2

 19

1

2

3

4

5

6
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Cont’d)

The Group is in the process of assessing the potential impact of

these new HKFRSs but is not yet in a position to determine whether

these new HKFRSs will have a significant impact on how its results

of operations and financial position are prepared and presented.

These new HKFRSs may result in changes in the future as to how

the results and financial position are prepared and presented.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, which is

a collective term that includes all applicable individual Hong Kong

Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards

(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA, and accounting

principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition, the

consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures

required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the

Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the

historical cost basis except for certain properties and financial

instruments, which are measured at fair values, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power

to govern the financial and operating policies generally

accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the

voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights

that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered

when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated

from the date that control ceases.

2.

3.

(a)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to

account for business combinations. The consideration

transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values

of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity

interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred

includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a

contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related

costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired

and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business

combination are measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the

Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree

either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s

proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less

impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration

arising from contingent consideration amendments within the

measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the

acquisition date). Cost also includes direct attributable costs

of investment.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of

any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-

date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree

over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is

recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the

net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain

purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on

transactions between group companies are eliminated.

Unrealised losses are also eliminated.

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is

attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-

controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

3.

(a)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests

as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For purchases

from non-controlling interests, the difference between any

consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the

carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in

equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests

are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence,

any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair

value, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit

or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the

purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest

as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,

any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the

Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other

comprehensive income are reclassified to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but

significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of

the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income are reclassified to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income where appropriate.

(b) Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or an

associate at acquisition date is carried at cost less any

accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary

is presented separately in the consolidated statement of

financial position. Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition

of an associate is included in the cost of the investment of

the relevant associate.

3.

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(b) Goodwill (Cont’d)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising from

an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-

generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are

expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition. A

cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is

tested for impairment annually, and whenever there is an

indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising

on an acquisition in a financial year, the cash-generating unit

to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment

before the end of that financial year. When the recoverable

amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying

amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce

the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,

and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis

of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any

impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An

impairment loss for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent

periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary or an associate, the

attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the

determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

(c) Excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of

an acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and

contingent liabilities over cost (“Bargain purchase”)

Bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary or

an associate represents the excess of the net fair value of an

acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities

over the cost of the business combination. Bargain purchase

arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is recognised

immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income. Bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of an

associate is recognised as income in the determination of the

Group’s share of results of the associate in which the

investment is acquired.

3.

(b)

(c)



91

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(d) Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant

influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a

joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate

in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee

but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are

incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using

the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,

investments in associates are initially recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and

adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition changes in the

Group’s share of net assets of the associates, less any

impairment in the value of individual investment. When the

Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s

interest in that associate (which includes any long-term

interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net

investment in the associate), the Group discontinues

recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are

provided only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal

or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

that associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the

cost of acquisit ion, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,

profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s

interest in the relevant associate.

3.

(d)

者

者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(e) Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of

a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over

the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly

controlled entities.

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities

are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using

the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,

interests in jointly controlled entities are carried in the

consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted

for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the profit

or loss and of changes in equity of the jointly controlled entities,

less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s share

of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or exceeds its

interest in that jointly controlled entity (which includes any

long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s

net investment in the jointly controlled entity), the Group

discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An

additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is

recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred

legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of that jointly controlled entity.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity

of the Group, unrealised profits or losses are eliminated to

the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entity,

except to the extent that unrealised losses provide evidence

of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case, the

full amount of losses is recognised.

(f) Impairment losses (other than goodwill, intangible

assets with indefinite useful lives)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the

carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to

determine whether there is any indication that those assets

have suffered an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount

of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,

the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable

amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

3.

(e)

(f)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(f) Impairment losses (other than goodwill, intangible

assets with indefinite useful lives) (Cont’d)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying

amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its

recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount

does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been

determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the

asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

(g) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rental

income and/or for capital appreciation. On initial recognition,

investment properties are measured at cost, including any

directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial

recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value.

Gain or loss arising from changes in the fair value of investment

properties are included in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income for the year in which they arise.

However, if the fair values of investment properties under

development are not reliably determinable but expect the fair

values of the properties to be reliably determinable when

development is completed, it shall measure that investment

properties under development at cost, less any impairment

loss, until either its fair value become reliably determinable

or development is completed (whichever is earlier).

Leasehold land held for undetermined future use is regarded

as held for capital appreciation purpose and classified as an

investment property, and carried at fair value. Changes in fair

value of the leasehold land are recognised directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year

in which changes take place.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when

the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use

and no future economic benefits are expected from its

disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the

property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal

proceeds and the carrying amount of the property) is included

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year in which the item is derecognised.

3.

(f)

(g)

者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(g) Investment properties (Cont’d)

An investment property is transferred at fair value to properties

and other fixed assets when the property begins to be

occupied by the owner. Gain or loss arising from change in

fair value of the investment property upon the transfer is

included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

An owner-occupied property is transferred from properties

and other fixed assets to investment property at fair value

when it is evidenced by the end of owner-occupation. The

difference between the carrying amount and fair value at the

date of transfer is accounted for as a revaluation increase in

accordance with HKAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”.

On the subsequent sale or retirement of assets, the relevant

revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained

profits.

(h) Properties and other fixed assets

Properties and other fixed assets including buildings and

leasehold land classified as finance leases (other than

properties under development) are stated at cost less

subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their

expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,

where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of properties

and other f ixed assets (other than proper t ies under

development) over their estimated useful lives and after taking

into account their estimated residual values, using the straight

line method, at the following rates per annum:

Type Basis

Leasehold land Over the remaining lives of

the leases

Buildings Over the shorter of the

remaining unexpired period of

the lease and 40 years

Furniture, fixtures 3 to 10 years

and equipments

Yachts and motor vehicles 3 to 10 years

3.

(g)

16

(h)

者
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(i) Property interests held for future development

Property interests held for future development represents a

right to develop properties on a piece of land upon payment

of a final amount, and are carried at cost less any identified

impairment loss.

(j) Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, is stated at the

lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is

determined by reference to sale proceeds received after the

end of the reporting period less selling expenses, or by

management estimates based on the prevailing market

conditions.

(k) Inventories for cosmetic products

Inventories comprise finished goods and raw materials which

are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost represents the invoiced cost of inventories. Costs are

assigned to individual items on the weighted-average basis.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the

ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling

expenses.

(l) Intangible assets

Trading rights, exchange rights and trademark

Trading rights, gold and silver exchange rights and trademark

are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less any

identified impairment loss. The amortisation period adopted

for intangible assets is 5 years.

3.

(i)

(j)

者 者

(k)

者 者

(l)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a

group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of

the instruments. Financial assets and financial liabilities are

initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are

directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets

and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or

deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial

liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs

directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the three

categories, including financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial

assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets

are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular

way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial

assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame

established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The accounting policies adopted in respect of such category

of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the

amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest

income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is

the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts

(including all fees and points paid or received that form an

integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs

and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life

of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period

to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

3.

(m)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Effective interest method (Cont’d)

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis

for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified

as at fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income

is included in net gains or losses.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two

subcategories, including financial assets held-for-trading and

those designated as at fair value through profit or loss on

initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held-for-trading if:

(i) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling

it in the near term;

(ii) it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments

that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

(iii) it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

3.

(m)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are not

those financial assets acquired principally for the purpose of

selling in the short term but designated by management as

such at inception. A financial asset other than a financial asset

held-for-trading may be designated as at fair value through

profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

(i) such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise;

(ii) the financial asset forms part of a group of financial

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk

management or investment strategy, and information

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;

or

(iii) it forms part of a contract containing one or more

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39, “Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” permits

the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be

designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

At each end of the reporting period subsequent to initial

recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value

recognised directly in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in the year in which they arise. The

net gain or loss recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income includes any dividend or interest

earned on the financial assets.

3.

(m)

(i)

(ii)

者

(iii)

39
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables (including advances to associates,

advances to investee companies, loans receivables, advances

to non-controlling shareholders, pledged deposits, debtors and

deposits, securities trading receivables and deposits, time

deposits, bank balances and cash and sales proceeds held by

stakeholders) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active

market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method, less any identified

impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are

either designated or not classified as any of the other

categories under HKAS 39 (set out above). In addition to

equity investments, the Group has also designated certain

debt investments as available-for-sale financial assets.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value

at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated

under the heading of securities investments reserve until the

financial asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired,

at which time, the cumulative gain or loss previously

accumulated in the securit ies investments reserve is

reclassified to the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment

loss on financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a

quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value

cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less

any identified impairment losses at the end of the reporting

period. (see the accounting policy in respect of impairment

loss on financial assets below).

3.

(m)

39
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit

or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end

of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where

there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial

asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets

have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or

prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below

its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment

could include:

(i) s igni f icant f inancia l  d i f f icu l ty of  the issuer or

counterparty;

(ii) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

or

(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade

receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired

individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis.

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables

could include the Group’s past experience of collecting

payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in

the portfolio past the average credit period, as well as

observable changes in national or local economic conditions

that correlate with default on receivables.

3.

(m)

者

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of

the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original

effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the

impairment loss is measured as the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated

future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of

return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will

not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the

impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the

exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is

reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a

trade receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off

against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of

amounts previously written off are credited against the

allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the

allowance account are recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a

subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases

and the decrease can be related objectively to an event

occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the

extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the

impairment loss is reversed does not exceed what the

amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

3.

(m)

者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

In respect of available-for-sale equity investments impairment

losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed

through the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

in subsequent periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent

to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive

income and accumulated under the heading of securities

investments reserve. In respect of available-for-sale debt

investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if

an increase in the fair value of the investment can be

objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition

of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are

classified as either financial liabilities or equity in accordance

with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual

interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its

liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other

financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect

of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the

amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest

expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash

payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or

where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.

3.

(m)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)

Effective interest method (Cont’d)

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis

other than financial liabilities classified as at fair value through

profit or loss, of which interest expense is included in net

gains or losses.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss has two

subcategories, including financial liabilities held-for-trading and

those designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial

recognition. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value

recognised directly in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in the year in which they arise.

A financial liability is classified as held-for-trading if:

(i) it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

repurchasing it in the near term;

(ii) on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified

financial instruments that the Group manages together

and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-

taking; or

(iii) it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as

a hedging instrument.

3.

(m)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Cont’d)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held-for-trading

may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss upon

initial recognition if:

(i) such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a

measurement or recognition inconsistency that would

otherwise arise;

(ii) the financial liability forms part of a group of financial

assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,

in accordance with the Group’s documented risk

management or investment strategy, and information

about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;

or

(iii) it forms part of a contract containing one or more

embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39, “Financial

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” permits

the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be

designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are

measured at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised

directly in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income in the year in which they arise. The net gain or loss

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income includes any interest paid on the financial liability.

3.

(m)

(i)

(ii)

者

(iii)

39
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial liabilities and equity (Cont’d)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including creditors and accruals,

securities trading and margin payable, deposits received, bank

and other borrowings, amounts due to associates and amounts

due to non-controlling shareholders) are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest

method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is

recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is

recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the

Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the

issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder

for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make

payments when due in accordance with the original or

modified terms of debt instrument. A financial guarantee

contract issued by the Group and not designated as at fair

value through profit or loss is recognised initially at its fair

value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to

the issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to

initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee

contract at the higher of: (i) the amount determined in

accordance with HKAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent Liabilities

and Contingent Assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised

less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

in accordance with HKAS 18, “Revenue”.

3.

(m)

(i) 37

(ii)

18

者 者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(m) Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for

hedge accounting

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are

deemed as financial assets held-for-trading or financial

liabilities held-for-trading. Changes in fair values of such

derivatives are recognised directly in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive

cash flows from the assets expire, or the financial assets are

transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On

derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the

asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration

received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that

had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

For financial liabilities, they are removed from the consolidated

statement of financial position when the obligation specified

in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial

liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable

is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

(n) Revenue recognition

Revenue from properties developed for sale is recognised

upon completion of sales agreement and by reference to the

timing of the execution of deed of legal assignment or delivery

of property to the purchaser, whichever is earlier.

3.

(m)

(n)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(n) Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

Revenue from properties held for sale is recognised on the

execution of a binding sales agreement. Payments received

from the purchasers prior to this stage are recorded as deposits

received on sales of properties and are grouped under current

liabilities.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from

properties under operating leases, is recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Sale of securities investments are recognised on a trade date

basis.

Brokerage income on dealings in securities and futures

contracts and the profit and loss on trade in securities and

futures contracts are recognised on the transaction dates when

the relevant contract notes are executed.

Management fee income is recognised in accordance with

terms of respective agreements over the relevant period in

which the services are rendered.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the

Group’s right to receive payment have been established.

Revenue from sales of cosmetic product is recognised when

goods are delivered and titles have been passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time

basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at the

effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly

discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount.

3.

(n)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the

year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income because it

excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or

deductible in other years, and it further excludes items that

are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for

current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted

or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between

the carrying amounts of assets and l iabi l i t ies in the

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax

bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to the

extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available

against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if

the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the

initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of

other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary

differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and

associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the

Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the

end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it

is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

3.

(o)

者



109

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(o) Taxation (Cont’d)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to

apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset

realised. Current or deferred tax is charged or credited to the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except

when it relates to items that are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly to equity, in which case,

the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where

current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting

for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate

to income taxes levied by the same tax authority and the

entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on

a net basis.

(p) Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of

the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of

ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating

lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset

and recognised as expenses on a straight-line basis over the

lease term.

3.

(o)

(p)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(p) Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessee

Rental payable under operating leases is charged to the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits

received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an

operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expense

over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(q) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group

entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional

currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in

the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the

primary economic environment in which the entity operates)

at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the

transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary

items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at

the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried

at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are

retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair

value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured

in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary

items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in

the year in which they arise, except for exchange differences

arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Company’s

net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such

exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive

income in the consolidated financial statements and will be

reclassified from equity to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income on disposal of the foreign operation.

Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-

monetary items carried at fair value are included in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year

except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-

monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are

recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which

cases, the exchange differences are also recognised directly

in other comprehensive income.

3.

(p)

(q)



111

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(q) Foreign currencies (Cont’d)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial

statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign

operations are translated into presentation currency of the

Group (i.e. HK$) using the exchange rate prevailing at the

end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are

translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless

exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that year, in which

case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions

are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised

in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity

under the heading of the translation reserve. Such exchange

differences are recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in the year in which the foreign

operation is disposed of.

From 1st January, 2010 onwards, on the disposal of a foreign

operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a

foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over

a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, a disposal

involving loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity

that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss

of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign

operation), all of the exchange differences accumulated in

equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners

of the Company are reclassified to the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income. In addition, in relation to a partial

disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over

a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate

share of accumulated exchange differences are reattributed

to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income. For all other

partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or jointly

controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing

significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share

of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

3.

(q)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(r) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,

construction or production of qualifying assets, are capitalised

as part of the cost of those assets. Capitalisation of such

borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready

for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they

are incurred.

(s) Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes

are charged as an expense when employees have rendered

service entitling them to the contributions.

(t) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present

obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that

the Group will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable

estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of

the consideration required to settle the present obligation at

the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks

and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision

is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the

present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of

those cash flows.

(u) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held

for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.

This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly

probable and the non-current asset (or disposal group) is

available for immediate sale in its present condition.

Management must be committed to the sale, which should

be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale

within one year from the date of classification.

3.

(r)

(s)

(t)

(u)



113

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(u) Non-current assets held for sale (Cont’d)

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held

for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying

amount and fair value less costs to sell. The investment

properties classified as held for sale are measured at its fair

value at the date of disposal.

(v) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more

intermediaries: (a) controls, is controlled by, or is under

common control with, the Group; (b) has an interest in

the Group that gives it significant influence over the

Group; or (c) has joint control over the Group;

(ii) the party is an associate;

(iii) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) the par ty is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any

individual referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled

or significantly influenced by or for which significant

voting power in such entity resides with, directly or

indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the

benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any entity

that is a related party of the Group.

3.

(u)

者

(v)

(i)

(a)

(b)

(c)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v) (i) (iv)

(vi)

(iv) (v)

(vii)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’d)

(w) Contingent liabilities and assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from

past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by

the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain

future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It

can also be a present obligation arising from past events that

is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow of

economic resources will be required or the amount of

obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent liability

is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the

consolidated financial statements. When a change in the

probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,

they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past

events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the

occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future

events not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent

assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the notes to

the consolidated financial statements when an inflow of

economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain,

an asset is recognised.

3.

(w)
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are

described in Note 3, management is required to make judgments,

estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The

estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.

Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an

ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in

the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects

only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods

if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving

estimations, that management has made in the process of applying

the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Fair value and impairment of available-for-sale investments

As described in Note 5, the management use their judgment in

selecting an appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments

not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly

used by market practitioners are applied. The Group’s unlisted equity

instruments with carrying amount of approximately HK$156,362,000

(2009: HK$204,375,000) are valued using a discounted cash flow

analysis based on assumptions supported, where possible, by

observable market prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of

these equity instruments also includes some assumptions not

supported by observable market prices or rates.

4.

3

者

5

156,362,000

204,375,000
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

Impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable

The policy for impairment loss in respect of accounts receivable of

the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and aging

analysis of accounts and on management’s judgment. A considerable

amount of judgment is required in assessing the ultimate realisation

of these receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the

past collection history of each debtor. If the financial conditions of

debtors of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment

of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be

required.

Investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are stated at fair value based on

the valuation performed by independent professional valuers. In

determining the fair value, the valuers have based on method of

valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation

report, the management has exercised their judgment and is satisfied

that the method of valuation is reflective of the current market

conditions. Should there are changes in assumptions due to change

in market conditions, the fair value of the investment properties will

change in future.

Income taxes

At 31st December, 2010, a deferred tax asset of approximately

HK$37,266,000 (2009: HK$40,092,000) in relation to unused tax

losses has been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial

position. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends

on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences

will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future profits

generated are less than expected, a material reversal of deferred

tax assets may arise, which would be recognised in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income for the year in which such a

reversal takes place.

4.

37,266,000

40,092,000
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies (Cont’d)

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has been

impairment of goodwill and intangible assets in accordance with

the accounting policy stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts of

cash-generating units are determined based on value-in-use

calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates and

assumptions made by management on the future operation of the

business, pre-tax discount rates, and other assumptions underlying

the value-in-use calculations.

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments:

4.

3

5.

(a)

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets

Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss:

Investments held-for-trading 2,422,066 643,954

Financial assets designated

as at fair value through

profit or loss 5,185,429 728,238

Loans and receivables

(including time deposits,

bank balances and cash) 13,427,519 9,378,644

Available-for-sale investments 434,783 1,787,348

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss

classified as held-for-trading:

Derivative financial instruments – 3,238

Amortised cost 20,254,581 14,516,394

Financial guarantee liabilities 290 366
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity

investments, debt securit ies, bonds, borrowings, loan

receivables, trade receivables, trade payables, financial

guarantee liabilities, time deposits and bank balances. Details

of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments and the

policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to

ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely

and effective manner.

There has been no change to the Group’s risk exposure relating

to financial instruments or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risks.

Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The majority of the Group’s monetary assets and

monetary liabilities by value and the rental income are

denominated in HK$, and Renminbi (“RMB”), except

certain debt securities are denominated in foreign

currencies. Cer tain cash and bank balances are

denominated in RMB, United States Dollars (“USD”)

and Pound Sterling (“GBP”). The conversion of RMB

into other currencies is subjected to the rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by

the government of the People’s Republic of China (the

“PRC”). The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk

in respect of exchange fluctuation of HK$ against RMB.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency

hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets and

liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency

exposure closely and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

5.

(b)

(i)



119

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency

denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

5.

(b)

(i)

2010 2009

Assets HK$’000 HK$’000

USD 5,683,521 755,639

RMB 3,433,730 2,637,712

GBP 504,379 –

EURO (“EUR”) 363,444 768,843

Australian Dollar (“AUD”) 15,871 –

Japanese Yen (“YEN”) – 7,553

2010 2009

Liabilities HK$’000 HK$’000

USD 436,270 336,443

RMB 1,116,976 1,030,210

EUR 231,840 689,325

AUD 13,920 –

YEN – 7,174
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% increase and decrease in the HK$ against the
relevant foreign currencies. As HK$ are pegged to USD,
it is assumed that there would be no material currency
risk exposure between these two currencies and
therefore is excluded from the analysis below. 5% is
the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the period end for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external
loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the
Group where the denomination of the loan is in a
currency other than the currency of the lender or the
borrower. A positive number below indicates an increase
in profit where the relevant currencies strengthen 5%
against HK$. For a 5% weakening of the relevant
currencies against HK$, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the profit and the balances below
would be negative.

5.

(b)

(i)

5%

5%

5%

5%

5%

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

Impact of RMB
Profit or loss 115,838 80,375

Impact of GBP
Profit or loss 25,219 –

Impact of EUR
Profit or loss 6,580 3,976

Impact of AUD
Profit or loss 97 –

Impact of YEN
Profit or loss – 19

The Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency has increased
during the current year mainly due to the increase in
foreign currency denominated monetary net assets.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Cash flow Interest rate risk

The Group has interest bearing assets and variable-rate

borrowings including advances to associates, available-

for-sale investments, loans receivables, bank balances

and borrowings is therefore exposed to cash flow

interest rate risk. Details of these financial instruments

are disclosed in respective notes. The Group currently

does not have interest rate hedging policy. However,

the management monitors interest rate exposure and

will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure

should the need arise.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly

concentrated on the f luctuat ion of Hong Kong

Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”), prime rate (“Prime”)

or the respective country’s inter-bank offer rate.

Sensitivity analysis

The fol lowing demonstrates the sensit ivity to a

reasonable possible change in interest rates with all

other variables held constant, of the Group’s (loss) profit

before tax (through the impact of floating rates in

advances to associates, available-for-sale investments,

loans receivables, borrowings and bank balances).

If the floating rates had been 50 basis points higher/

lower, the Group’s:

• loss before tax for the year ended 31st December,

2010 would increase/decrease by approximately

HK$45,472,000 (2009: profit before tax would

d e c r e a s e / i n c r e a s e  b y  a p p r o x i m a t e l y

HK$36,739,000). This is mainly attributable to the

Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable-

rate borrowings.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased

during the current year mainly due to the increase in

borrowings.

5.

(b)

(ii)

50

•

45,472,000

36,739,000
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Market risk (Cont’d)

(iii) Price risk

The Group’s investments classified as available-for-sale

investments, investments held-for-trading and financial

assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

which are measured at fair value at the end of each

reporting period and expose the Group to price risk.

The management manages this exposure by maintaining

a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. In

addition, the Group has appointed a special team to

monitor the price risk and will consider hedging the risk

exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined

based on the exposure to price risk at the end of the

reporting period.

If prices had been 5% higher/lower:

• loss before ta x for  the year ended 31st

December, 2010 would decrease/ increase by

approximately HK$380,375,000 (2009: profit

be fo re  ta x  wou ld  inc rease/decrease by

approximately HK$68,610,000). This was mainly

due to the changes in fair value of investments

held-for-trading and financial assets designated

as at fair value through profit or loss; and

• other comprehensive income for the year ended

31st December, 2010 would increase/decrease

by approximately HK$13,134,000 (2009:

HK$65,615,000) as a result of the changes in

fair value of available-for-sale investments.

5.

(b)

(iii)

5%

•

380,375,000

68,610,000

•

13,134,000

65,615,000
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of

the counterparties failure to perform their obligations as at

31st December, 2010 in relation to each class of recognised

financial assets are: (a) the carrying amounts of those assets

as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position;

and (b) financial guarantee provided by the Group which is

the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial

guarantee issued by the Group.

The Group made transactions with counterparties with

acceptable credit quality in conformance to the Group treasury

policies to minimise credit exposure. Acceptable credit ratings

from reputable credit rating agencies and scrutiny of financials

for non-rated counterparties are two important criteria in the

selection of counterparties. The credit quality of counterparties

will be closely monitored over the life of the transaction. The

Group reviews its financial counterparties periodically in order

to reduce credit risk concentrations relative to the underlying

size and credit strength of each counterparties.

In an attempt to forestall adverse market movement, the Group

also monitors potential exposures to each financial institution

counterparty. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable

amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the

reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses

are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the

directors of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that the

Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical

locations is mainly in Hong Kong.

5.

(b)

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate

bank deposits and cash, monitoring forecast and actual cash

flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets

and liabilities.

The l iquidity r isk is under continuous monitoring by

management. Reports with maturity dates of bank borrowings

and thus the l iquidi ty requirement are provided to

management for review periodically. Management will contact

the bankers for renewals of bank borrowings whenever

necessary.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual

maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the

agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up

based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required

to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash

flows.

Moreover, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity

analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The tables have

been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual net

cash inflows and outflows on derivative instruments that settle

on a net basis.

5.

(b)
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk (Cont’d)

5.

(b)

At 31st December, 2010

Weighted
average Total Total

effective Within Within 2 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year to 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Borrowings
– Current – 0.70% 3,925,086 – – 3,925,086 3,727,552
– Non-current – 1.14% – 15,259,313 – 15,259,313 14,982,958

Creditors and accruals – 719,241 – – 719,241 719,241
Securities trading

and margin payable – 73,197 – – 73,197 73,197
Amounts due to associates 2.25% – 78,939 – 78,939 76,950
Amount due to

a non-controlling shareholder – – 141,325 – 141,325 141,325
Financial guarantees liabilities

– Current – – 373,582 – – 373,582 290
– Non-current – – – 808,667 – 808,667 –

Total 5,091,106 16,288,244 – 21,379,350 19,721,513

At 31st December, 2009

Weighted
average Total Total

effective Within Within 2 Over undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1 year to 5 years 5 years cash flows amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Derivative financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments – 3,238 – – 3,238 3,238

Non-derivative financial
liabilities

Borrowings
– Current – 0.59% 3,733,773 – – 3,733,773 3,714,963
– Non-current – 0.94% – 9,536,088 52,794 9,588,882 9,500,018

Creditors and accruals – 503,723 – – 503,723 503,723
Securities trading

and margin payable – 65,162 – – 65,162 65,162
Amounts due to associates 2.25% – 12,324 – 12,324 11,859
Amounts due to non-controlling

shareholders 2.25% – 85,965 – 85,965 80,098
Financial guarantees liabilities

– Current – – 907,389 – – 907,389 76
– Non-current – – – 449,013 – 449,013 290

5,210,047 10,083,390 52,794 15,346,231 13,876,189

Total 5,213,285 10,083,390 52,794 15,349,469 13,879,427
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

• the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

with standard terms and conditions and traded in active

liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted

market bid prices and ask prices respectively;

• the fair values of derivative instruments are determined

based on the quoted prices provided by the securities’

broker; and

• the fair values of other financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined in accordance with generally

accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow

analysis using the estimated future cash flows and the

current market rate of return.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated

financial statements approximate to their fair values.

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The fol lowing table provides an analysis of f inancial

instruments that are measured subsequent to init ial

recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on

the degree to which the fair value is observable:

• Level 1: fair value measurements are those derived from

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2: fair value measurements are those derived from

inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1

that are observable for asset or liability, either directly

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);

and

• Level 3: fair value measurements are those derived from

valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset

or liability that are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

5.

(c)

•

•

•

(d)

•

•

•
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments

recorded at fair value by the fair value hierarchy:

5.

(d)

At 31st December, 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
– Investments held-for-trading – 2,422,066 – – 2,422,066
– Financial assets designated – 

as at fair value through
profit or loss 5,185,429 – – 5,185,429

Available-for-sale
financial assets
– Listed debt securities – 38,976 – – 38,976
– Unlisted debt securities – 223,714 – – 223,714
– Unlisted equity securities – 

(Note) – – 156,362 156,362

Total 7,870,185 – 156,362 8,026,547

At 31st December, 2009

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
– Investments held-for-trading – 643,954 – – 643,954
– Financial assets designated – 

as at fair value through
profit or loss 728,238 – – 728,238

Available-for-sale
financial assets
– Listed equity securities – 1,312,297 – – 1,312,297
– Listed debt securities – 41,121 – – 41,121
– Unlisted debt securities – 213,824 – – 213,824
– Unlisted equity securities – 

(Note) – – 204,375 204,375

Total 2,939,434 – 204,375 3,143,809
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

5.

(d)

At 31st December, 2009

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss

classified as held-for-trading

– Derivative financial instruments – – 3,238 – 3,238

Note: The fair value of unlisted equity investments classified as
available-for-sale investments are measured using a
discounted cash f low model that inc ludes some
assumptions that are not supportable by observable market
prices or rates (see Note 31 for details)

There were no transfers amongst Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3

in the fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets

is based on quoted market prices at the end of each reporting

period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are

readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,

industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those

prices represent actual and regularly occurring market

transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price

used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid

price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

31
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(d) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position (Cont’d)

The movement during the year in the balances of Level 3 fair

value measurements is as follows:

5.

(d)

HK$’000

Unlisted available-for-sale equity

securities investment:

At 1st January, 2009 235,684

Net unrealised losses recognised in other

comprehensive income during the year (31,309)

At 31st December, 2009 204,375

Net unrealised losses recognised in other

comprehensive income during the year (48,013)

At 31st December, 2010 156,362

All of the above gains and losses included in other

comprehensive income for the current year relate to unquoted

equity investments held at the end of the reporting period

and are reported as changes of “securities investments

reserve”.

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to

safeguard the abilities of the entities in the Group to continue as a

going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for

shareholders of the Company and benefits for other stakeholders,

by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of

risk and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Directors actively and regularly review and manage the Group’s

capital structure to maximise the returns to shareholders through

the optimisation of the debt afforded by a sound capital position,

and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes

in economic conditions. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from 2009.

6.

者
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010 the capital structure

of the Group mainly consists of debts, which include borrowings

from banks, time deposits, bank balances and cash, and equity

attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share

capital, reserves and retained profits respectively. The Directors

consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class

of capital to monitor its capital structure on the basis of a gearing

ratio. The Group has a target gearing ratio not higher than 50%,

determined as the proportion of net debt to equity. This ratio is

expressed by as a percentage of net borrowings over the total equity.

Net borrowings is calculated as total borrowings (as shown in the

consolidated statement of financial position) less cash and cash

equivalents.

The gearing ratios as at 31st December, 2010 and 2009 were as

follows:

6.

50%

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Borrowings – due within one year (i)  – (i) 3,727,552 3,714,963
Borrowings – due after one year (i)  – (i) 14,982,958 9,500,018

Total Debt (i) (i) 18,710,510 13,214,981
Cash and cash equivalents (ii) (ii) (10,876,388) (6,317,351)

Net debt 7,834,122 6,897,630

Net debt 7,834,122 6,897,630
Listed equity securities investments

and treasury products (iii) (iii) (7,607,495) (2,681,251)

Net debts
(net debt less listed equity securities

investments and treasury products) 226,627 4,216,379

Total equity (iv) (iv) 34,210,851 44,312,314

Net debt to equity ratio (excluding
listed equity securities investments
and treasury products) 22.9% 15.6%

Net debt to equity ratio (including
listed equity securities investments
and treasury products) 0.7% 9.5%
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6. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

(i) Borrowings are detailed in Note 42;

(ii) Cash and cash equivalents comprise pledged deposits, time

deposits, bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting

period;

(iii) Listed equity securities investments and treasury products are

as detailed in Notes 31, 36 , 37 & 40;

(iv) Total equity includes all shares capital, reserves and non-

controlling interests at the end of the reporting period.

The increase in net debt to equity ratio was mainly due to the

increase of borrowings together with a decrease in equity as a result

of fair value loss on investment properties.

In relation to brokerage business, Fair Eagle Finance Credit Limited,

Fair Eagle Futures Company Limited and Fair Eagle Securities

Company Limited, three wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company,

are required to maintain financial resources in accordance with the

specified amount requirements that apply to them under the

Securities and Futures Ordinance imposed by Securities and Futures

Commission. The requirements are internally reviewed on a daily

basis and reports are required to submit to Securities and Futures

Commission monthly. Full compliance is observed during the year.

Save as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

7. REVENUE

Revenue represents the aggregate of amounts received and

receivable from the gains/losses from sales of investments held-

for-trading, sales of properties held-for-sale, property rental income,

commission from brokerage, settlement charges from brokerage,

interest income from loan financing and cosmetic goods sold less

returns.

During the year, the losses from the sales of investments held-for-

trading in “Revenue” on a net basis are HK$148.5 million (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$115.5 million).

6.

(i) 42

(ii)

(iii)

31 36 37 40

(iv)

者

7.

148,500,000

115,500,000
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports

reviewed by the chief operating decision-makers that are used to

make strategic decisions.

The Group has seven reportable segments - property development

and trading, property leasing for retail, property leasing for non-

retail, listed available-for-sale equity investments, listed held-for-

trading investments and treasury products, floating rate and fixed

rate notes and unlisted investments, investment holding and

brokerage. The segmentations are based on the information about

the operation of the Group that management uses to make decisions.

Principal activities are as follows:

Property development – Property development

and trading and sales of trading

properties

Property leasing

– Retail – Property leasing from

retail properties

– Non-retail – Property leasing from

non-retail properties

Listed securities

– Available-for-sale equity – Listed equity securities in

investments available-for-sale

investments

– Held-for-trading investments – Listed securities

and treasury products investments in

investments

held-for-trading,

over-the-counter trading

and structured products

Floating rate and fixed rate notes – Listed and unlisted floating

rate notes and fixed rate

notes in available-for-sale

investments

Unlisted investments, – Unlisted securities

investment holding investments, trading

and brokerage and brokerage

8.

者
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

The Group evaluates performance on the basis of profit or loss from

operations after tax expense and non-controlling interests but not

including the major non-cash items. The major non-cash items are

fair value changes on investments properties together with their

respective deferred tax. No intersegment revenue is accounted for

as the intersegment revenue is mainly the rental income for

administrative purpose.

The Group’s measurement methods used to determine reported

segment profit or loss remain unchanged from 2009.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that

operate different activities. They are managed separately because

each business units has different market and requires different

marketing strategies.

Further, the business units are also managed to operate in different

countries separately. Revenue and result are attributed to countries

on the basis of the properties located.

No major customer is for the Group’s revenue and result.

8.



134
C

H
IN

ES
E 

ES
TA

TE
S 

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
N

o
te

s 
to

 t
h

e 
C

o
n

so
li

d
at

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Operating segment information is presented below:

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8.

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other

and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Major cash items excluding
in revenue
- Hong Kong - – – – – 4,313,612 – – – 4,313,612
- other countries - – – – – 3,596,584 – – – 3,596,584

– – – – 7,910,196 – – – 7,910,196

Revenue
Revenue from external customers

- Hong Kong - 608,305 719,223 327,699 – (212,517) – 17,944 16,618 1,477,272
- PRC - 1,050,392 41,969 37,369 – – – – – 1,129,730
- other countries - – – – – 64,010 – – – 64,010

1,658,697 761,192 365,068 – (148,507) – 17,944 16,618 2,671,012

Revenue from external customers
after non-controlling interests 1,629,033 759,896 362,918 – (148,507) – 17,944 16,618 2,637,902

Attributable property sales from
associates
- Hong Kong - 25,728 – – – – – – – 25,728

Attributable rental revenue from
associates
- Hong Kong - – 3,244 22,273 – – – – – 25,517
- PRC - – 71,286 49,614 – – – – – 120,900

1,654,761 834,426 434,805 – (148,507) – 17,944 16,618 2,810,047

Result
Segment result

- Hong Kong - 207,290 680,795 315,867 138,122 (249,772) 7,411 106,538 36,727 1,242,978
- PRC - 211,568 36,298 32,638 – – – 4,046 – 284,550
- other countries - – – – – 727,849 – – – 727,849

418,858 717,093 348,505 138,122 478,077 7,411 110,584 36,727 2,255,377
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income, net 503 – – – – – 100 – 603
Share of results of associates

- attributable property sales, net - 
- Hong Kong - 12,536 – – – – – – – 12,536

- attributable gross rental income - 
- Hong Kong - – 3,244 22,273 – – – – – 25,517
- PRC - – 71,286 49,614 – – – – – 120,900

- attributable operating cost - 
- Hong Kong - – (1,614) (6,575) – – – – – (8,189)
- PRC - – (40,255) (14,097) – – – – (59,809) (114,161)

- others - – – – – – – 1,665 (27,310) (25,645)
Non-controlling interests - allocated (22,501) – – – – (3,235) – – (25,736)
Finance income on listed securities

investments and treasury products, net
– – – – 58,595 – – – 58,595

409,396 749,754 399,720 138,122 536,672 4,176 112,349 (50,392) 2,299,797

Loss on disposal of investment property – – (4) – – – – – (4)
Other gains and losses, net

- gain on bargain purchase of - 
a subsidiary – 13,000 – – – – – – 13,000

- fair value loss on step acquisition of - 
a subsidiary

– (7,253) – – – – – – (7,253)
- gain on disposals of subsidiaries - 

– 13,477 – – – – – – 13,477

409,396 768,978 399,716 138,122 536,672 4,176 112,349 (50,392) 2,319,017

Unallocated items
Unallocated other gains

and losses, net 643
Unallocated corporate expenses, net

(147,789)
Unallocated finance costs (127,081)
Income tax expense (151,682)
Unallocated non-controlling interests (2,374)

Core profit (excluding major
non-cash items) 1,890,734

Major non-cash items
- fair value changes on investment - 

properties (
(including share of results of
associates and non-controlling )
interests) (10,780,059)

- deferred tax credit - 31,080

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company (8,858,245)

8.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2010

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets

- Hong Kong - 1,369,555 22,983,282 9,916,972 – 2,152,065 280,456 453,300 269,357 37,424,987
- PRC and Macau - 7,806,833 1,032,898 334,947 – – – – 4,960 9,179,638
- other countries - – – 5,502 – 5,664,159 – – – 5,669,661

Interests in associates
- Hong Kong - 93,861 63 696,170 – – – 186 2,176 792,456
- PRC - 73,421 171,710 6,469 – – – – – 251,600

Advances to associates
- Hong Kong - 1,678 – 22,941 – – – 2 1,405 26,026
- PRC - 954,231 79,181 504,249 – – – – – 1,537,661

Reportable segment assets 10,299,579 24,267,134 11,487,250 – 7,816,224 280,456 453,488 277,898 54,882,029

Unallocated corporate assets 174,331

Consolidated total assets 55,056,360

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

- Hong Kong - 102,090 554,381 132,584 – 2,682,141 150 74,480 20,738 3,566,564
- PRC and Macau - 459,294 18,494 13,129 – – – – 1 490,918
- other countries - – – 13 – – – – – 13

Reportable segment liabilities 561,384 572,875 145,726 – 2,682,141 150 74,480 20,739 4,057,495

Unallocated corporate liabilities 16,788,014

Consolidated total liabilities 20,845,509

Additions to non-current assets
(other than financial
instruments and deferred
tax assets) 612,701 486,334 673,666 – – – – 173

8.



137

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

Consolidated

Reportable Adjustments Adjustments statement of

segments for for major comprehensive

total unallocated non-cash items income total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 475,515 – – 475,515

Finance income (costs) 58,595 (127,081) – (68,486)

Net income (expenses) 534,110 (127,081) – 407,029

Depreciation – (20,049) – (20,049)

Fair value changes

on investment properties – – (10,831,293) (10,831,293)

Share of results of associates 10,958 – 45,622 56,580

Income tax (expense) credit – (151,682) 31,080 (120,602)

Non-controlling interests (25,736) (2,374) 5,612 (22,498)

8.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 (Restated)

8.

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Major cash items excluding
in revenue
- Hong Kong - – – – – 3,760,743 – – – 3,760,743
- other countries - – – – – 3,434,378 – – – 3,434,378

- – – – 7,195,121 – – – 7,195,121

Revenue
Revenue from external customers

- Hong Kong - 1,217,701 604,583 329,523 – (72,513) – 18,865 17,245 2,115,404
- PRC - – 41,313 37,637 – – – – – 78,950
- other countries - – – – – (43,035) – – – (43,035)

1,217,701 645,896 367,160 – (115,548) – 18,865 17,245 2,151,319

Revenue from external customers
after non-controlling interests 1,213,856 644,812 365,194 – (115,548) – 18,865 17,245 2,144,424

Attributable property sales from
associates
- Hong Kong - 17,431 – – – – – – – 17,431

Attributable rental revenue from
associates
- Hong Kong - – 1,153 22,674 – – – – – 23,827
- PRC - – 54,261 4,245 – – – – – 58,506

1,231,287 700,226 392,113 – (115,548) – 18,865 17,245 2,244,188

Result
Segment result

- Hong Kong - 77,976 574,817 313,294 3,722 193,566 11,366 114,039 37,410 1,326,190
- PRC - – 32,095 32,888 – – – 4,982 – 69,965
- other countries - – – – – 320,980 – – – 320,980

77,976 606,912 346,182 3,722 514,546 11,366 119,021 37,410 1,717,135
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 (Restated)

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Other income, net 16,060 – – – – – – – 16,060
Share of results of associates

– attributable property sales, net – 
– Hong Kong – 7,599 – – – – – – – 7,599

– attributable gross rental income – 
– Hong Kong – – 1,153 22,674 – – – – – 23,827
– PRC – – 54,261 4,245 – – – – – 58,506

– attributable operating cost – 
– Hong Kong – – (635) (6,692) – – – – – (7,327)
– PRC – – (32,757) (2,563) – – – – (46,711) (82,031)

– others – – – – – – – 162 (9,251) (9,089)
Non-controlling interests – allocated (2,009) – – – – (5,565) – – (7,574)
Finance cost on listed securities

investments and treasury
products, net – – – – (13,671) – – – (13,671)

99,626 628,934 363,846 3,722 500,875 5,801 119,183 (18,552) 1,703,435

Loss on disposals of
investment property – – (610) – – – – – (610)

Other gains and losses, net
– impairment loss recognised – 
  
 – (488) – – – – – – (488)

– gain on disposals of – 
  – – 48,951 – 3,998 – – 102 53,051

99,626 628,446 412,187 3,722 504,873 5,801 119,183 (18,450) 1,755,388

Unallocated items
Unallocated other gains

and losses, net 35,124
Unallocated corporate expenses, net (201,335)
Unallocated finance costs (91,814)
Income tax expense (70,633)
Unallocated non-controlling interests (9,406)

Core profit (excluding major
non-cash items) 1,417,324

Major non-cash items
- fair value changes on investment - 

properties(including share of (
results of associates and )
non-controlling interests) 8,710,559

- deferred tax expenses - (104,460)

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company 10,023,423

8.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31st December, 2009 (Restated)

Property leasing Listed securities

Held-for- Unlisted
Available- trading Floating investments,

Property for-sale investments rate investment
development equity and treasury and fixed holding and All other
and trading Retail Non-retail investments products rate notes brokerage segments Consolidated

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
Segment assets

- Hong Kong - 1,294,396 29,744,249 12,513,919 1,313,098 646,284 267,009 535,814 114,055 46,428,824
- PRC and Macau - 7,295,453 703,550 855,537 – – – – – 8,854,540
- other countries - – – 6,540 – 1,089,568 – – – 1,096,108

Interests in associates
- Hong Kong - 116,591 15,220 702,116 – – – – 260 834,187
- PRC - 26,964 148,542 15,192 – – – – – 190,698

Advances to associates
- Hong Kong - 1,079,136 23,587 37,718 – – – – 5,655 1,146,096
- PRC - 699,290 77,780 7,955 – – – – – 785,025

Reportable segment assets 10,511,830 30,712,928 14,138,977 1,313,098 1,735,852 267,009 535,814 119,970 59,335,478

Unallocated corporate assets 23,887

Consolidated total assets 59,359,365

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

- Hong Kong - 114,374 347,954 159,264 6 1,237,290 466 68,008 17,962 1,945,324
- PRC and Macau - 506,867 16,690 13,538 – – – – – 537,095
- other countries - – – 19 – 16 – – – 35

Reportable segment liabilities 621,241 364,644 172,821 6 1,237,306 466 68,008 17,962 2,482,454

Unallocated corporate liabilities 12,564,597

Consolidated total liabilities 15,047,051

Additions to non-current assets
(other than financial
instruments and deferred
tax assets) 293,542 769,920 236,952 – – – – 648

8.
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8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont’d)

Other Material Items

For the year ended 31st December, 2009 (Restated)

Consolidated

Reportable Adjustments Adjustments statement of

segments for for major comprehensive

total unallocated non-cash items income total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income 184,304 – – 184,304

Finance cost (13,671) (91,814) – (105,485)

Net interest income (expenses) 170,633 (91,814) – 78,819

Depreciation – (22,927) – (22,927)

Fair value changes

on investment properties – – 8,564,301 8,564,301

Share of results of associates (8,515) – 153,321 144,806

Income tax expense – (70,633) (104,460) (175,093)

Non-controlling interests (7,574) (9,406) (7,063) (24,043)

9. OTHER INCOME

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other income are:

Building management fee income 96,092 74,614

Building management fee expenses (67,566) (47,060)

28,526 27,554

Forfeiture of deposits received

on sales of properties 503 10,141

Arrangement fee income 66,116 –

Management and maintenance

services income 8,641 –

Exchange gain, net – 1,681

8.

9.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

10. INVESTMENT INCOME, NET 10.

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss classified
as held-for-trading:
Unrealised (loss) gain arising

on change in fair value of
investments held-for-trading (59,130) 18,173

Financial assets designated as
at fair value through profit or loss:

Unrealised gain (loss) arising
on change in fair value of bonds 249,343 (16,771)

Realised (loss) gain arising
on change in fair value of bonds (27,279) 197,320

Realised gain arising on change
in fair value of credit-linked notes – 48,087

Net gain arising on change in fair
value of financial assets designated
as at fair value through profit or loss 222,064 228,636

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss classified
as held-for-trading:

Unrealised loss arising on change
in fair value of derivative
financial instruments – (3,238)

Realised gain arising on change
in fair value of
derivative financial instruments 3,238 24,432

Net gain arising on change
in fair value of financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or
loss classified as held-for-trading 3,238 21,194

Transfer from equity on disposals of
listed available-for-sale investments 106,685 –

Other investment income 3,583 –

Dividend income on:
Listed investments
- available-for-sale investments - 31,437 3,722
- other listed investments - 51,524 258,579
Unlisted investments 33,720 37,712

Interest income 470,171 177,489
Imputed interest income on:

Advances to associates 14,271 15,322
Advance to a non-controlling

shareholder 328 328

877,891 761,155



143

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

10. INVESTMENT INCOME, NET (Cont’d)

Included in interest income are interests from bonds, listed floating

rate notes and unlisted f loating rate and f ixed rate notes

approximately HK$406,326,000, HK$1,225,000 and HK$8,206,000

respect ive ly  (year  ended 31st  December,  2009: bonds

HK$60,703,000, credit-linked notes HK$13,000,000, listed floating

rate notes HK$1,608,000 and unlisted floating rate and fixed rate

notes HK$8,969,000) and interest expenses from derivative financial

instruments HK$1,021,000 (year ended 31st December, 2009:

income of HK$29,809,000).

11. OTHER EXPENSES

10.

406,326,000 1,225,000

8,206,000

60,703,000

13,000,000

1,608,000

8,969,000

1,021,000

29,809,000

11.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other expenses are:

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,860 2,860

Expenses for specific transactions 6,916 3,994

12. ASSET CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 3rd September, 2010, Earn Elite Development Limited, an indirect

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and

purchase agreement with an independent third party in relation to

the disposal of investment properties located at Tuen Mun Centre,

New Territories (the “Property”) at consideration of HK$80,000,000.

The Property were satisfied by the purchaser in cash and completed

on 7th February, 2011. In accordance with HKFRS 5, “Non-current

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, the above

investment properties have been presented as asset classified as

held for sale in the consolidated statements of financial position as

at 31st December, 2010.

12.

80,000,000

5
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

13. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 13.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

(Loss) Profit for the year has been

arrived at after (charging) crediting:

Total staff costs:

Staff costs, including

Directors’ emoluments (144,691) (117,383)

Retirement benefits scheme

contributions, net of forfeited  397,000

contributions of HK$397,000 320,000

(2009: HK$320,000) (6,449) (5,302)

(151,140) (122,685)

Auditors’ remuneration (3,079) (3,479)

Exchange loss, net (6,437) –

Depreciation (20,049) (22,927)

Cost of trading properties recognised (1,128,564) (1,091,214)

Cost of cosmetic products recognised (4,564) (3,189)

Share of tax of associates (included in

share of results of associates) 1,090 (4,205)

Gross proceeds on sale of

investments held-for-trading 7,910,196 7,195,121

Carrying amount on investments

held-for-trading disposed (8,044,191) (7,295,811)

Transaction cost on investments

held-for-trading disposed (14,512) (14,858)

Net loss on sale of investments

held-for-trading included in revenue (148,507) (115,548)

Gross rental income from

investment properties 1,126,260 1,013,056

Less: Direct operating expenses from

investment properties that

generated rental income

during the year (60,309) (47,046)

Direct operating expenses from

investment properties that

did not generate rental income

during the year (353) (12,916)

1,065,598 953,094



145

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

14. FINANCE COSTS

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on:

Bank loans wholly repayable

within five years 146,902 90,920

Bank loans wholly repayable

over five years 1,302 6,220

Other loans wholly repayable

within five years 5,497 2,733

Amounts due to a non-controlling

shareholder 1,849 –

155,550 99,873

Imputed interest on:

Amounts due to associates 465 465

Amounts due to a non-controlling

shareholder 2,894 2,934

3,359 3,399

Total interest 158,909 103,272

Exchange (gain) loss on translation of

foreign currency loans (64,092) 10,938

Other finance costs 16,798 13,683

111,615 127,893

Less: Interest capitalised to stock of

properties under development (39,782) (15,082)

Interest capitalised to investment

properties under development (3,347) (7,326)

68,486 105,485

14.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

15. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Included in other gains

and losses, net are:

Gain on bargain purchase of

a subsidiary (Note 1) 1 13,000 –

Fair value loss on step acquisition of

a subsidiary (7,253) –

Gain on disposals of

subsidiaries (Note 2) 2 13,477 –

Gain on deemed disposal of

a subsidiary (Note 3) 3 – 35,134

Gain on disposals of 4

subsidiaries (Note 4) – 53,051

Impairment loss reversed

(recognised) in respect of

advance to an associate 653 (488)

Impairment loss recognised

in respect of interest

in an associate – (3,300)

Notes:

1. Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary arose from acquisition
of remaining 50% interest in an associate. Details of the acquisition
are set out in Note 47(a).

2. Gain on disposals of subsidiaries for the year arose from connected
transaction in relation to the disposals of three investment
properties including various shops at Excelsior Plaza, Laforet and
Southorn Centre to the companies wholly-owned by a Director
and a substantial shareholder. Details of the disposals are set out
in Note 48(a).

3. Gain on deemed disposal of a subsidiary arose from deemed
disposal of 8.27% interest in G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”)
by placing on 17th June, 2009. The Group then holds 41.93%
shareholding in G-Prop and G-Prop remained a subsidiary of the
Company.

4. Gain on disposals of subsidiaries arose from connected transaction
in relation to the disposals of two properties in United Kingdom
and two credit-linked notes to Wisdom Hero Limited (a company
wholly-owned by a Director), or a Director and a substantial
shareholder. Details of the disposals are set out in Note 48(b).

15.

1.
50%

47(a)

2.
Laforet

48(a)

3.

8 . 27%
41.93%

4.

Wisdom Hero Limited

48(b)
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16. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Fees and other emoluments paid or payable to each of the six (2009:

six) directors for the years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009

were as follows:

16.

2010 2009

Salaries Salaries

and other and other

Fee emoluments Total Fee emoluments Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Mr. Joseph Lau, Luen-hung – 18,000 18,000 – 18,000 18,000

Mr. Lau, Ming-wai 240 – 240 220 – 220

Ms. Amy Lau, Yuk-wai 240 – 240 220 – 220

Mr. Chan, Kwok-wai 240 – 240 220 – 220

Ms. Phillis Loh, Lai-ping 240 – 240 220 – 220

Mr. Ma, Tsz-chun 240 – 240 220 – 220

1,200 18,000 19,200 1,100 18,000 19,100

No Directors waived any emoluments for the years ended

31st December, 2010 and 2009.

17. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group,

one (2009: one) was executive director of the Company whose

emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 16 above. The

emoluments of the remaining four (2009: four) individuals for the

years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other benefits 7,188 6,219

Retirement benefit

scheme contributions 442 395

7,630 6,614

17.

16
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17. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Cont’d)

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

17.

Number of employees

2010 2009

Nil – HK$1,000,000  1,000,000 – –

HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 1,500,000 – 2

HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 2,000,000 2 1

HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 2,500,000 2 1

During the years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009, no

emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest paid

individuals, or Directors, as an inducement to join or upon joining

the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

18. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

The charge comprises:

Current tax:

Hong Kong Profits Tax 77,035 42,500

Other than Hong Kong 54,844 10,266

131,879 52,766

Underprovision (overprovision)

in prior years:

Hong Kong Profits Tax 6,999 (14,094)

Other than Hong Kong – (6)

6,999 (14,100)

Deferred tax:

Current year (credit) charge (18,276) 136,427

120,602 175,093

18.
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18. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on

the estimated assessable profits for the year. Taxation arising in other

jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant

jurisdictions.

The income tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)

profit before tax per the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income as follows:

18.

16.5% 16.5%

2010 2009

HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

(Restated)

(Loss) profit before tax (8,715,145) 10,222,559

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits 16.5%

Tax rate of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) 16.5% 

(1,437,999) 16.5 1,686,722 16.5

Tax effect of share of

results of associates (9,336) 0.1 (23,893) (0.2)

Tax effect of expenses not

deductible for tax purpose 1,789,389 (20.5) 22,193 0.2

Tax effect of income not

taxable for tax purpose (173,919) 2.0 (1,554,315) (15.2)

Underprovision (overprovision)

in respect of prior years 6,999 (0.1) (14,100) (0.1)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

73,808 (0.9) 72,084 0.7

Utilisation of tax losses previously

not recognised (39,312) 0.5 (108,497) (1.1)

Tax effect on accelerated accounting

depreciation over tax depreciation

not provided in prior years (98,168) 1.1 (7,277) (0.1)

Effect of different tax rates of

subsidiaries operating

in other jurisdictions 9,140 (0.1) 102,176 1.0

Tax charge for the year 120,602 (1.4) 175,093 1.7
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19. DIVIDENDS 19.

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Final dividend for 2009 paid (a)
on 9th June, 2010 of HK1 cent
(2008: final dividend of HK1 cent 1
and special dividend of HK99 cents)
per share 1

99 19,500 2,006,305

(b) No interim dividend for 2010 (b)
(2009: HK2 cents per share) 2 – 39,197

(c) Special dividend for 2010 paid (c)
on 28th September, 2010 of
HK40 cents (2009: HK63 cents) 40
per share 63 763,048 1,228,500

782,548 3,274,002

Final dividend of HK1 cent (2009: HK1 cent) per share have been

proposed by the Directors and are subject to approval by the

shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.

20. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

(Loss) earnings:

(Loss) earnings for the purposes of
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share
((loss) profit for the year

attributable to owners of the Company) (8,858,245) 10,023,423

Number of shares

2010 2009

Number of shares:

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for the purposes of
basic and diluted (loss) earnings per share 1,925,225,796 1,995,051,304

Diluted (loss) earnings per share for the years ended 31st December,

2010 and 2009 was the same as the basic (loss) earnings per

share as there was no diluting events during both years.

1

1

20.
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21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 21.

HK$’000

Cost or fair value

At 1st January, 2009 30,302,580
Additions 130,220
Construction costs incurred

for investment properties 803,557
Transfer from properties under development 86,496
Transfer from properties and other fixed assets 1,207,982
Exchange adjustments 3,570
Increase in fair value recognised in

the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income 8,564,301

Disposals of subsidiaries (Note 48 (b)) 48(b) (380,499)
Disposals (9,725)

At 31st December, 2009 40,708,482
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 47 (a)) 47(a) 47,000
Additions 155,497
Construction costs incurred

for investment properties 753,366
Transfer to asset classified as held for sale (80,000)
Transfer to properties and other fixed assets (114,400)
Exchange adjustments 59,302
Decrease in fair value recognised in

the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (10,831,293)

Disposals of subsidiaries (Note 48 (a)) 48(a) (3,277,000)
Disposals (1,930)

At 31st December, 2010 27,419,024

Breakdowns of investment properties:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Completed investment properties 25,337,077 31,224,690

Investment properties under

construction at fair value 267,000 8,082,000

Investment properties under

construction at cost 1,814,947 1,401,792

27,419,024 40,708,482



152
C

H
IN

ES
E 

ES
TA

TE
S 

H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

LI
M

IT
ED

 A
nn

ua
l R

ep
or

t 
20

10
N

o
te

s 
to

 t
h

e 
C

o
n

so
li

d
at

ed
 F

in
an

ci
al

 S
ta

te
m

en
ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

21. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

The market value of the Group’s investment properties (included

investment proper ties under construction at fair value) at

31st December, 2010 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation

carried out on that date by Messrs. B.I. Appraisals Limited (“B.I.

Appraisals”) (2009: Messrs. Norton Appraisals Limited (“Norton

Appraisals”)), independent qualified professional valuers not

connected with the Group who has appropriate qualifications and

recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant

locations.

The valuation report for the investment properties at 31st December,

2010 is signed by a director of B.I. Appraisals, who are members of

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors. The valuation, which conforms

to The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors Valuation Standards on

Properties (1st Edition 2005) published by The Hong Kong Institute

of Surveyors, was based on market value basis.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to

earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes, are measured using

the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as

investment properties.

For the investment properties under construction at cost, when fair

value of investment properties under construction at cost were not

reliably measurable, the investment properties under construction

at cost were measured at cost, less any impairment loss, until the

earlier of the date of construction is completed and the date at

which fair value become reliably measurable.

The carrying value of investment properties shown above comprises:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

Properties in Hong Kong held under:
Long-term lease 19,374,605 30,288,160
Medium-term lease 5,067,030 7,832,830

24,441,635 38,120,990

Properties outside Hong Kong
held under:
Medium-term lease 2,977,389 2,587,492

27,419,024 40,708,482

21.

者
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22. PROPERTIES AND OTHER FIXED ASSETS

Furniture, Yachts and
Leasehold fixtures and motor

land Buildings equipments vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Cost or valuation
At 1st January, 2009

(originally stated) – 73,840 93,711 82,259 249,810
Effect of change in accounting policy 1,603,067 – – – 1,603,067

At 1st January, 2009 (restated) 1,603,067 73,840 93,711 82,259 1,852,877
Additions – – 3,933 3,770 7,703
Transfer to investment properties (1,266,007) – – – (1,266,007)
Disposals – – (56) (1,604) (1,660)
Exchange adjustments – – 4 4 8

At 31st December, 2009 (restated)
337,060 73,840 97,592 84,429 592,921

Transfer from investment properties 99,900 14,500 – – 114,400
Additions – – 8,756 316 9,072
Disposals/written off – – (68,413) (381) (68,794)
Exchange adjustments – – 178 117 295

At 31st December, 2010 436,960 88,340 38,113 84,481 647,894

Depreciation and impairment
At 1st January, 2009 (originally stated)

– 13,551 81,408 50,112 145,071
Effect of change in accounting policy 66,114 – – – 66,114

At 1st January, 2009 (restated) 66,114 13,551 81,408 50,112 211,185
Charge for the year 790 1,846 5,571 14,720 22,927
Capitalised to stock of properties

held for sales – – 151 – 151
Transfer to investment properties (58,025) – – – (58,025)
Elimination upon disposals – – (52) (1,494) (1,546)
Exchange adjustments – – 2 1 3

At 31st December, 2009 (restated)
8,879 15,397 87,080 63,339 174,695

Charge for the year 1,041 2,209 5,741 11,058 20,049
Capitalised to stock of properties

held for sales – – 184 – 184
Elimination upon

disposals/written off – – (68,381) (381) (68,762)
Exchange adjustments – – 82 57 139

At 31st December, 2010 9,920 17,606 24,706 74,073 126,305

Carrying amounts
At 31st December, 2010 427,040 70,734 13,407 10,408 521,589

At 31st December, 2009 (restated)
328,181 58,443 10,512 21,090 418,226

At 1st January, 2009 (restated)
1,536,953 60,289 12,303 32,147 1,641,692

22.

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong

and held under long-term leases.
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23. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January, 2009 86,496

Transfer to investment properties (86,496)

At 31st December, 2009

 and 31st December, 2010 –

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2009

and 31st December, 2010 –

23.

24. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 24.

HK$’000

At 1st January, 2009 (originally stated) 1,536,953

Effect of change in accounting policy (1,536,953)

At 1st January, 2009 (restated) –

At 31st December, 2009 (restated)

 and 31st December, 2010 –

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2009

and 31st December, 2010 –

The prepaid lease payments of HK$1,536,953,000 was classified

as leasehold land under properties and other fixed assets as a result

of change in accounting policy under HKAS 17 (Amendment).

17

1,536,953,000



155

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

25. PROPERTY INTERESTS HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January and 31st December 71,118 71,118

Impairment loss

At 1st January and 31st December (71,118) (71,118)

Carrying amounts

At 1st January and 31st December – –

The property interests held for a development project are located in

Chenghai Royal Garden, Shantou, the PRC. On 30th September,

2008, the property interests held for the development project was

disposed to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Under a

Contract for Pre-registration of Grant of State-owned Land Use Right

(the “Contract”) with the district bureau of Chenghai dated 5th

August, 1992, the Group had made certain down payment. However,

the Group subsequently determined not to proceed with the land

requisition and requested for refund.

In April 2005, the Group commenced legal proceedings at the

Shantou City Intermediate People’s Court (the “Intermediate Court”)

to terminate the Contract with the Shantou City Planning and State-

owned Land Resources Bureau (“Chenghai Bureau”). In view of the

uncertainty in the recoverability of the amount claimed and any

other entitlements under the Contract, the Group had made a full

provision for an impairment loss of HK$71,118,000 during 2004.

On 28th December, 2006, the Intermediate Court made a judgment

in favour of the Group. However, Chenghai Bureau submitted an

application of appeal to the High People’s Court of Guangdong

Province (the “High Court”) on 23rd January, 2007 and the Group

also sent out a reply to the High Court on 13th February, 2007.

25.

71,118,000
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25. PROPERTY INTERESTS HELD FOR FUTURE
DEVELOPMENT (Cont’d)

On 27th June, 2007, the High Court accepted the application of

appeal by the Chenghai Bureau and made the judgment as follows:

(1) the judgment made by the Intermediate Court on 28th

December, 2006 was revoked; and (2) the case was remitted to

the Intermediate Court for rehearing. On 22nd August, 2007, the

Intermediate Court accepted for rehearing the case within six months.

On 18th February, 2008, the Intermediate Court notified the Group

that the trial period had been extended for six months to August

2008.

On 12th August, 2008, the Intermediate Court issued the civil ruling

of dismissing the Group’s civil claim. The Group initiated an

application for appeal to the High Court after receiving the ruling

and submitted all legal documents required in the application on

2nd September, 2008 that the appeal was rejected on 17th

December, 2008. On 1st June, 2009, the Group has submitted all

legal documents and application for appeal to the Supreme People’s

Court (the “Supreme Court”). On 27th July, 2009, the Supreme

Court notified the Group that the application of appeal was

processing.

On 23rd November, 2009, the Supreme Court made the judgment

as follows: (1) order the High Court to rehear the case; and (2)

suspend the execution of the original judgment during the rehearing.

On 7th September, 2010, the High Court made the judgment as

follows: (1) the judgment made by the High Court on 17th

December, 2008 and the judgment made by the Intermediate Court

on 12th August, 2008 were revoked; and (2) the case was remitted

to the Intermediate Court for rehearing.

25.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(1 )

(2)
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26. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trading and

exchange

rights Trademark Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January, 2009,

31st December, 2009

and 31st December, 2010 2,705 14,300 17,005

Amortisation and

impairment

At 1st January, 2009 2,705 4,290 6,995

Amortisation for the year – 2,860 2,860

At 31st December, 2009 2,705 7,150 9,855

Amortisation for the year – 2,860 2,860

At 31st December, 2010 2,705 10,010 12,715

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2010 – 4,290 4,290

At 31st December, 2009 – 7,150 7,150

26.

The amortisation expense has been included in the other expenses

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The above intangible assets have definite useful lives. Such intangible

assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over five years.
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27. GOODWILL

HK$’000

Cost

At 1st January, 2009 56,058

Derecognised on deemed disposal of a subsidiary (1,369)

At 31st December, 2009

and 31st December, 2010 54,689

Impairment

At 1st January, 2009, 31st December, 2009

and 31st December, 2010

47,748

Carrying amounts

At 31st December, 2010 6,941

At 31st December, 2009 6,941

Impairment testing of goodwill

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated

to the following cash-generating unit. The carrying amount of goodwill

(net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31st December, 2010

and 2009 is allocated as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investment properties 6,941 6,941

The recoverable amount of the goodwill allocated to investment

properties business was assessed by reference to value-in-use model

which based on a five-year cash flow projection approved by the

Directors. A discount rate of approximately 11.67% (2009: 15.35%)

per annum was applied in the value-in-use model when assessing

the recoverability of the goodwill.

27.

11.67 15.35
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27. GOODWILL (Cont’d)

There are a number of assumptions and estimates involved for the

preparation of the cash flow projection. Key assumptions included

gross margin and discount rate which are determined by the

management of the Group based on past performance and its

expectation for market development. Gross margin are budgeted

gross margin. The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific

risks relating to the industry.

28. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

31st December, 31st December, 1st January,

2010 2009 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated) (Restated)

Cost of investment in associates

Unlisted 283,667 283,667 283,667

Share of post-acquisition profits

and other comprehensive

income, net of

dividend received 760,389 741,218 570,423

1,044,056 1,024,885 854,090

The Company provided corporate guarantee to secure bank loans

granted to its associates. The fair value of the financial guarantee

contract was determined by Norton Appraisals, independent qualified

professional valuers, and it was recognised as interests in associates

and financial guarantee liabilities in the Group’s consolidated

statement of financial position.

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates at 31st December,

2010 are set out in Note 56.

27.

-

28.

56
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

28. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Cont’d)

The investment properties held by the Group’s principal associates

were revalued at 31st December, 2010 by B.I. Appraisals. The

valuation, which conforms to The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

Valuation Standards on Properties (1st Edition 2005) published by

The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors, was based on market value

basis.

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

associates is set out below:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Total assets 23,707,985 13,997,358

Total liabilities (21,649,668) (12,477,225)

Net assets 2,058,317 1,520,133

Non-controlling interests 9,293 20,167

2,067,610 1,540,300

Group’s share of net assets

of associates 1,044,056 1,024,885

Revenue 413,683 282,617

Profit for the year 165,633 315,645

Group’s share of result of

associates for the year 56,580 144,806

28.
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29. ADVANCES TO ASSOCIATES 29.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest bearing advances

to associates 109,052 137,556

Interest-free advances to associates 1,454,635 1,793,565

1,563,687 1,931,121

The advances to associates are unsecured. An approximately

HK$954,231,000 was expected to be repayable in 2013 and the

amount is therefore shown as non-current. For the remaining

HK$609,456,000, the Group will not demand for repayment within

one year from the end of the reporting period and the advances are

therefore shown as non-current. The interest bearing advances to

associates bear interest at the prevailing market rates. The Directors

consider that the fair values of the interest-free advances at the end

of the reporting period, determined based on the present values of

the estimated future cash flows discounted using the prevailing

market rates at the end of the reporting period, approximate to

their carrying amounts.

30. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES

954,231,000

609,456,000

30.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets of

jointly controlled entities – –
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

30. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (Cont’d)

Details of the Group's jointly controlled entities which are held

indirectly by the Company at 31st December, 2010, are as follows:

Proportion of nominal

value of issued

Name of jointly Form of business Place of share capital held Principal

controlled entity and structure incorporation activities

Golden Royce Incorporated Hong Kong 31.77% Dormant

Investment Limited

Top Grade Assets Incorporated British Virgin Islands 40.97% Dormant

Limited

Upgrade Properties Incorporated British Virgin Islands 40.97% Dormant

Limited

The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly

controlled entities is set out below:

30.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets – 4,247

Total liabilities (160,138) (160,395)

Net liabilities (160,138) (156,148)

Net assets attributable to the Group – –

Revenue – –

Loss for the year (3,989) (10)

Profit for the year attributable

to the Group – –
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31. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Available-for-sale investments comprise:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed investments:

– Equity securities listed – 

in Hong Kong – 1,312,297

Unlisted securities:

– Equity securities – 

incorporated in Hong Kong 152,463 200,476

incorporated in elsewhere 3,899 3,899

156,362 1,516,672

Debt securities 262,690 254,945

Club debentures 15,731 15,731

434,783 1,787,348

Less: Current (100,704) –

Non-current 334,079 1,787,348

Debt securities comprise:

Non-current assets

Listed floating rate note (Note 1) 1 – 41,121

Unlisted floating rate notes (Note 2) 2 102,748 139,821

Unlisted fixed rate notes (Note 3) 3 59,238 74,003

161,986 254,945

Current assets

Listed floating rate note (Note 1) 1 38,976 –

Unlisted floating rate notes (Note 2) 2 46,055 –

Unlisted fixed rate notes (Note 3) 3 15,673 –

100,704 –

262,690 254,945

31.
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31. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (Cont’d)

Notes:

1. The floating rate note listed elsewhere with maturity date in
October 2011 carries floating interest at EURIBOR plus 0.2% per
annum.

2. The floating rate notes are unlisted with maturity dates ranging
from July 2011 to January 2014 and carry floating interest at
LIBOR plus 0.23% to 0.35% per annum, payable on quarterly or
half-yearly basis.

3. The fixed rate notes are unlisted debt securities with maturity
dates ranging from February 2011 to March 2016 and carry fixed
interest at 4.75% to 7.00% per annum.

For listed investments and both listed and unlisted debt securities,

the fair values are determined based on the quoted market bid

prices available on the relevant stock exchanges and on the industry

group.

For unlisted equity securities incorporated in Hong Kong, the fair

value is determined based on discounted cash flow valuation

techniques, with assumption on discount rates ranging from 1%

below Prime to Prime and no earning growth factor were used.

Prime is defined as HK$ best offered rate quoted from time to time

by Standard Chartered Bank. If the discount rate to the valuation

model was 10% higher/lower while all other variables were held

constant, the carrying amounts of the unlisted equity securities

investments would decrease/increase by HK$2,054,000 (2009:

HK$3,003,000).

For both unlisted equity securities issued by private entities

incorporated in the United States of America, and the club

debentures classified as available-for-sale investments, they are

stated at cost less impairment loss at the end of the reporting period

because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant

that the Directors consider that their fair values cannot be measured

reliably. During the years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009,

the Group identified no impairment loss related to the unlisted equity

securities.

31.

1.

0.2

2.

0.23
0.35

3.

4.75 7.00

1

10%

2,054,000

3,003,000



165

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

32. ADVANCES TO INVESTEE COMPANIES AND
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

(a) The advance made to an investee company, of approximately

HK$192,000 (2009: HK$285,000), with principal purpose

of providing second mortgage for a property development

project, which is unsecured and interest-bearing at prevailing

market rate. The advance made to another investee company,

of approximately HK$344,687,000 (2009: HK$328,193,000)

with principal purpose of providing fund for a property

development project at West Kowloon Reclamation Area,

which is unsecured and interest-free. The Group will not

demand for repayment within one year and both advances

are therefore shown as non-current.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the advances to

investee companies at the end of the reporting period

approximate to their carrying amounts.

(b) The advances made to non-controlling shareholders are

unsecured and interest-free. The Group will not demand for

repayment within one year and are therefore shown as non-

current.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the advances to

non-controlling shareholders at the end of the reporting period,

determined based on the present value of the estimated future

cash flows discounted using prevailing market rate at the end

of the reporting period, approximate to their carrying amounts.

32.

(a)

192,000  285,000

344,687,000  

328,193,000

(b)
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33. LOANS RECEIVABLE

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Long term loans receivable, secured

Non-current 78 240

Current 41 59,889

119 60,129

Other loans and advances,

unsecured – –

119 60,129

Less: Amounts due within

one year shown

under current assets (41) (59,889)

Amounts due after one year 78 240

Loans receivable comprise:

Effective Carrying amounts

Maturity date Collateral interest rate

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loans receivable 17th September, 2013 Properties Prime

119 319

Loans receivable 17th June, 2010 Properties Prime

– 19

Loans receivable 19th January, 2010 Unlisted equity Prime – 1%

securities

– 59,791

119 60,129

33.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the Group’s loans

receivable approximate to their carrying amounts.
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34. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Pledged deposits

The amount represents deposits pledged to banks and other

financial institutions to secure credit facilities granted to the

Group. Deposits amounting to approximately HK$24,035,000

(2009: HK$1,088,845,000) have been pledged to secure

short-term borrowings and are therefore classified as current

assets. The remaining deposits amounting to approximately

HK$163,031,000 (2009: HK$27,840,000) have been

pledged to secure long-term borrowings and are therefore

classified as non-current assets.

The deposits carry interest rate at prevailing market rate. The

pledged deposits will be released upon the settlement of

relevant borrowings. The fair values of the deposits at the

end of the reporting period approximate to their carrying

amounts.

(b) Securities trading receivables and deposits

Securities trading receivables and deposits are mainly amounts

due from clearing house, brokers and clients. The fair value

of the securities trading receivables and deposits at the end

of the reporting period approximate to their carrying amounts.

(c) Time deposits, bank balances and cash

The deposits carry interest rate at prevailing bank savings

deposits rate and mature within one month. The Directors

consider that the fair values of the time deposits, bank balances

and cash at the end of the reporting period approximates to

their carrying amounts.

34.

(a)

24,035,000

1,088,845,000

163,031,000

27,840,000

(b)

(c)
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

35. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

At 31st December, 2010, the Directors reviewed the carrying

amounts of the properties under development held for sales with

reference to current market situation and the estimated selling price

of the properties under development held for sales provided by B.I.

Appraisals. No impairment loss was made during the years ended

31st December, 2010 and 2009.

36. INVESTMENTS HELD-FOR-TRADING

Investments held-for-trading comprise:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed investments:

– Equity securities listed – 

in Hong Kong 2,127,565 643,954

– Equity securities listed elsewhere – 294,501 –

2,422,066 643,954

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Completed properties 314,775 667,508

Properties under development

held for sales 4,304,354 4,175,136

4,619,129 4,842,644

Less: Impairment loss recognised

in respect of properties

under development

held for sales (279,467) (279,467)

4,339,662 4,563,177

35.

36.

The fair values of the investments held-for-trading are determined

based on the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant

stock exchanges.
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37. FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AS AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss

comprise:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Bonds:

Non-current 3,101,417 –

Current 2,084,012 728,238

5,185,429 728,238

Major terms of the bonds are as follows:

Notional amount Maturity

AUD 2,000,000 2013

EUR 30,000,000 2015

RMB 650,000,000 2015

USD 59,000,000 2011

USD 412,000,000 2015

USD 24,000,000 2017

The bonds dominated in Euro are callable and carry fixed rate at

9.25% per annum, the bond dominated in USD carry fixed rate

range from 6% to 13.5% per annum of which USD78,000,000 are

callable and the bonds dominated in AUD and RMB carry fixed rate

at 6.25% and 8% per annum respectively.

The bonds are measured at fair values at the end of the reporting

period, their fair values are determined by reference to bid prices

quoted in active markets.

37.

2,000,000

30,000,000

650,000,000

59,000,000

412,000,000

24,000,000

9.25

6 13.5 78,000,000

6.25 8
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

38. INVENTORIES FOR COSMETIC PRODUCTS

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods 2,170 2,378

Raw materials 790 615

2,960 2,993

At 31st December, 2010, all inventories were stated at the lower of

cost and net realisable value.

39. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

38.

39.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 32,135 28,698

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (4,928) (7,168)

27,207 21,530

Deposits and prepayments 156,964 263,221

Other receivables 301,701 86,991

485,872 371,742

Included in trade receivables mainly comprised rental receivables

billed in advance and settlements from tenants are expected upon

receipts of billings and properties sales proceeds receivables.

The Group maintains a defined credit policy to assess the credit

quality of each counterparty. The collection is closely monitored to

minimise any credit risk associated with these trade debtors.

Considerations in respect of sold properties are payable by the

purchasers pursuant to the terms of the sales and purchase

agreements. Rental in respect of leased properties are payable in

advance by the tenants. Other trade debtors settle their accounts

according to the payment terms as stated in the respective contracts.
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39. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of

allowance for doubtful debts) at the end of the reporting period:

39.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 - 30 days 17,546 8,832

31 - 60 days 576 1,982

61 - 90 days 50 576

Over 90 days 9,035 10,140

27,207 21,530

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables which are

past due but not impaired:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 – 30 days 16,279 8,354

31 – 60 days 199 2,460

61 – 90 days 1 5,760

Over 90 days 8,857 3,607

25,336 20,181
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

39. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS
(Cont’d)

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at beginning of the year 7,168 8,687

Amounts written off as uncollectible (2,379) (1,158)

Amount recovered during the year (184) (45)

Impairment losses recognised

(reversed) in respect of

trade receivables 323 (316)

Balance at end of the year 4,928 7,168

For those past due but not impaired receivables, although no

collateral is held, the Group has assessed the creditworthiness, past

payment history and substantial settlement after the end of the

reporting period, and considers that the amounts are still recoverable

and no further credit provision is required in excess of allowance

for doubtful debts. Trade receivables over 90 days amounting to

HK$8,857,000 (2009: HK$3,607,000) are sufficiently covered by

rental deposits received from the respective tenants and no

allowance is required for these receivables under the Group’s

allowance policy.

Trade receivables which are neither overdue nor impaired are in

good quality.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the Group’s debtors,

deposits and prepayments at the end of the reporting period

approximate to their carrying amounts.

39.

90

8,857,000

3,607,000
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40. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities

Financial liabilities, held-for-trading

Interest rate swap – 3,238

Major terms of the interest rate swap as at 31st December, 2009

are as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

0 - 90 days 222,972 174,341

Over 90 days 195,490 56,440

418,462 230,781

40.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the Group’s creditors

and accruals at the end of the reporting period approximate to their

carrying amounts.

Notional Amount Maturity

USD42,000,000 29th June, 2010 42,000,000

Under the terms of the 1-year interest rate swap agreement, the

Group received interest from the counterparty at a floating rate of

calculated by reference to the 1-month USD LIBOR plus 0.50%

spread and were paid interest to the counterparty at fixed rate of

1.38% per annum. The interest rate swap was expired on 29th

June, 2010.

41. CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

Included in creditors and accruals are trade payables of approximately

HK$418,462,000 (2009: HK$230,781,000).

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the

reporting period:

0.5

1.38

41.

418 ,462 ,000

230,781,000
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

42. BORROWINGS 42.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured bank loans repayable

within a period of:

Less than 1 year 735,577 2,152,783

More than 1 year but within 2 years 6,461,062 2,379,620

More than 2 years but within 5 years 8,521,896 7,068,323

Over 5 years – 52,075

15,718,535 11,652,801

Other secured loans repayable

within 1 year 2,991,975 1,562,180

18,710,510 13,214,981

Less: Amounts due within one year (3,727,552) (3,714,963)

Amounts due after one year 14,982,958 9,500,018

The bank loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest

ranging from HIBOR plus 0.37% to 1.75% (2009: HIBOR plus

0.37% to 1.5%) per annum.

The bank loan denominated in RMB of 2010 and 2009 carry interest

at 90% of People’s Bank of China base rate as announced by the

People’s Bank of China per annum.

The other loans are variable-rate borrowings which carry interest of

inter-bank borrowing rate plus 0.25% to 0.3% (2009: inter-bank

borrowing rate plus 0.2%) per annum.

The Directors consider that the fair values of the Group’s borrowings

approximate to their carrying amounts.

0.37 1.75

0.37

1.5

90%

0.25 0.3

0.2
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42. BORROWINGS (Cont’d)

The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currency other

than Hong Kong dollars are set out below:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

AUD 13,918 –

EUR 231,831 689,325

RMB 626,296 454,520

USD 436,226 325,681

YEN – 7,174

1,308,271 1,476,700

43. PROVISIONS

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Contingency provision

At 1st January and 31st December 16,054 16,054

Note: The provision represents construction cost determined by the
management’s best estimate of the Group’s l iabi l i ty on
contingency claims by a third party to whom a property under
development project was previously disposed of.

44. AMOUNTS DUE TO ASSOCIATES AND
NON-CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Both the amounts due to associates and non-controlling shareholders

are unsecured and interest-free. The associates and non-controlling

shareholders will not demand for repayment within one year from

the end of the reporting period and the amounts are therefore shown

as non-current. The Directors consider that the fair values of both

amounts at the end of the reporting period, determined based on

the present values of the estimated future cash flows discounted

using the prevailing market rates at the end of the reporting period,

approximate to their respective carrying amounts.

42.

者

44.

43.
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45. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the major deferred tax liabilities provided (assets

recognised) by the Group and movements thereon during the current

and prior reporting years:

Revaluation Accelerated

of investment tax Tax

properties depreciation losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1st January, 2009

(originally stated) 3,874,360 (13,516) (75,153) 3,785,691

Effect of change in

accounting policy (3,520,879) – – (3,520,879)

At 1st January, 2009

(restated) 353,481 (13,516) (75,153) 264,812

Charged to the

consolidated statement of

comprehensive income (restated) 72,931 28,435 35,061 136,427

At 31st December, 2009

(restated) 426,412 14,919 (40,092) 401,239

At 1st January, 2010

(originally stated) 5,300,309 14,919 (40,092) 5,275,136

Effect of change in

accounting policy (4,873,897) – – (4,873,897)

At 1st January, 2010

(restated) 426,412 14,919 (40,092) 401,239

Disposals of subsidiaries (Note 48(a))

48(a) (11,160) (4,616) 3,193 (12,583)

(Credited) charged to the

consolidated statement

of comprehensive income (25,644) 7,735 (367) (18,276)

At 31st December, 2010

389,608 18,038 (37,266) 370,380

45.
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45. DEFERRED TAXATION (Cont’d)

For the purposes of the presentation in the consolidated statement

of financial position, certain deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax

assets have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred

tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Deferred tax liabilities 403,463 409,887

Deferred tax assets (33,083) (8,648)

370,380 401,239

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the following

major unrecognised deferred tax assets due to the unpredictability

of the future profit streams.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Accelerated tax depreciation (130,118) (31,950)

Tax losses (282,918) (248,422)

(413,036) (280,372)

The unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

45.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

46. SHARE CAPITAL

Movements in the share capital of the Company during the year

were as follows:

Number of shares Share capital

2010 2009 2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 0.10

Authorised:

At 1st January and 31st December 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 500,000 500,000

Issued and fully paid:

At 1st January 1,950,000,079 2,077,750,079 195,000 207,775

Repurchased of ordinary

shares (Note) (42,381,000) (127,750,000) (4,238) (12,775)

At 31st December 1,907,619,079 1,950,000,079 190,762 195,000

Note:

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Company repurchased
its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

Aggregate
consideration

No. of Price per share and transaction
Month of ordinary shares cost paid
repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

May 2010 25,355,500 12.86 11.44 307,799
June 2010 14,153,500 13.72 12.64 187,601
July 2010 2,872,000 14.08 13.90 40,264

46.
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46. SHARE CAPITAL (Cont’d)

Note: (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Company repurchased
its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

Aggregate
consideration

No. of Price per share and transaction
Month of ordinary shares cost paid
repurchases repurchased Highest Lowest

HK$ HK$ HK$’000

January 2009 8,813,000 9.65 8.52 79,826
February 2009 14,576,000 9.66 9.04 137,253
March 2009 8,717,000 9.46 9.16 81,477
April 2009 39,339,500 10.66 9.31 384,524
May 2009 6,304,500 12.18 11.52 73,387
June 2009 19,511,000 15.04 13.98 283,763
July 2009 18,349,000 14.18 12.72 247,735
August 2009 2,280,000 14.18 13.64 31,779
September 2009 9,860,000 13.94 13.28 133,949

The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase. None of
the Company’s subsidiaries had repurchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed shares during the year.

47. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Acquisition of Canaria Holding Limited (“Canaria”) and its

subsidiary

On 11th February, 2010, the Group entered into a sale and

purchase agreement with third parties, in relation to, inter

alia, the acquisition of the remaining 50% interests in Canaria

which indirectly held the commercial property at Tuen Mun

Centre, New Territories (the “Property”) at a consideration of

approximately HK$18,651,000 (the “Acquisition”). Canaria is

50% owned by the Group before the Acquisition. As a result

of the Acquisition, the Group obtained 100% control over

the Property. The Acquisition was completed on 11th February,

2010.

46.

47.

(a) Canaria Holding Limited Canaria

18,651,000

Canaria 50%

Canaria 

Canaria 50%

100%
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47. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a) Acquisition of Canaria Holding Limited (“Canaria”) and its

subsidiary (Cont’d)

The net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows:

Carrying amount
before the Fair value

acquisition adjustments Fair value

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Net assets acquired:
Investment properties 46,000 1,000 47,000
Bank balances and cash 3,489 – 3,489
Debtors and

prepayments 27 – 27
Creditors and accruals (56) – (56)
Deposits and receipts

in advance (158) – (158)

Net assets acquired 49,302 1,000 50,302

Consideration transferred 18,651
Acquisition-date

fair value of
previously-held
equity interest 18,651

37,302
Less: fair value of

identifiable net
assets acquired (50,302)

Gain on bargain purchase
of a subsidiary (13,000)

Net cash outflow
arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration paid 18,651
Bank balances and

cash acquired (3,489)

Net cash outflow on
acquisition 15,162

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$60,000 was

excluded from the consideration transferred and was

recognised as expenses in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Since its acquisition, Canaria contributed HK$1,529,000 to

the Group’s revenue and HK$34,605,000 of profit to the

consolidated result for the year ended 31st December, 2010.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year

ended 31st December, 2010, the revenue of the Group and

the loss of the Group for the year ended 31st December,

2010 would have been approximately HK$2,671,100,000 and

HK$8,835,044,000 respectively.

(b) For the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group did not

have acquisition of subsidiaries.

47.

(a) Canaria Holding Limited Canaria

60,000

Canaria

1,529,000

34,605,000

2,671,100,000

8,835,044,000

(b)
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48. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a) Disposals of subsidiaries to connected persons (2010)

During the year ended 31st December, 2010, the Group

entered into sale and purchase agreements with Tycoon City

Limited, Energy Kingdom Limited and Smart Object Limited,

companies which are wholly-owned by a Director and a

substantial shareholder to dispose Global Smart Ltd., Sunny

Ocean Limited, Jolly Gain Limited, Viewide Properties Limited,

Dynamic Source Limited, Bingo Castle Limited, Grand Lucky

Ltd. and Baharica Limited (collectively referred to as the

“Connected Transaction 2010”) at a total consideration of

approximately HK$2,478,057,000 and were completed on

27th July, 2010 and 20th August, 2010.

The net assets of the Connected Transaction 2010 at the date

of disposal were as follows:

2010
HK$’000

Investment properties 3,277,000
Properties and other fixed assets 1
Debtors, deposits and prepayment 10,411
Amounts due from the Group 599,709
Pledged deposits 29,604
Bank balances and cash 12,955
Creditors and accruals (7,805)
Deposits received and receipts in advance (56,880)
Loan from an intermediate holding company (916,814)
Bank borrowings (778,000)
Tax liabilities (10,123)
Deferred tax liabilities (12,583)

Net assets disposed of 2,147,475
Repayments of amounts due from the Group (599,709)
Repayment of loan from an intermediate

holding company 916,814
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 13,477

Cash consideration 2,478,057

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration 2,478,057
Bank balances and cash disposed of (12,955)

2,465,102

48. 

(a)

Tycoon City Limited Energy

Kingdom Limited Smart Object

Limited

2,478,057,000

Global Smart Ltd. Sunny Ocean

Limited Jolly Gain Limited Viewide

Properties Limited Dynamic Source

Limited Bingo Castle Limited Grand

Lucky Ltd. Baharica Limited
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

48. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(a) Disposals of subsidiaries to connected persons (2010)

(Cont’d)

The gain on disposals of subsidiaries is included in “Other

gains and losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income (see Note 15).

Details of the Connected Transaction 2010 were disclosed in

the circular of the Company dated 18th June, 2010.

(b) Disposals of subsidiaries to connected persons (2009)

During the year ended 31st December, 2009, the Group

entered into sale and purchase agreements with Wisdom Hero

Limited (a company wholly-owned by a Director) or a Director

and a substantial shareholder to dispose Stars Up Limited,

Great Will Limited, Action Basic Limited, Union Nice Limited

and its subsidiary (Chinese Estates (Eaton Square) Limited),

Fame Winner Limited and Global Young Holdings Ltd.

(collectively referred to as the “Connected Transaction 2009”),

at a total consideration of approximately HK$752,850,000.

48. 

(a)

15

(b)

Wisdom Hero Limited

752 ,850 ,000 S ta r s  Up

Limited Great Will Limited Action

Basic Limited Union Nice Limited

(Chinese Estates (Eaton

Square) Limited)

Global Young Holdings Ltd.
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48. DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)

(b) Disposals of subsidiaries to connected persons (2009) (Cont’d)

The net assets of the Connected Transaction 2009 at the date

of disposal were as follows:

2009

HK$’000

Investment properties 380,499

Credit-linked notes 350,651

Deposits and prepayments 18,058

Bank balances and cash 1,511

Amounts due to the Group (914,702)

Bank borrowing (51,200)

Net assets disposed of (215,183)

Repayments of the amounts due to the Group 914,702

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries 53,051

752,570

Satisfied by:

Cash 752,850

Expenses incurred for disposal (280)

752,570

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Cash consideration 752,850

Expenses incurred for disposal (280)

Bank balances and cash disposed of (1,511)

751,059

48. 

(b)

Details of the Connected Transaction 2009 were disclosed in

the circular of the Company dated 23rd September, 2009.
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49. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the years ended 31st December, 2010 and 2009, the Group

did not have major non-cash transactions.

50. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of the

assets pledged by the Group to secure general banking and other

loan facilities and to secure the derivative financial instruments

transaction, granted to the Group are analysed as follows:

49.

50.

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)

Investment properties 23,787,441 37,844,282

Properties and other fixed assets 488,381 377,218

Stock of properties 2,219,756 1,242,791

Available-for-sale investments – 30,179

Investments held-for-trading 2,034,179 168,888

Financial assets designated

as at fair value through profit or loss 5,185,429 532,614

Non-current pledged deposits 163,031 27,840

Current pledged deposits 24,035 1,088,845

33,902,252 41,312,657

In addition, the Group has subordinated and assigned its advances

to associates and advance to an investee company of approximately

HK$1,805,985,000 (2009: HK$1,415,899,000) to financial

institutions to secure banking general credit facilities granted to

associates and an investee company and interests in certain

subsidiaries of the Company have been pledged as part of the

security to secure certain bank borrowings granted to the Group.

1,805,985,000

1,415,899,000
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51. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Capital commitments: (a)

Authorised and contracted for:
Development expenditure of

properties in Hong Kong 520,744 555,149
Development expenditure of

properties in Mainland China 1,813,500 1,685,418
Development expenditure of

properties in Macau 100,701 27,685
Shareholder’s contribution – 97,800
Share of commitment of

an associate 43,238 466,451
Renovation of properties 45,832 125,289

2,524,015 2,957,792

Authorised but
not contracted for:
Development expenditure of

properties in Hong Kong 205,320 382,603

(b) Contingent liabilities: (b)

Guarantees given to banks,
in respect of banking facilities
utilised by associates and
an investee company 1,100,100 1,069,650

Guarantee given to a bank in
respect of banking facilities
in lieu of  the cash public
utility deposit jointly utilised
by subsidiaries 15,000 10,000

Repurchase guarantee given to
banks in respect of  mortgages
facilities given to property
purchasers by a subsidiary 9,235 114,103

1,124,335 1,193,753

(c) Risk management

The Group has established adequate risk management

procedures that enable it to identify measure, monitor and

control the various types of risk it faces. This is supplemented

by active management involvement, effective internal controls

and adequate internal audits in the best interests of the Group.

51. 

(c)
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52. OPERATING LEASES

The Group as lessee

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Minimum lease payments paid

under operating leases

in respect of premises

during the year 896 2,766

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for

future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases, which fall due as follows:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 874 2,379

In the second to fifth year inclusive 417 597

1,291 2,976

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group

for certain of its office properties. Leases are negotiated for an

average term of 1 to 2 years.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was approximately

HK$1,126,260,000 (2009: HK$1,013,056,000) less outgoings of

approximately HK$60,662,000 (2009: HK$59,962,000).

The investment properties of the Group are expected to generate

annual rental yields of 1.54% to 9.09% (2009: 1.81% to 8.30%)

on an ongoing basis. All of the properties held have committed

tenants for around seven years.

52. 

1,126,260,000

1,013,056,000

60,662,000

59,962,000

1.54% 9.09% 1.81%

8.30% 
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52. OPERATING LEASES (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor (Cont’d)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with

tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 1,266,481 792,685

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,481,897 520,259

Over five years 37,274 5,104

2,785,652 1,318,048

53. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement schemes in

Hong Kong, namely the Occupational Retirement Scheme (“ORSO

Scheme”) and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF

Scheme”). Contributions to the ORSO Scheme are based on a

percentage of employees’ salaries ranging from 5% to 10%,

depending upon the length of service of the employees. From 1st

December, 2000, newly joined employees are compulsorily required

to join the MPF Scheme. The employer and its employees are each

required to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in

the rules of the MPF Scheme.

The total costs charged to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income of approximately HK$6,846,000 (2009:

HK$5,622,000) represented contributions payable to these schemes

by the Group for the year.

52. 

53.

5% 10%

6,846,000 5,622,000
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54. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions:

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements,

the Group had the following material transactions with related parties

during the year:

2010 2009
HK$’000 HK$’000

Income received from associates:
Secretarial fee 7 11
Office rental 267 267
Management fee 58 48
Interest income 4,832 6,787
Accountancy fee 120 120

Management and
maintenance service
income received from a
Director and a substantial
shareholder 8,523 –

Property management
service income from
companies controlled
by a Director and
a substantial shareholder 5,632 –

Rent, building management fee
and rates paid to associates 1,830 1,667

Consideration received from
companies controlled by a Director
and a substantial shareholder:
Disposals of subsidiaries 2,478,057 752,850
Disposals of trading properties 120,000 –
Disposals of financial assets

designated as at fair value
through profit or loss – 1,116,798

Interest income on financial assets
designated as at fair value
through profit or loss – 23,957

Secretarial fee and accountancy fee were charged based on an

appropriate allocation of costs incurred by central administrative

departments of the Group. Office rental, rent and rates, and building

management fee were determined on terms similar to those

applicable to transactions with unrelated parties. Management fee,

management and maintenance service income (details were

disc losed in the announcement of  the Company dated

18th December, 2009) and property management service income

(details were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated 18th

June, 2010) were charged at the terms agreed by both parties.

Interest income was charged at the prevailing market rate based on

outstanding balance during the year. Consideration received for

disposals were reference to market value.

54.

者
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54. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

Balances:

Details of the balances with related parties at the end of the reporting

period are set out in Notes 29 and 44 above.

Key management personnel emoluments:

Remuneration for key management personnel is disclosed in Notes

16 and 17. The remuneration of the Directors and senior executives

is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to

the performance of individuals and market trends.

55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars

of all subsidiaries would be of excessive length and therefore the

following list contains only the subsidiaries as at 31st December,

2010 which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Alpha Team Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Billion Up Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Cardin Factory Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property development

2 and trading

Chi Cheung Investment Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,387,659.87 – 61.96% Investment holding

Company, Limited# 3,387,659.87
#

54.

29 44

16 17

55. 
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Chinese Castle Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Chinese Estates, Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 100% – Investment holding

1,000 and provision of

management services

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200 – 100% Property investment

(Harcourt House) Limited 200

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

(The One) Limited 2

Chinese Estates Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 – 100% Property investment

(Windsor House) Limited 100

Non-voting deferred HK$2

2

Conduit Road Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 70% Property development

Development Limited 10,000

Country Homes Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$200 – 100% Property investment

200

Non-voting HK$164,400

deferred ordinary

164,400

Non-voting HK$1,000

deferred founder

1,000

55. 
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Dollar Union Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 – 87.5% * Property development

100 and trading

Earn Elite Development Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property investment

2

Easy Dynamic Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Evergo China Holdings Limited Bermuda/ Ordinary HK$100,775,869.10 – 100% Investment holding

Hong Kong 100,775,869.10

Evergo Holdings (China) British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$2,509,454 – 100% Investment holding

Company Limited Hong Kong 2,509,454

Evergo Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000 – 100% Investment holding

Company Limited 1,000

Fair City Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property development

2 and trading

Fair Eagle Finance Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000,000 – 100% Securities margin financing

Credit Limited 10,000,000

55. 
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Fair Eagle Futures Hong Kong Ordinary HK$5,000,000 – 100% Brokering and dealing

Company Limited 5,000,000 in futures contracts

Fair Eagle Securities Hong Kong Ordinary HK$228,000,000 – 100% Provision of brokerage

Company Limited 228,000,000

G-Prop (Holdings) Limited#@ Bermuda/ Ordinary HK$24,282,550.08 – 41.93% Investment holding
#@ Hong Kong 24,282,550.08

Global Stage Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Grand Silver Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 70.01% Property development

(Business name: Hong Kong 1

Grand Silver Capital Limited)

Grand Silver Capital Limited

Grandhall Secretarial Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 100% Secretarial services

Services Limited 10,000

Groupluck Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Money lending

2

Harbour Trade Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

55. 



193

N
o

tes to
 th

e C
o

n
so

l i d
ated

 Fi n
an

ci al  Statem
en

ts

For the year ended 31st December, 2010

55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Hillsborough Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property investment

Hong Kong 1

Mass Rise Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Modern City Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$4 – 75% Property investment

4

Moon Ocean Ltd. British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$7,001 – 70.01% Property development

7,001

Non-voting US$2,999

deferred

2,999

Oriental Master Ltd. British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 100% – Investment holding

1

Paul Y. (New Tunnel) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

2

Paul Y. Holdings Cayman Islands/ Ordinary HK$70,715,005.70 100% – Investment holding

Company Limited Hong Kong 70,715,005.70

Perfect World Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 – 100% Estate management

10,000

Pinecrest International Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

55. 
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

Pioneer Time British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Property investment

Investment Limited Hong Kong 1

Pretty Wave Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Rich Honour Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Investment holding

2

Silver Step Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property development

2 and trading

Silvercord Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$14,600 – 100% Property investment

14,600

Sincere Field Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

Smart Ocean Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Investment holding

1

Speed Win Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 100% Property development

2 and trading

Stable Castle Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 – 100% Property investment

1

Sun Power Investments Ltd. British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

Hong Kong 1

55. 
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55. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(Cont’d)

Proportion of

Fully paid nominal value

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ of paid-up capital/

incorporation/ registered registered registered capital

operation capital held capital held by the Company

Name of subsidiary Principal activities

Directly Indirectly

The House of Kwong Hong Kong Ordinary HK$500,000 – 100% Cosmetics distribution

Sang Hong Limited 500,000 and trading

Treasure Note Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 – 100% Securities investment

1

View Success Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 – 61.96% Property investment

Investments Limited 2

Δ PRC Registered US$219,760,000 – 100% Property development

Evergo Real Estate (chengdu) 219,760,000 and trading

Company LimitedΔ

Δ PRC Registered US$10,500,000 – 100% Property investment

(Evergo Real Estate (Shanghai) 10,500,000

Company Limited)Δ

Δ PRC Registered US$449,400,000 – 100% Property development

(Evergo Enterprises (Chengdu) 449,400,000

Company Limited)Δ

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the

reporting period.

# Listed company in Hong Kong

* 75% owned by the Group and 25% owned by Power Jade Limited
75% Power Jade Limited 25%

@ Although the Group has only 41.93% interest in G-Prop, the Group still has control over its board and the governing power
of its financial and operating policies. In addition, a director, who is also the controlling shareholder of the Company, held
approximately 20.33% of the issue shares of G-Prop through his wholly-owned company. Thus G-Prop remains as a
subsidiary of the Company.

41.93%
20.33%

Δ Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

55. 
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56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars

of all associates would be of excessive length and therefore the

following list contains only the associates as at 31st December, 2010

which principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

Percentage

Fully paid of equity

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ attributable

incorporation/ registered registered indirectly

operation capital held capital to the Company

Name of associate Principal activities

Best Profit Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 25% Property development

1 and trading

Direct Win Hong Kong Ordinary HK$900 33.33% Property development

Development Limited 900 and trading

Ever Sure Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 50% Property development

Investments Limited 2 and trading

Finedale Industries Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$9,999 33.33% Property investment

9,999

Get Wisdom Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$10 50% Investment holding

10

Healthy Point Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 50% Property investment

2

Non-voting preferred HK$1

1

Power Jade Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$20 50% Investment holding

(Business name: Hong Kong 20

Power Jade

Capital Limited)

Power Jade

Capital Limited

56.
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56. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
(Cont’d)

Percentage

Fully paid of equity

Place of Class of share/ share capital/ attributable

incorporation/ registered registered indirectly

operation capital held capital to the Company

Name of associate Principal activities

Strongplus Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$2 50% Investment holding

2

The Kwong Sang Hong Bermuda Ordinary HK$100,000 50% Investment holding

International Limited 100,000

Δ PRC Registered HK$1,650,000,000 25% Property development

Chongqing Champion 1,650,000,000

Globe Company LimitedΔ

Δ PRC Registered HK$1,150,000,000 25% Property development

Chongqing Champion 1,150,000,000

King Company LimitedΔ

Δ PRC Registered HK$2,380,000,000 25% Property development

Chongqing Sino Land 2,380,000,000

Company LimitedΔ

† PRC Registered US$24,920,000 50% Property investment

Oriental Arts Building Co. Ltd.† 24,920,000 and hotel operation

Δ Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

† Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

56.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

57. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2010 2009

HK$’000 HK$’000

Investments in subsidiaries 5,140,018 5,140,576

Amounts due from subsidiaries 2,208,018 3,598,261

Other current assets 4,750,859 1,582,156

Amounts due to subsidiaries (9,058,508) (9,952,421)

Other current liabilities (1,766) (2,789)

Financial guarantee liabilities (1,371) (2,430)

Net assets 3,037,250 363,353

Share capital (Note 46) 46 190,762 195,000

Reserves 2,846,488 168,353

Total equity 3,037,250 363,353

57. 

(a) The HKICPA has issued the new HKFRSs which are effective

for the Company’s financial year beginning 1st January, 2010.

The application of the new HKFRSs had no material effect on

how the results and financial position for the current or prior

accounting periods have been prepared and presented.

The Company has undertaken to provide necessary financial

resources to support the future operations of the subsidiaries.

The Directors are of the opinion that the subsidiaries are

financially resourceful in settling obligations.

(b) The carrying amount of the investments in subsidiaries is

reduced to their recoverable amounts which are determined

by reference to the estimation of future cash flows expected

to be generated from the respective subsidiaries.

(c) The amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured,

interest-free and have no fixed repayment terms. The Directors

consider that the fair values of the amounts due from (to)

subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period approximate to

their corresponding carrying amounts.

(d) Profit of the Company for the year ended 31st December,

2010 amounted to approximately HK$3,992,538,000 (year

ended 31st December, 2009: HK$64,816,000).

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

3,992,538,000

64,816,000
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58. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) Acquisition of River Court Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries

On 14th January, 2011, the Group entered into a sale and

purchase agreement with third parties, in relation to the

acquisition of 100% equity interests in River Court Holdings

Limited, which indirectly held the freehold office building,

namely River Court, located at 116-129 Fleet Street, Midtown,

London, United Kingdom at a consideration of GBP37,791,104,

subject to adjustment, and the assumption of shareholders’

loan of approximately GBP43,289,000, which are equivalent

to approximately HK$465,260,000 and HK$532,946,000

respectively (the “Acquisition of River Court”). The Acquisition

of River Court was completed on 14th January, 2011.

Upon completion of the Acquisition of River Court, River Court

Holdings Limited has become a wholly-owned subsidiary of

the Group. As of the date of approval of these consolidated

financial statements, the Directors were still assessing the

accounting implication of the transaction to the consolidated

financial statements.

(b) Subscription and purchase of bonds

On 19th January, 2011, the Group entered into a subscription

agreement (the “Subscription”) with a third party, in relation

to the subscription and purchase of the bonds in the aggregate

principal amount of RMB2,000,000,000 (the “Bonds”), to be

sett led in USD which is equivalent to approximately

US$303,000,000. The Bonds are senior secured guaranteed

carried interest at a rate of 8.5% per annum and to be matured

in 2014. The Subscription was completed on 15th March,

2011.

58. 

(a) River Court Holdings Limited

37,791,104

43,289,000

465 ,260 ,000

532,946,000 River Court

Holdings Limited 100%

River Court River Court Holdings

Limited Midtown

Fleet Street 116-129 River Court

River Court

River Court River Court

Holdings Limited

(b)

2,000,000,000

303,000,000

8.5
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For the year ended 31st December, 2010

59. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

As explained in Note 2, due to the adoption of new and revised

HKFRSs during the current year, the accounting treatment and

presentation of certain items and balances in the consolidated

financial statements have been revised to comply with the new

requirements. Accordingly, certain prior year and opening balance

adjustments have been made, certain comparative amounts have

been reclassified and restated to conform with the current year’s

presentation and accounting treatment, and a third column of

consolidated statement of financial position as at 1st January, 2009

has been presented.

60. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors on 23rd March, 2011.

59. 

2

60. 
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Summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

years is as follows:

For the year ended 31st December

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (c)) (Note (c))
(b) (c) (c) (c)

(Restated)

Results

Revenue 2,671,012 2,151,319 1,264,925 4,478,075 4,763,789
(Note (a))

(a)

(Loss) profit for the year
from continuing
operations (8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,454,258) 8,332,868 7,557,087

Loss for the year from
discontinued
operation – – (1,950) – –

(Loss) profit for the year (8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,456,208) 8,332,868 7,557,087

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (8,858,245) 10,023,423 (1,494,376) 8,195,857 7,477,345
Non-controlling interests 22,498 24,043 38,168 137,011 79,742

(8,835,747) 10,047,466 (1,456,208) 8,332,868 7,557,087

(Loss) earnings per share
(HK$)
Basic (4.60) 5.02 (0.67) 3.60 3.39
Diluted (4.60) 5.02 (0.67) 3.60 3.33

Final and interim dividends
per share (HK cents) 1.0 3.0 14.5 36.0 30.0

Special dividend
per share (HK cents) 40.0 63.0 99.0 – –
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At 31st December

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (b)) (Note (c)) (Note (c)) (Note (c))

(b) (c) (c) (c)

(Restated)

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 55,056,360 59,359,365 51,877,539 66,714,307 57,634,327

Total liabilities (20,845,509) (15,047,051) (16,574,890) (19,048,774) (21,671,693)

Total equity 34,210,851 44,312,314 35,302,649 47,665,533 35,962,634

Attributable to:

Owners of the Company 33,507,866 43,511,661 34,650,593 47,161,638 35,532,698

Non-controlling interests 702,985 800,653 652,056 503,895 429,936

34,210,851 44,312,314 35,302,649 47,665,533 35,962,634

Net asset value per share

attributable to owners

of the Company (HK$) 17.57 22.31 16.68 20.50 15.72

Number of shares issued 1,907,619,079 1,950,000,079 2,077,750,079 2,300,443,378 2,259,809,483

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31st December, 2008, the Group changed its
presentation in the sale of investments held-for-trading to a net basis.
Accordingly, the figure for year 2007 has been adjusted to reflect the
change.

(b) Figures for year 2009 have been adjusted to reflect the changes in
accounting policies as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(c) The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
three years ended 31st December, 2008 have not been restated upon
the early adoption of HKAS 12 (Amendment) as the Directors are of
the opinion that the restatement would involve costs not in proportion
to the benefit of the Group.

(a)

(b)
2

(c)

12
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The following table sets forth the Group’s major properties as at 31st December, 2010:

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG

Properties held for investment

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

1. Windsor House The Remaining Portions of Commercial Long 100%

311 Gloucester Road Inland Lot Nos. 7717 and 7718

Causeway Bay Section A of Inland Lot No. 781 and

Hong Kong Sections A and C of Inland Lot No. 782

(including 157 car parking spaces) 7717 7718

781 A

311 782 A C

157

2. Harcourt House Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

(excluding 7th, 8th, 9th, 22nd, in Inland Lot No. 8573

23rd, 25th, 26th and 27th floors, 8573

rooms 1004 and 1805)

39 Gloucester Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong

(including 113 car parking spaces)

39

7 8 9 22 23 25

26 27 1004 1805

113

3. MassMutual Tower Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

38 Gloucester Road in Inland Lot Nos. 3287 and 6936

Wanchai, Hong Kong 3287 6936

(including 55 car parking

spaces on basement)

38

55
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

4. The ONE The Remaining Commercial Medium 100%

No. 100 Nathan Road and Portion of Kowloon

nos. 1-19A Granville Road Inland Lot No. 6022

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon 6022

Hong Kong

The ONE

100

1-19A

5. Silvercord Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Long 100%

Shops, restaurants and food court in Kowloon Inland Lot No. 10656

on basement, shops on lower ground floor, 10656

ground floor (excluding shop no. 38),

1st floor (excluding shop no. 39),

2nd floor (excluding shop no. 41),

the whole 3rd floor and

car parking spaces nos. 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 21,

24, 25, 26, 29, 30, 34 and 35 on basement

No. 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

30

38

1 39 2 41

3 1 2 6 7 8 9 21

24 25 26 29 30 34 35
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

6. Causeway Place Certain parts or shares of and Residential/ Long 100%

Shop nos. M1, M2, M3, N1, N2, O and P in Inland Lot No. 7742 Commercial

on ground floor 7742

shop nos. N2, O and P on mezzanine floor

the whole of 1st and 2nd floors and

their respective portions of exterior walls,

together with flats C, I, J, K, L, N, O, P, Q

(each including a flat roof) and H on 3rd floor

Hong Kong Mansion

nos. 1-7 Paterson Street and

nos. 2-10 Great George Street

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

1-7

2-10

M1 M2 M3 N1 N2 O P

N2 O P 1 2

3 C I J K L N O P Q

H

7. Chic Castle Certain parts or shares of and Commercial Medium 75%

Various shops on in the Remaining Portions of

1st, 2nd and 3rd floors Kowloon Inland Lot

President Commercial Centre Nos. 7061, 7062 and 7063

602-608 Nathan Road 7061 7062

Mongkok, Kowloon 7063

Hong Kong

Chic

602-608

1 2 3
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for investment (Cont’d)

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Lot number Usage term

8. Various Portions of Certain parts or shares of and Industrial Medium 33.33%

No. 1 Hung To Road in Kwun Tong Inland Lot No. 415

Kwun Tong, Kowloon 415

Hong Kong

(Comprising 352 workshop units and

77 car parking spaces)

1

352

77

Estimated

Approx. gross

Estimated site area floor area

completion (square feet) (square feet) Category of Group’s

Stage of date the lease interest

Location Lot number completion Usage term

9. Sun Fair Mansions* Section M of Site formation Mid of 2013 12,030 41,020 Residential Long 100%

12 Shiu Fai Terrace Inland Lot No. 2302 work in progress

Mid-Levels East and the Extension

Hong Kong thereto and

* Section X of

Inland Lot No. 2302

12 and the Extension

thereto

2302 M

2302 X

* Under redevelopment
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for sale

Approx. gross

floor area Group’s

(square feet) interest

Location Lot number Usage

1. York Place Marine Lot No. 296 4,711* Residential/ 100%

No. 22 Johnston Road 296 Commercial

Wanchai, Hong Kong

York Place

22

* Certain units have been sold after 31st December, 2010.

2. Parc Palais Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11118 9,192*# Residential 10%

18 Wylie Road, King’s Park 11118

Kowloon, Hong Kong

18

* Certain units have been sold after 31st December, 2010.

# Excluding all car parking spaces area.
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties held for sale (Cont’d)

Approx. gross

floor area Group’s

(square feet) interest

Location Lot number Usage

3. Tuen Mun Centre* Certain parts or shares of and 20,048Δ Commercial 100%#

Cinema portion on in Castle Peak Town Lot No. 57

ground floor, 1st to 3rd floors 57

flat roof on 4th floor

portion of external walls of cinema

shop nos. 14 and 16

on ground floor

Nos. 2-8 Wo Ping Path

Nos. 7-35 Yan Ching Street

Tuen Mun, New Territories

Hong Kong

*

2-8

7-35

1 3

4

14 16

* The property has been sold after 31st December, 2010.

Δ Excluding flat roof area on 4th floor.
4

# On 11th February, 2010, the Group had acquired the remaining 50% interest in the property. As a result, the Group
obtained 100% control over the property.

50% 100%
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Properties under development held for sale

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Location Lot number completion date Usage

1. 55 Conduit Road Remaining Portion of Piling work and 2013 36,000 87,800 Residential 70%

Hong Kong Section A of Inland the associated

Lot No. 2138 substructure

55 Sub-section 1 of work in progress

Section A of Inland

Lot No. 2138 and

Inland Lot No. 2612

2138 A

2138 A 1

2612

2. The Hermitage Kowloon Inland Interior fitting Early 2011 146,132 1,095,980 Residential/ 25%

1 Hoi Wang Road Lot Nos. 11167 work in progress Commercial

Kowloon, Hong Kong and 11168

11167 11168

1

3. Junction of Kowloon Inland Superstructure Mid of 2012 86,758 650,600 Residential/ 15%

Hoi Wang Road, Lot No. 11073 work in progress Commercial

Yan Cheung Road and

Yau Cheung Road 11073

West Kowloon

Reclamation Area

Kowloon, Hong Kong
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PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA

Properties held for investment

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Usage term

1. Hilton Beijing Hotel/Commercial Medium 50%

1 Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

1

2. Oriental Place Commercial Medium 50%

9 East Dongfang Road, North Dongsanhuan Road

Chaoyang District, Beijing

9

3. Evergo Tower Commercial Medium 100%

(excluding unit no. 3 on 9th floor and

unit no. 7 on 10th floor)

1325 Central Huaihai Road and 1 Baoqing Road

Xuhui District, Shanghai

1325 1

9 3 10 7

4. Platinum Commercial Medium 50%

233 Taicang Road

Luwan District, Shanghai

233

5. Lowu Commercial Plaza Commercial Medium 100%

79 retail shops on 1st floor

Jianshe Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen, Guangdong Province

1 79
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PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA (Cont’d)

Property held for sale/Property under development

Estimated
Approx. gross

site area floor area
(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s
Stage of completion interest

Name of project Location completion date Usage

1. Splendid City* Group 1, 2, 6 Phase I: Phase II: 795,625* 3,743,000*# Residential 100%
* Langjia Village Completed Mid of 2012 and

Group 1, 2, 3, 4, 7 Phase II: commercial
Yuejin Village Superstructure
Jinniu District, Chengdu construction
Sichuan Province work in progress

1 2 6
1 2 3 4 7

* The project will be developed in two phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

# Certain units of Phase I have been sold after 31st December, 2010.

Property held for investment under development

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Category of Group’s

Stage of completion the lease interest

Name of project Location completion date Usage term

1. Chinese Estates East of Sanguiqian Street Substructure Commercial 404,267* 3,229,000* Residential Medium 100%

Plaza* south of East Daqiang Street construction portion: and

* west of South Taisheng Road work in progress End of 2013 commercial

and north of Tidu Street Residential

Qingyang District, Chengdu portion:

Sichuan Province End of 2014

* The project will be developed in phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.
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PROPERTIES IN MAINLAND CHINA (Cont’d)

Properties held for development

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Name of project Location completion date Usage

1. The Metropolis* East of Yixue Lane Phase I: Phase I: 194,411* 1,652,000* Residential 100%

* south of Hongbu Main Street Superstructure End of 2012 and

and north of Tangba Street construction commercial

Jinjiang District, Chengdu work in progress

Sichuan Province

* The project will be developed in phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

2. Huaxinjie Street No. 1 Zhongxin Section In design stage Phase I: 2,207,546# 11,086,000# Residential, 25%

Development*# and Qiaobei Village Fourth Quarter commercial

Chongqing Huaxinjie Street of 2014 and school

Jiangbei District

Chongqing

*#

1

* The land was acquired in public auction held on 30th July, 2007. The contract for grant of state-owned land use right was signed with Chongqing Land and

Resource and Housing Administration Bureau on 2nd February, 2008. The land was handed over on 15th July, 2010.

# The project will be developed in four phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.
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PROPERTY IN MACAU

Property under development held for sale

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Location Lot number completion date Usage

1. Avenida Wai Long Parcels 1C1, 1C2, 1C3, Site formation Phase I: 890,301* 5,786,296*# Residential 70.01%

Development* 2a, 2b, 2d, 3, 4a, 4b, work in progress 2014

Taipa, Macau 5a1, 5a2, 5a3, 5b1, 5b2,

5b3, 5b4, 5b5, 5b6,

A3a, A3b, A4a, A4b,

* E1a, E1b, E2 and E3

1C1 1C2 1C3

2a 2b 2d 3 4a 4b

5a1 5a2 5a3 5b1 5b2

5b3 5b4 5b5 5b6

A3a A3b A4a A4b

E1a E1b E2 E3

* The project will be developed in phases. Area stated herein represents aggregate area of the whole project.

# Excluding car park area and outdoor facilities area.
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Schedule of Properties Development Rights

PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG

Properties held for sale

Approx. gross

floor area Group’s

(square feet) interest

Location Lot number Usage

1. MOD 595 Kowloon Inland 1,188* Residential/ 100%

No. 595 Reclamation Street Lot No. 11173 Commercial

Mongkok, Kowloon 11173

Hong Kong

MOD 595

595

* Excluding all car parking spaces area.

Note: The property development rights were granted pursuant to development agreement with Urban Renewal Authority.

2. i-home Kowloon Inland 1,182* Residential/ 100%

No. 38 Larch Street Lot No. 11182 Commercial

Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon 11182

Hong Kong

i-home

38

* The remaining unit has been sold after 31st December, 2010.

Note: The property development rights were granted pursuant to development agreement with Urban Renewal Authority.
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PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG (Cont’d)

Property under development held for sale

Estimated

Approx. gross

site area floor area

(square (square

Estimated feet) feet) Group’s

Stage of completion interest

Location Lot number completion date Usage

1. The Zenith Section F and Superstructure End of 2012 15,775 159,700 Residential/ 87.5%

(Phase II) the Remaining work in progress Commercial (Notes

1 Wanchai Road Portion of 1 and 2)

Wanchai Inland Lot 1 2

Hong Kong No. 8953

8953 F

1

Notes:

1. It refers to the Group’s percentage of interest of property development rights in a consortium which engaged Urban Renewal Authority
(“URA”) (the successor to Land Development Corporation) in the project.

2. The 87.5% attributable interest of property development rights includes the indirect interest of 12.5% held through the Group's interest in
Power Jade Limited which has a 25% direct interest in the consortium.

87.5% Power Jade Limited 25% 12.5%

3. In this joint venture with URA, the consortium finances both the land costs and construction costs, and is entitled to claim for reimbursements
for land costs and construction costs so incurred together with the share of any development profits with URA in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the joint development agreement.
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Schedule of Principal Property Acquired After The Reporting Period

PROPERTY IN THE UNITED KINGDOM

Property to be held for investment

Category of Group’s

the lease interest

Location Usage term

1. River Court* Commercial Freehold 100%

116-129 Fleet Street

London, EC4

United Kingdom

River Court*

EC4

116-129 Fleet Street

* Acquisition of the property completed on 14th January, 2011.
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